
 

 
 
 

 

Agenda 
Economy, Skills, Transport and Environment 
Scrutiny Board 
 

Thursday, 14 July 2022 at 5.00 pm 
in Committee Room 1 

 
This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as 

required by Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 

Regulations 2012. 
 

 
1   Apologies for Absence 

 
 

2   Declarations of Interest 
 
Members to declare any interests in matters to be 
discussed at the meeting. 
 

 

3   Minutes 
 
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 10th 
March 2022. 
 

5 - 12 

4   Additional Items of Business 
 
To determine whether there are any additional 
items of business to be considered as a  matter of 
urgency. 
 

 

5   Black Country Consortium Limited - Activity 
2021/23 
 

13 - 56 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

To consider and comment upon the presentation 
on the business activities of the Black Country 
Consortium. 
 

6   Towns Fund Full Business Cases 
 
To note the Towns Fund Full Business Cases. 
 

57 - 216 

7   Cabinet Forward Plan 
 
Standing item to consider the scrutiny of items on 
the Cabinet Forward Plan. 
 

217 - 248 

8   Work Programme 
 
Standing item to consider the work programme of 
the Board. 
 

249 - 254 

Page 2



 

Kim Bromley-Derry CBE DL 
Managing Director Commissioner 
Sandwell Council House 
Freeth Street 
Oldbury 
West Midlands 
 
Distribution 
Councillor Simms (Chair) 
Councillors Taylor (Vice Chair), Chambers, Fenton, Gavan, Giles, Z Hussain, 
Kaur, Owen, Rahman and Abrahams 
 
Contact: democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 3

mailto:democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk


 

Information about meetings in Sandwell 
 

 
 

If you are attending the meeting and require assistance to 
access the venue, please contact Democratic Services 
(democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk). 
 

 
 

If the fire alarm sounds, please follow the instructions of the 
officers present and leave the building by the nearest exit. 
 

 
 

Only people invited to speak at a meeting may do so.  
Everyone at the meeting is expected to be respectful and listen 
to the discussion. 

 
 

Agendas with reports with exempt information should be 
treated as private and confidential.  It is your responsibility to 
ensure that any such reports are kept secure.  After the 
meeting confidential papers should be disposed of in a secure 
way. 
 

 
 

This meeting may be recorded and broadcast on the Internet.  
If this is the case, it will be confirmed at the meeting and 
further information will be provided.  
 
 

 
 

You are allowed to use devices for the purposes of recording 
or reporting during the public session of the meeting.  When 
using your devices they must not disrupt the meeting – please 
ensure they are set to silent. 
 

 
 

Members who cannot attend the meeting should submit 
apologies by contacting Democratic Services 
(democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk) 
 

 

All agenda, reports, minutes for Sandwell Council’s meetings, 
councillor details and more are available from our website 

Page 4

mailto:democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk
mailto:democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1


 
 
 

 
Minutes of 
Economy Skills Transport and 
Environment Scrutiny Board 

 
Thursday 10th March 2022 at 5.45pm 

in the Council Chamber, Sandwell Council House, Oldbury 
 
Present:  Councillor Moore (Chair); 

Councillors Abrahams (Vice Chair), Chidley, M Gill, S 
Gill, Hughes, Jalil, Kaur, Owen, C Padda and Rollins. 

 
Officers:  Tony McGovern (Director of Regeneration and 

Growth), Robin Weare (Service Manager – Highways), 
Jenna Langford (Regeneration Manager), Stephnie 
Hancock (Senior Democratic Services Officer) and 
Oliver Ford (Transportation Planning Officer).   

 
 
17/22  Apologies for Absence 
  

No apologies were received. 
 
 
18/22  Declarations of Interest 
  

There were no declarations of interest made at the meeting. 
 

 
19/22 Minutes 
 

Resolved that the minutes of the meeting held on 9 
and 11 February 2022 are confirmed as a correct 
record. 
 
 

20/22  Urgent Additional Item of Business  
 

There were no urgent additional items of business to 
consider.   

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 
 
21/22 On Street Residential Electric Vehicle Charging Scheme  
 

It was reported that the Council, in partnership with Black 
Country Transport, had been successful in a bid to the 
Department of Transport for £300,000 to deliver 37 dual 
socket electric vehicle chargepoints (74 sockets).  The Black 
Country ULEV Strategy highlighted a need to deliver 175 
7kW public charging sockets by 2025 to support the 
boroughs transition to ULEVs in light of the Government’s 
2030 ban on the sale of new petrol and diesel cars. 
 
The chargepoints would be located on streets without off 
street parking where installation of private, individual 
chargepoints was not possible. 

 
25% matched funding was required from the chargepoint 
operator, who would deliver the hard infrastructure and 
manage the day to day operation of the charge points on a 
concession basis.  As a contingency, funding had been 
identified within existing transport budgets, but was unlikely 
to be required. 
 
Locations for the chargepoints had been selected based the 
following criteria: 
 
• non-availability of off-street parking; 
• resident requests for charging infrastructure; 
• suitable pavement and road width to accommodate a 

charge point; 
• availability of on-street sites not directly located outside 

dwellings; 
• sufficient electrical grid capacity to serve a charge-point at 

a non prohibitive cost; 
• likely ultra low emission vehicle adoption in an area by 

residents, as assessed in the Black Country ULEV 
Strategy. 

 
To ensure standardisation across the region and to reduce 
the amount of replicated work, procurement of a charge point 
operator was being led by the Transport for West Midlands 
procurement team for each of the four Black Country 
authorities, with guidance and oversight from Black Country 
Transport and internal procurement colleagues.  Key 

Page 6



considerations were low end-user costs and ease of use of 
the charge points by residents.  Although one operator would 
be appointed for the Black Country, each local authority 
would enter into its own concession contract with the 
operator. 
 
Consultation with affected residents had closed on 11th 
February and findings were being reviewed.  However, out of 
the 4,800 letters sent out to affected residents only 27 had 
responded, objecting to the installation of a charge point near 
their home. 
 
The following was noted in response to members’ comments 
and questions:- 
 
• A bid had been made for funding from the City Region 

Sustainable Development Fund to support the installation 
of more chargepoints across the borough. 

• The funding was for residential streets only. 
• As demand increased more chargepoints would be 

installed. 
• There would be no restrictions on use of the spaces in 

front of the charging points so residents would be 
expected to self-police. 

• There would be no loss of parking spaces in the streets 
identified and locations for the chargepoints were at the 
end of streets/roads to make more accessible. 

• The Black Country Ultra Low Emission Vehicle Strategy 
identified potential car park sites for chargepoints in town 
centres. 

• Transport for West Midlands was working on developing a 
network of charging stations that could operate like fuel 
stations.  There was also private sector interest in the 
same. 

• The council would not enter into a contract with an 
operator without guarantee that the matched funding 
could be met. 

• The chargepoints would be 7kw so on average it would 
take around 3 – 4 hours to fully charge a vehicle.  
However, some on-street chargepoints could provide 
24kw. 

• There would be no help for residents to purchase electric 
vehicles. 

• The Black Country Ultra Low Emission Vehicle Strategy 
promised 115 chargepoints by 2025. 

Page 7



• The imminent increases in utility bills would not be a 
prohibitive factor as electric vehicles were cheaper to run 
than petrol and diesel vehicles. 

• There was no increased risk of vandalism to cars parked 
in chargepoint spaces. 

• There would be strict performance indicators in place for 
the operator to respond to vandalism of chargepoints. 

 
Resolved that a progress report on the installation and 
operation of on-street electric vehicle chargepoints be 
provided to the Board in 12 months.  

 
[Councillor Jalil left the meeting after consideration of this item.] 

 
 
22/22 Towns Fund Tranche 3 Full Business Cases 
 

Further to Minute No. 31/21 (of 30th September 2021), the 
Director of Regeneration and Growth and the Regeneration 
Manager provided an update on the Towns Fund and the 
business cases for the Tranche 3 projects. 
 
In September 2019, Government announced that 101 
Towns had been identified to benefit from the Towns Fund, 
to deliver long term economic growth through Urban 
regeneration, planning and land use; skills and enterprise 
infrastructure; and Connectivity. In Sandwell the Towns of 
West Bromwich, Smethwick, and Rowley Regis were 
chosen by Government.  
 
On 3 March 2021, the government had confirmed approval 
of Town Investment Plans for each of the three towns and 
Heads of Terms were offered for West Bromwich £25m 
Smethwick £23.5m and Rowley Regis £19m, making 
Sandwell’s total Towns Fund allocation £67.5m.   The 
Towns Fund projects were divided into 3 tranches for 
Government submission based on complexity. Three 
projects had been approved in 2021 as part of Tranches 1 & 
2. The remaining projects were allocated to Tranche 3 
which were due for submission on 24 March 2022.  
 
The Regeneration Manager outlined the Tranche 3 Project 
Assurance process.  
 

Page 8



Following comments and questions from members of the 
Board, the following responses were made, and issues 
highlighted:- 
 
• The maximum level of investment in the Towns Fund per 

area £25m, Government provided guidance on how 
much of this funding should be allocated to each area.  

• The Urban Greening Project, West Bromwich (Minute 
No. 44/21 of 8 November 2021 refers) had now been 
approved by Government and funding had been 
received. 

• All projects included green credentials.  
• Officers were on track to submit all applications to 

Government by the March 2022 deadline.  
• The timescales for the Towns Fund funding to be spent 

was March 2026. Some projects would continue for 
longer than this period, however additional funding 
would be secured thereafter.  

• Not all 16 projects would be led by Sandwell Council, 
some were to be led by a range of partners, such as the 
NHS, Canal and River Trust, Sandwell College etc.  

 
The Board received an outline of each of the projects and 
the following comments were made/feedback noted by 
officers:- 
 
West Bromwich Projects 
• Concerns were raised in regards to the West Bromwich 

Connected Project in regards to cycle path and resident 
safety.  Members were assured that public safety was 
paramount across all schemes  

• The Retail Diversification project aimed to make 
improvements to Kings Square Shopping Centre, would 
re-ignite conversations about improvements to the bus 
station.  

 
Smethwick Projects 
• Regeneration of Smethwick High Street would not be a 

part of the Towns Fund project, however there were 
other initiatives that would focus on this.  

• Regarding the Smethwick Connected Project, 
wheelchair users were also accounted for as part of the 
scheme and when building the footpaths.  

Page 9



• A number of sites would be identified in April to pilot 
modular housing in Sandwell, but this was not part of the 
Towns Fund projects.  Further detail would be provided t 
the Board in due course. 

• There was a requirement to report to Government on the 
number of local jobs that had been secured as result of 
the schemes.  There would be engagement with larger 
contractor level to ensure that sub-contractors had 
regard to the local economy. 

• The Midland Met Learning Campus would be 
complementary to the Healthy Futures campus in West 
Bromwich and there would be no impact on the health 
related course offered at the Sandwell College in West 
Bromwich.  

• Alternative heat sources would be considered for new 
build residential properties; however the costs could be 
prohibitive.   

 
Rowley Regis Projects 
• Lighting improvements were required to the Netherton 

Tunnel.  
• There would be campaigns to encourage more use of 

walking and cycling routes as part of the progression of 
the projects. 

 
The Board welcomed the projects and the opportunities for 
Sandwell and thanked officers for their hard work in tight 
timescales.   
 
The Director of Regeneration and Growth reported that the 
business case for the Blackheath Interchange project was 
still in development and subject to a different and more 
complex process.  He undertook to provide further detailed 
information to members separately.  
 

[Councillor Kaur left the meeting after consideration of this item] 
 

 
23/22 Scrutiny Review of the Strategic Road Safety Plan 2017-

2022 – Draft Scope 
 

Further to Minute No. 10/22 (of the meeting held on 22 
February 2022), a draft scope for the review of the Strategic 
Road Safety Plan was presented for consideration.  

Page 10



 
The Service Manager Highways emphasised the need for 
members to understand the Council’s statutory duties in 
respect of road safety, along with guidance and data from the 
Department of Transport.   The key focus of the Strategic 
Road Safety Plan was the reduction of harm and injury.   It 
was also important to address any misconceptions about 
traffic and road safety management before commencing the 
review.  
 

Resolved that the Chair and Vice Chair work with 
officers to finalise the scope for the review of the 
Strategic Road Safety Plan. 2017-2022. 

 
 

24/22 Scrutiny Action Tracker 
 
 The Board noted the progress on previously agreed actions 

and recommendations. 
 
 The Director of Regeneration and Growth provided an 

update on the Levelling Up Fund.  Officers continued to meet 
with local MP to discuss the bids and would also be 
engaging with Town boards and business ambassadors.    
 

25/22 Cabinet Forward Plan 
 

 The Board noted the Cabinet forward plan for the period 
March to May 2022. 
 
 

26/22 Work Programme 
 
The Board noted its work programme and the items to be 
carried forward into the next municipal year.  

 
 
27/22 Governance Review Improvement Plan   
 

The Board noted progress on implementation of actions 
arising from the external auditor’s value for money 
governance review, that are relevant to its terms of 
reference. 
 
 

Page 11



28/22  Thanks 
 

The Chair thanked members and officers for their 
contributions and hard work on the Scrutiny Board 
throughout the municipal year. 
 

Meeting ended at 7:54pm 
 
Contact: democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk  
 

Page 12

mailto:democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk


 

 
 

 
 

Report to the Economy Skills Transport and 
Environment Scrutiny Board  
 
 

14th July 2022 
 

Subject: Black Country Consortium Limited – Activity 
2021/23 

Contact Officer: Sarah Middleton 
Chief Executive, Black Country Consortium  

 
1 Recommendations 
1.1 That the Board considers and comments upon the presentation on the 

business activities of the Black Country Consortium.  
 
2 Reasons for Recommendations  
2.1 The report focussed on the activity undertaken by the Black Country 

Consortium, as well as the Black Country Local Enterprise Partnership 
(BC LEP), to inform the Board about the number of partnerships and 
initiatives hosted by the Consortium which included the Economic 
Intelligence Unit, Active Black Country, Repowering the BC, amongst 
others as detailed in the accompanying presentation (Appendix 1).  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



 

3 How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan?  
 

 

Best start in life for children and young people 

 

People live well and age well 

 

Strong resilient communities 

 

Quality homes in thriving neighbourhoods 

 

A strong and inclusive economy 

 

A connected and accessible Sandwell  

 
4 Context and Key Issues 
 
4.1 Evidence Led Vision and Economic Intelligence  
 To support the range of plans and projects envisioned for the Black 

Country, it was identified that the strategy into delivery required an 
evidence-based approach. This involved using a variety of sources to 
inform decisions and set objectives including, using the Black Country 
Performance Management Framework to set key measures of success; 
strategic programmes covering three themes of people, place and 
business; adopting a thematic and sectoral approach with the Black 
Country Propositions; a detailed programme dashboard; and sites details.  

 
BCC Ltd offers a comprehensive understanding of the socio-economic 
challenges and opportunities in the Black Country and the wider West 
Midlands area. The Economic Intelligence Unit (EIU) provides rigorous, 
“best in class”, economic analysis across the three key Strategic 
Economic Plans themes of people, businesses and place. 
 
This intelligence is used to inform different stages of the policy-making 
cycle driving Impact Services, including: critical assessment of the 
socioeconomic challenges across the local authorities and for the Black 
Country; evidence-based strategy and policy development; project and 
programme design and feasibility; programme management; 

The Black Country 
objectives cover a 
range of economic, 
environmental and 
social benefits that 
intended to improve 
and regenerate 
Sandwell and the 
other local authorities 
under the Black 
Country.  

Page 14



 

and monitoring and evaluation. 
 
Black Country Consortium Ltd. provides access to a flexible resource to 
enable and support the development of the ‘place-based narrative’ which 
following the update of the Treasury Green Book is even more critical than 
ever before. Critically as well as quantitative data we provide the latest 
qualitive insights and the most up to data labour market intelligence – for 
sectors and for localities which is provided to all Partners. Utilising of 
spatial insight and GIS intelligence to understand role and activity in 
places and transformation required, all in context of Green and Digital 
Growth. We provide the Evidence Base to Support Investment 
Propositions: Working together on the compelling narrative regarding 
Sector profiles and sector intelligence – barriers and future growth 
opportunities – linked to skills opportunities and investment opportunities. 
The team provides access to our regular business and labour market 
insight reports and analysis along with local analysis if required. 

 
4.2 Developing our Green Infrastructure 
 The main focus was on forming the Tree Strategy within the Black 

Country, the Black Country Canal Strategy and Repowering the Black 
Country to ensure that the environment was put at the heart of defining 
the future urban form of the Black Country. 

 
4.3 Black Country Partnership Support 
 The Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) aims to create the conditions for 

enterprise to flourish, resulting in greater economic prosperity across the 
Black Country area and is a partnership of private, public and voluntary 
sector organisations with a focus on stimulating the drivers of economic 
development, education and skills development, and infrastructure and 
environmental enhancements. 

 
 In 2021 the Government commenced the LEP Review of the 38 LEPs 

across England. In respect of LEPs within a Mayoral Combined Authority 
(MCA) area, the outcome was that these were to be merged, “folded”, into 
the existing MCA. For the Black Country, Coventry & Warwickshire and 
Greater Birmingham & Solihull LEPs, 2022/23 is the transition year into 
these new arrangements and work is being led by the WMCA with 
engagement from the three LEPs, the three Growth Hubs and the WM 
Growth Company. It is anticipated that the new arrangements will be in 
place for the new financial year 2023/24. 

 
4.4 Capital Investments  

Page 15



 

 There were a number of capital investments through the LEP, these 
included the Growing Places Fund, Growth Deal, Land and Property 
Investment Fund and Enterprise Zones Fund, which were all informed 
through the Black Country Project Pipeline. Whilst the majority of these 
fuds have now ceased, the Enterprise Zones Fund of business rates 
receipts will continue through to 2038; there remains some LPIF funds to 
be allocated and there will be some overage payments from funded 
projects, where the delivery of the project was within the funds allocated. 
These “Legacy Funds” will require allocating through democratic decision 
making and the other funds referenced, that is Growth Deal etc.,  remain 
subject to output monitoring through to 2025. At present discussions are 
ongoing with the four Black Country local authorities via ABCA of how 
these Legacy Funds will continue to be managed when the LEP is folded 
into the WMCA in  March 2023. 

 
4.5 Black Country Partnership Support – Active Black Country  

The Active Black Country Partnership is the strategic lead for Sport and 
Physical Activity across the Black Country; funded by Sport England as 
part of the national network of Active Partnerships. The Partnership 
focuses on the power of physical activity and sport to change people’s 
lives. The vision is to create an active, healthy and prosperous Black 
Country and get the regions 323,000 inactive residents active, to cut 
health and adult social care costs alongside contributing to carbon zero 
ambitions and Black Country Plan for Growth. 
 
As an ‘enabling’ partnership, the team facilitate collaboration across the 
four local authorities, communities and other identified stakeholders. Co-
ordinate joint working is encouraged where it adds most value, seeking 
to influence policy, facility development, attract investment, and 
commission programmes and campaigns. 
 
With the coming of the Commonwealth Games in 2022, Consortium 
launched the Gen22 programme with DWP. Furthermore, the 
Commonwealth Active Communities project secured £1.9m funding 
focused on getting people active, activation of parks and open spaces and 
connectivity through transport infrastructure.  
 
Other initiatives included the ‘We can Swim’ campaign, Small Grants 
programme and Cycling for Everyone programme.  

 
 

Page 16



 

5 Implications 
 

Resources: No direct implications for Sandwell MBC. The 
presentation details the funding allocated and 
secured for Sandwell projects through the Black 
Country Consortium 

Legal and 
Governance: 

No direct implications for Sandwell MBC. The BC LEP 
operates within an Assurance Framework, set by 
national Government and includes a requirement for an 
Accountable Body for the funds allocated. In the BC the 
Accountable Body role is undertaken by a 
team based at Walsall MBC. The BC LEP is subject to 
annual performance reviews undertaken by the 
Government’s Department of Business, Energy and 
Industrial Strategy and has regularly achieved the 
requisite performance in relation to Governance, 
Delivery and Strategy. 

Risk: No direct implications for Sandwell MBC. The BC LEP 
undertakes Risk Monitoring in relation to supported 
projects not only in terms of spend profiles but also 
monitors the achievement of the contracted outputs, 
which could impact on projects being required to 
repay a proportion of the allocated funding. 

Equality: No direct implications for Sandwell MBC. Whilst the BC 
LEP does not undertake Equality Impact Needs 
Assessments, projects do undergo Due Diligence 
assessment by an Independent firm.  

Health and 
Wellbeing: 

The projects discussed in the report are intended to 
create a place of healthy, resilient, safe communities 
with high aspirations and the ability to shape their own 
future by investing in education/skills, infrastructure, 
health and wellbeing campaigns, etc.  

Social Value The report outlines a number of environmental, social 
and economic benefits for Sandwell through the 
proposed projects and initiatives funded by the Black 
Country LEP.  

 
6 Appendix 
 
 Appendix 1 - Presentation from the Black Country Consortium   
 
 

Page 17



 

  
 
 

Page 18



Sarah Middleton
Chief Executive

Black Country Consortium

1

P
age 19



Contents

Evidence Led Vision and Economic Intelligence
• Our Approach
• Sandwell and Black Country Economic Overview

Developing Our Green Infrastructure 
• Developing Our Tree Strategy
• Black Country Canal Strategy

Black Country Partnership Support 
• LEP transition 
• LEP Governance & Board Make Up
• LEP Investment and Activity
• Capital Investments

Black Country Partnership Support - Active Black Country

2

P
age 20



Evidence Led Vision and Economic Intelligence

3

P
age 21



Our Ambitions - Black Country Strategic Economic Plan – Black Country PMF

Delivering the Ambitions

Thematic & Sectoral Approach – Black Country Propositions

Spatial Approach – Spatial Opportunities

Programme Dashboards

Sites Details

Annual Economic 
Review Report –
sets out our key 
measures of 
success in the 
Black Country 
Performance 
Management 
Framework

6 priorities areas for proposition 
development: 
- High Value Manufacturing 

City;

- Black Country Business 
Competitiveness;

- Economic Capital;
- Black Country as Garden 

City; 
- Skills for Business, Skills for 

Life;
- Connected Black Country
• Sector Plans – 5 

Transformational & 5 & 5 
Enabling Sectors

In depth analysis of 
pipeline opportunities in 
11 identified spatial zones 
and the areas that are 
outside and serving with 
an integrated  cross 
boundary BC Core 
Strategy.

Detailed programme 
dashboards including:
❖ Overall Priority 

Pipeline
❖ Growth Funds 
❖ Land Remediation   

Fund (WMCA)
❖ Broadband

‘Estate Agent’ details are 
available for each of our 
pipeline sites, accessible 

via our online mapping 
tool, linking to Midlands 
Engine and WMCA 
Investment Prospectuses.

Strategy into Delivery – An Evidence Based Approach

12 Strategic 
Programmes 
covering 3 themes 
of People, Place
and Business 

4

P
age 22



Black Country Objectives

5

P
age 23



Black Country Consortium 
Economic Intelligence Unit 

Providing rigorous, “best in class”, economic 
analysis and place based compelling narrative 

In-depth Labour Market Intelligence 

Business Competitiveness – Growing our 
Business Base 

Green transformation 

Priorities Key Achievements

Interactive state of sub region report
Black Country Intelligence Hub

Skills deep dive

Sector Action Plans

Geopark support
iTree Eco study
Canal Strategy

6

P
age 24



Employment Rate was 73.2%  in 2021
+2.1pp compared to -0.5pp nationally (since 2020)

+3,906 people required to reach nat. average (75.1%)         

1,910 Enterprise Births in 2020
+22.0% (+345) compared to -8.0% nationally (2019 – 2020)

Resident Wages were £26,630 in 2021
+2.7% compared to -0.9% nationally (2020-2021)

Shortfall of £4,860 to the England average (£31,490)

Black Country Economy Sandwell Economy

Employment Rate was 73.4% in 2021
+1.4pp compared to -0.5pp nationally (since 2020)

+12,431 people required to reach nat. average (75.1%)         

5,520 Enterprise Births in 2020
+0.4% (+685) compared to -8.0% nationally (2019 – 2020)

1,320 enterprise births P.A required to reach national level

Resident Wages were £28,169 in 2021
+1.5% compared to -0.9% nationally (2020-2021)

Shortfall of £3,321 to the England average (£31,490)

27.5% (56,800) of the WAP had NVQ4+ Quals in 2021
+2.7% compared to +0.6% nationally (2020-2021)

But 32,158 people still require upskilling to reach 43.1%

31.1% (227,100) of the WAP had NVQ4+ Quals in 2021
+6.4% compared to +0.6% nationally (2020-2021)

But 88,047 people still require upskilling to reach 43.1%

Population was 329,042 in 2020
+0.2% (+592 residents) compared to +0.5% nationally since 
2019

Population was over 1.2 million in 2020 – reaching 
the BC target 13 years early!
+0.3% compared to national rate of +0.5% since 2019

7

P
age 25



135,260 Dwellings in March 2022
+0.6% compared to +0.9% nationally since March 2021 

The number of Jobs has decreased to 121,000 in 2020 
-2.4% (-3,000) compared to -1.9% nationally since 2019                           

Black Country Economy

505,640 Dwellings in March 2022
+0.5% compared to +0.9% nationally since March 2021 

The number of Jobs has decreased to 436,000 in 2020
-1.8% compared to -1.9% nationally since 2019                             

Sandwell Economy

1,960 Apprenticeship Starts in 2020/21
-11.3% (-250) compared to -0.3% nationally (2019/20 – 2020/21

7,740 Apprenticeship Starts in 2020/21
-5.1% (-420) compared to -0.3% nationally (2019/20 – 2020/21)

+15,260 to reach 23,000 apprenticeship starts target

8

GVA per Head was £20,192 in 2020
-1.5% (-£316) compared to -3.5% nationally (2019-2020)

With a shortfall of £9,565 to national average

GVA per Head was £18,156 in 2020
-3.0% (-£563) compared to -3.5% nationally (2019-2020)

With a shortfall of £11,601 to national average

GVA was £6.6bn in 2020
-1.4% (-£92m) compared to -3.1% nationally (2019– 2020)

GVA was £21.8bn in 2020
-2.8% (-£609m) compared to -3.1% nationally (2019– 2020)

8

P
age 26



Census 2021 

9

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

N
um

be
r 

of
 R

es
id

en
ts

Sandwell 2021

Sandwell 2011

Sandwell 

+33,837 
Residents 

Since 
2011

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

80,000

90,000

100,000

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

R
e

si
d

e
n

ts

Birmingham 2021

Birmingham 2011

BirminghamP
age 27



Census 2021 

10

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

Age Breakdown for Male Sandwell Residents, 2011 vs 2021

Males 2021 Males 2011

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

Age Breakdown for Female Sandwell Residents, 2011 vs 2021

Females 2021 Females 2011

P
age 28



Sector Risk Analysis
Covid-19 EU Exit

11

Sector Risks

P
age 29



Recovery Plan

1. Backing Black Country Businesses

2. Delivering Skills for Today and the Future

3. Nurturing Green Growth

4. Creating Vibrant, Safe and Healthy Places

5. Mobilising Devolution and Public Service 
Reform

12

P
age 30



Black Country Objectives

13

Business Support

P
age 31



Developing Our Green Infrastructure 

14

P
age 32



iTree Eco

15

Developing Our Tree Strategy

P
age 33



Black Country Canal Strategy

16

P
age 34



Repowering the Black Country

10 Business 
Led Hubs

17

P
age 35



Black Country Partnership Support

18

P
age 36



19

Levelling Up White Paper

P
age 37



LEP Board – July 2022

20

Councillor Kerrie Carmichael 
(Labour)

Leader of Sandwell Council
Sandwell Council

Tim Steele

Pro Vice- Chancellor - University 
of Wolverhampton,

Chair BC Employment and Skills 
Board

Ian Campbell

Interim Vice Chancellor, 
University of Wolverhampton

Leader of Walsall Council
Walsall Council

Leader of Wolverhampton Council
City of Wolverhampton Council

Leader of Dudley Council
Dudley Council

Director 
RED Ltd,

Chair BC Competitiveness Board

P
age 38



Black Country Careers Hub

21

104 Enterprise Advisers Volunteers matched and Active 

in Schools/Colleges ( In Sandwell all mainstream 

Schools matched 2 AP and 1 college unmatched)

Sandwell Coordinators : Sandwell Connexions match 

fund 0.5 of a post and SIPS Education Sandwell 0.8 of a 

post 

Supporting Sandwell Council  with speakers and 

marketing  to deliver an employer engagement event in 

September 2022 at the Hawthorns 

Some of the Activities/Projects:
❖ Inspiring Black Country Live Event  

(Skills Show) in June 22 Skills Show 14-
24 year olds

❖ Sandwell Schools involved in the BAME 
Apprenticeship project - workshops, 
workplace visits and Inspirational 
speakers 

❖ Brades Lodge a Sandwell AP School 
received an intensive year long careers 
programme funded by the CEC via 
Careers Hub  for 25 students 

SEND Work in Sandwell 
❖ The Careers Hub secured and facilitated a pop up shop for SEND 

students - 60 students from Sandwell took part over 2 terms  

Transition Work 
Funding and supporting Sandwell Connexions to provide intensive support 

to Year 11 NEETS from June-December 22

P
age 39



Economy of Together

22

P
age 40



Digital

23

Future Activities

• Digital Inclusion

• Cyber Security

• Project Gigabyte

• Connected Places Agenda

Recent Activities

• WM5G Project Evaluation

• Full Fibre – Private Sector Deployment

• Gain Share from BDUK

• Digital Strategy

P
age 41



Legacy of Superfast Broadband and the Future

24

• BDUK – Superfast Broadband Programme – Complete

• Over 39,000 homes and businesses were connected for the 

first time, over 60,000 in total.

• Over 600 DSLAM Cabinets enabled, with over 250km of fibre.

• From 91.3% to 99.4% Superfast coverage. 

• Black Country in top 3 best connected in the UK for Superfast 

Broadband (Fibre to the Cabinet)

P
age 42



Digital Exclusion

25

From postcode-level data provided by CACI:
• Broadband speed
• Buying online
• Managing current accounts online
• Mobile phone ownership
• Internet usage
• People agreeing with the statement “computers confuse me, 

I will never get used to them”

Most likely to be 
digitally excluded

Least likely to be 
digitally excluded

P
age 43



Capital Investments 

26

P
age 44



Growing Places Fund

Superfast broadband BDUK- £2.9m

Opus Blueprint Wednesbury - £2.2m

YMCA Black Country Western Gateway - £3.4m

P
age 45



Growth Deal

Growing Priority Sectors - £8.2mWoods Lane Phase 1 - £4.4m

Birchley Island Development Funding £1.3m

Sandwell Aquatic Centre £5m

P
age 46



Land & Property Investment Fund

Sandwell Housing Gap funding - £1.68m

Tibbington Open space Site Investigation - £0.02k

P
age 47



Pipeline 

P
age 48



Pipeline 

P
age 49



Black Country Partnership Support - Active Black Country

32

P
age 50



Commonwealth Games

33

Collaboration and Foundation  

P
age 51



Commonwealth Games

34

Black Country CG Progress:

• Black Country Consortium/Active Black Country launched the Gen22 
programme with DWP support to align with Kickstart opportunities. 

• Commonwealth Active Communities project secured  to £1.9m funding to get 
people active, focus on activation of parks and open spaces and connectivity 
through transport infrastructure. Focus on the Sandwell wards - Langley, Soho 
and Victoria, St Paul’s (determined by the Sport England Active Lives data).

P
age 52



• Black Country Built Sport Facilities strategy work commencing –
evidence base to support healthy placemaking and future 
Levelling Up bids.

• Black Country Canal strategy due for completion September 
2022.

3
5

Strategic Integration 

P
age 53



3
6

Activation 

• In partnership with SMBC ‘We Can Swim’ campaign was soft launched at the 
Primary School Conference in May outlining intentions for the campaign to 
schools and the headline ambition around seeking to ensure ‘Every child in the 
Black Country to be water safe and able to swim 25 metres by September 
2024.

• Small Grants programme started in May 2022 – Improving health & wellbeing: 
focus on participation including those who are inactive to be active. £23,000 
funding into Sandwell community organisations in the 1st month.

• Cycling for Everyone programme due to start summer 2022 – a range of 
support to help people who currently don’t cycle start. 

P
age 54



Any Questions?

P
age 55



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

Report to Economy, Skills, Transport and 

Environment Scrutiny Board   
 

14 July 2022 

 

Subject: Towns Fund Full Business Cases  

Director: Director of Regeneration & Growth 

Tony McGovern 

Contact Officer: Rina Rahim  

Towns Fund Programme Manager, 

Rina_rahim@sandwell.gov.uk 

 

1 Recommendations 

 

1.1 That Economy, Skills, Transport and Environment Scrutiny Board note 

the contents of the report.  

 

2 Reasons for Recommendations  

 

2.1 This report affords an update on the Towns Fund Programme to provide 

assurance that the programme is proceeding in line with Government 

requirements and the agreed local assurance process. 

 

3 How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan? 

 

 

Best start in life for children and young people 
Projects within the Towns Fund areas will create new and 
improved facilities for young people including new 
education and learning spaces. 

 

People live well and age well 
Projects within the Towns Fund areas will deliver new 
housing, new education spaces, improvements to 

 

Page 57

Agenda Item 6



 

community assets, public realm and green spaces, 
improvements to transport links, and will support the 
creation of new jobs and learning opportunities. 

 

Strong resilient communities 
The Local Board membership is drawn from a range of 

organisations and sectors and provides input and direction 

to the Towns Fund programme at a strategic and local 

level. 

Projects within the Towns Fund areas will deliver new 
housing, new education spaces, improvements to 
community assets, public realm and green spaces, 
improvements to transport links, and will support the 
creation of new jobs and learning opportunities. 

 

Quality homes in thriving neighbourhoods 
Projects within the Towns Fund areas will deliver new 
housing and bring a range of improvements that support 
thriving neighbourhoods. 

 

A strong and inclusive economy 
Projects within the Towns Fund areas will deliver new jobs 
and learning opportunities. Improvements to transport 
connections will improve residents’ ability to access key 
transport hubs and hence their access to employment and 
education prospects and will make a contribution to 
attracting and retaining businesses in Sandwell. 

 

A connected and accessible Sandwell  
Projects within the Towns Fund areas will deliver 
improvements in cycling and walking infrastructure, and 
transport connections. 

 

 

4 Context and Key Issues 

 

4.1 On 6 September 2019 Government announced that 101 Towns had been 

identified to benefit from the Towns Fund, to drive economic regeneration 

and deliver long term economic and productive growth through Urban 

regeneration, planning and land use; skills and enterprise infrastructure; 

and Connectivity. In Sandwell the Towns of West Bromwich, Smethwick, 

and Rowley Regis were identified.  

 

Page 58



 

4.2 In October 2020, Sandwell submitted 3 Town Investment Plans (TIPs) to 

Government for each of the Government identified Towns. Each TIP 

sought the £25m maximum level of investment.    

 

4.3 On 3rd March, confirmation was received from Government that the TIPs 

had been accepted and Heads of Terms were offered (1 per Town) 

offering West Bromwich £25m; Smethwick £23.5m and Rowley Regis 

£19m, making Sandwell’s total Towns Fund allocation £67.5m. This was 

confirmed in a Grant Offer, received on the 20 August 2021. 

 

4.4 Further to minute 22/22 (of 10 March 2022) the remaining 13 full 

business cases have now been submitted to Government by the 

deadline 24 March 2022.  Following submission of the documentation, 

government have recently approved all 13 projects, resulting in Sandwell 

securing the full £67.5 million, with payments for 22/23 due over the next 

couple of months. 

 

4.5 As the programme enters Phase 3 – delivery, Sandwell Council will then 

become the Accountable Body for the funding, responsible for 

administering the Towns Fund Grant to projects and responsible for 

ensuring the projects deliver the contracted outputs and outcomes in 

accordance with the Towns Fund Terms & Conditions. Partnership 

Agreements are being prepared between the Council and projects to 

ensure appropriate risk transfer relating to project delivery.  

 

4.6 The governance structure in place during Phase 1 and 2, with the 

Superboard being supported by three Local Boards had been effective to 

date allowing the development of projects to Full Business Case through 

robust due diligence and assurance processes.  As the focus now shifts 

to delivery phase, this process did not provide additional value and as 

such, the Board Chairs considered alternative governance structures, 

which would best serve the efficient reporting throughout the delivery 

phase. 

 
4.7 A Superboard meeting was held on 3rd May 2022 whereby it was 

unanimously agreed that the Local Boards inherit the Superboard 
responsibilities which took effect from Cabinet approval on 18 May 22. 

Page 59



 

 
4.8 Local Boards will meet quarterly to review programme and project 

progress to provide assurance that projects are delivering as per 
approvals.  
 

4.9 As SMBC is the Accountable Body, the Section 151 Officer is charged 
with ensuring proper financial management processes are in place to 
effectively manage the Towns Fund Programme.  
 

4.10 At least every six months, the S151 Officer on behalf of the Accountable 
Body and Local Boards, is required to provide DLUHC with a 
comprehensive set of data relating to each Towns Fund Project, 
including both claimed and forecast spend, and output metrics.  
 

4.11 To enable the council to fulfil its Accountably Body responsibilities, an 
Assurance Framework has been approved by Cabinet on 22 June 22, 
setting out how the Accountable Body, Local Boards and project 
partners will monitor and manage the Towns Fund Programme 
effectively ensuring timely release of funds. 

 

4.12 The first monitoring return capturing progress made by the first 3 
projects approved including Urban Greening, Digital Den and Sandwell 
College Mechanical & Engineering Centre, was submitted on the 10 

June 22.  The remaining 13 projects will be required to submit monitoring 
returns in early December 2022.  
 

4.13 Rowley Regis payments for 22/23 have been received on 23 June 22 
with Smethwick and West Bromwich payments due in 
August/September.  Project Leads will submit first return on 10 October 
covering the period of activity from the start of their project to 30 
September 2022.  An updated of progress towards spend and outputs 
can be presented at the next Scrutiny Board. 

 

5 Implications 

 

Resources: Resources are in place for the existing Governance 

arrangements and phases 3 of the Towns Fund Programme 

with regard to the Programme Management Office.  

 

Page 60



 

There are resource requirements for the Council to fulfil its 

responsibility as Accountable Body, and these are being 

considered by the Director for Regeneration & Growth and 

the Director of Finance.  

 

The Towns Fund represents an opportunity to attract 

£67.5m regeneration investment which has been 

conditionally offered by Government through 3 Town Deals. 

 

Legal and 

Governance: 

Governance and Legal arrangements are in place phase 3 

– delivery and the role of the council as Accountable Body.  

 

Risk: The strategic risk to the council was reported to Audit 

Committee on the 22 January 2022. The risk has a score of 

8 (amber) with a downward trajectory, forecasting 6 (green) 

by the end of financial year 21/22 close.  

 

Equality: The revised Governance arrangements consist of three 

Local Boards, with membership drawn from a range of 

organisations and sectors. 

 

The investment gained through the Towns Fund offers the 

opportunity for Towns to ‘level up’ and put in place building 

blocks for economic prosperity.  

 

Specific equality and diversity implications have been 

assessed for each project within the programme.  

 

Health and 

Wellbeing: 

Projects within the Towns Fund Programme will deliver 

health and wellbeing benefits and are outlined as part of the 

Full Business Cases for each project. 

 

Social Value The Towns Fund Programme involves an offer of £67.5m 

for Sandwell and social value requirements for each of the 

projects is being considered as part of the full business case 

development. 

Page 61



 

 

6 Appendices 

 Appendix 1 Towns Fund Project Financial Profiles  

 Appendix 2 Assurance Framework and Appendices 

 

 

7. Background Papers 

 

 N//A 

 

Page 62



Project REV/CAP 21/22 (£) 22/23 (£) 23/24 (£) 24/25 (£) 25/26 (£) Total (£)

Sandwell Civil and Mechanical 

Engineering Centre
Rev 150,000 150,000

Cap 100,000 2,450,000 2,550,000
Sandwell College Total 250,000 2,450,000 0 0 0 2,700,000

Digital Den Rev 0

Cap 42,600 42,600
Greets Green Community Enterprise Total 42,600 0 0 0 0 42,600

Retail Diversification Programme Rev 850,000 200,000 100,000 1,150,000

Cap 6,250,000 4,500,000 1,100,000 11,850,000
SMBC Total 0 7,100,000 4,700,000 1,200,000 0 13,000,000

Urban Greening Rev 46,000 39,000 30,000 30,000 145,000

Cap 115,000 611,000 270,000 79,000 1,075,000
SMBC Total 115,000 657,000 309,000 109,000 30,000 1,220,000

Town Hall Quarter Rev 0 273,000 124,000 124,000 124,000 645,000

Cap 285,000 1,500,000 2,000,000 1,500,000 1,000,000 6,285,000
SMBC Total 285,000 1,773,000 2,124,000 1,624,000 1,124,000 6,930,000

Rev 0

Cap 55,000 165,000 85,000 491,000 304,000 1,100,000
SMBC Total 55,000 165,000 85,000 491,000 304,000 1,100,000

TOTAL WEST BROMWICH 747,600 12,145,000 7,218,000 3,424,000 1,458,000 24,992,600

Midland Met Learning Campus Rev 0 0

Cap 650,000 1,800,000 9,500,000 950,000 12,900,000
NHS Trust Total 650,000 1,800,000 9,500,000 950,000 0 12,900,000

Grove Lane Regeneration Rev 0 0

Cap 10,000 2,340,000 2,000,000 4,350,000
SMBC Total 10,000 2,340,000 2,000,000 0 0 4,350,000

Rolfe Street Canalside Regeneration Rev 0 15,000 15,000

Cap 15,000 1,970,000 1,985,000
SMBC Total 15,000 1,985,000 0 0 0 2,000,000

Ron Davis Centre Expansion Rev 0 0

Cap 5,000 276,600 78,400 360,000
SMBC Total 5,000 276,600 78,400 0 0 360,000

Smethwick Connected Rev 0

Cap 74,850 1,018,400 2,171,700 607,850 3,872,800
SMBC Total 0 74,850 1,018,400 2,171,700 607,850 3,872,800

TOTAL SMETHWICK 680,000 6,476,450 12,596,800 3,121,700 607,850 23,482,800

Rowley Regis College Rev 0 400,000 50,000 450,000

Cap 2,900,000 4,650,000 1,000,000 8,550,000
Sandwell College Total 0 3,300,000 4,700,000 1,000,000 0 9,000,000

Canal Network Connectivity Rev 0

Cap 800,000 1,500,000 2,300,000
Canal River Network Trust Total 0 800,000 1,500,000 0 0 2,300,000

Britannia Park Community Hub and 

Greenspace Improvements Rev 0 10,000 10,000

Cap 50,000 1,993,000 407,000 2,450,000
SMBC Total 50,000 2,003,000 407,000 0 0 2,460,000

Blackheath Bus Interchange and Public 

Realm Rev 0

Cap 20,000 1,698,000 1,709,000 319,000 3,746,000
SMBC Total 20,000 1,698,000 1,709,000 319,000 0 3,746,000

Rowley Regis Connected Rev 0

Cap 50,000 800,200 283,800 366,000 1,500,000
SMBC Total 50,000 800,200 283,800 366,000 0 1,500,000

TOTAL ROWLEY REGIS 120,000 8,601,200 8,599,800 1,685,000 0 19,006,000

Revenue 150,000 1,594,000 413,000 254,000 154,000 2,565,000

Capital 1,397,600 25,628,650 28,001,600 7,976,700 1,911,850 64,916,400

Total 1,547,600 27,222,650 28,414,600 8,230,700 2,065,850 67,481,400

West Bromwich Connected

APPROVED
W

E
S

T
 B

R
O

M
W

IC
H

S
M

E
T

H
W

IC
K

R
O

W
L

E
Y

 R
E

G
IS

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Sandwell Towns Fund 
Assurance Framework 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Version Details of changes Approved Date Updated by 
1 n/a  R Rahim 

Page 65



2 

 

 

 

Contents 
 

Section 1 Introduction and purpose  
1.1 Local Assurance Framework 5 
1.2 Sandwell Towns Fund 5 
1.3 Phase 1 Town Investment Plan 6 
1.4 Phase 2 Towns Fund Full Business Cases 7 
1.5 Phase 3 Delivery  8 

Section 2 Transparent Decision Making  
2.1 Towns Fund Governance Phases 1-2 10 
2.2 Towns Fund Governance Phase 3 10 
2.3 Board representatives  13 
2.4 Structure and Roles 14 
2.5 Stakeholder Engagement 17 
2.6 Inclusion and Sustainability 18 

Section 3 Accountable Decision Making   
3.1 The Accountable Body 19 
3.2 Roles and responsibilities of Section 151 Officer 21 
3.3 Audit and Scrutiny 22 
3.4 Financial Regulations 22 

Section 4  Programme Delivery  
4.1 Contract management 23 
4.2 Scheme of Delegation and Project Changes 24 
4.3 Monitoring and evaluation - PMO and Project Leads 25 
4.4 Monitoring and Evaluation – Towns Fund Local Boards 26 
4.5 Monitoring and Evaluation - DLUHC 28 
4.6 Claims Process 29 
4.7 Procurement 30 
4.8 Recovery of Funding 30 
4.9 Publications of Reports and Information 31 

4.10 Government Branding 32 
4.11 Risk and assurance 33 
4.12 Communications and Engagement 34 
4.13 Data Management and Freedom of Information 35 
4.14 Consultations during delivery phase 35 

Section 5 Signatories 36 
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 66



3 

 

 

 
Annex 
The following is a list of Annexes referred to in this Assurance Framework.  These 
documents are subject to change from time to time to comply with government guidance and 
Sandwell Councils procedures.   
 

Annex Title of Annex 

1.  Terms of Reference – Sandwell Towns Fund Superboard and Local Boards (Phase 
1-2) 

2.  Terms of Reference – Sandwell Towns Fund Local Boards (Phase 3) 

3.  Board members Code of Conduct and Register of Interest 

4.  Terms of Reference – Towns Fund Programme Board (Accountable Body Officers) 

5.  Terms of Reference – Assurance Panel 

6.  Monitoring and Assurance Framework- projects 

7.  Project Approval Visit template (draft) 

8.  Project Claims process and forecasting (draft) 

9.  Change Process Protocol (draft) 

10.  Towns Funds Joint Publicity Protocol 

11.  Communications and Engagement Plan 

12.  Risk Management template 

13.  Assurance overview and 4 lines of defense model 

14.  Objection Resolution process 
 
 
 

Page 67



4 

 

 

 
 
Key Abbreviations and Terminology 

 
Word/Phrase/Abbreviation Meaning 

Accountable Body (AB) the Local Authority allocated as the Accountably Body to 
central government for the Programme or any parts thereof; 

Benefit Cost Ration (BCR) Benefit Cost Ratio – value for money calculation 
Assurance Framework this Assurance Framework Agreement; 

  DLUHC  
 

Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 
Department within Government responsible for the Towns 
Fund Programme 

Full Business Case (FBC) Full Business Case developed as required by funder 
Heads of Terms Contract with government and funding provider 

Internal Offer Letter Agreement between Accountable Body and SMBC projects 
detailing project deliverables 

MHCLG the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government,  p rev ious department  to  DLUHC 
Department for Communities and Local Government) 

Monitoring and Evaluation 
Plan (M&E plan) 

Monitoring and Evaluation Plan requiring submission to 
government 

Partnership Agreement Contract with external project leads  

Programme Management 
Office (PMO) 

the Programme Management Office which forms part of the 
Accountable Body 

Programme The operational element of the individual programme within 
the Deal; 

Project Adjustment Request 
(PAR) 

Template to be completed to submit to DLUHC for changes 
to be approved 

SMBC Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council 
Summary Documentation Summary information extracted from the Full Business Case 

requiring submission to government as part of the approval 
process 
 TIP Town Investment Plans, submitted to government detailing 
the projects 

 
 
 

Page 68



5 

 

 

 
SECTION 1  INTRODUCTION AND PURPOSE 

1.1 Assurance Framework 

1.1.1 This Assurance Framework sets out how Sandwell Towns Fund Boards and 
Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council (as the Accountable Body for the 
Towns Fund) will undertake their roles to ensure good governance and sound 
use of public money with respect to the Towns Fund allocation for Sandwell. 

1.1.2 The framework is underpinned by a suite of documents including terms of 
references, policies and procedures which sets out the structure and roles that 
partners will play, and the processes and policies that will apply to the decision 
making that is required in managing the Towns Fund programme. 

Adherence to the framework should ensure: 

• Accountable decision making 
• Responsible use of public money including achieving value for money 
• Effective monitoring and evaluation 

1.1.3 The framework is jointly owned by Sandwell Towns Fund Local Boards and 
Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council (SMBC) as the Accountable Body, subject 
to approval by SMBC Cabinet in June 2022. This Framework will be reviewed 
annually, and any in-year changes will be made within one calendar month or 
following the next Cabinet and Local Board meeting where applicable. 
 

1.2 Sandwell Towns Fund Programme 
 
Background 

1.2.1 On 6th September 2019 it was announced that 101 Towns had been identified by 
Government to benefit from the Towns Fund. In Sandwell, West Bromwich, 
Smethwick, and Rowley Regis were identified to benefit from the Towns Fund 
Programme.   

1.2.2 The objective of the Towns fund is to drive the economic regeneration in Towns 
to deliver long term economic and productive growth through;  

 
a) Urban regeneration, planning and land use; ensuring towns are thriving places 

for people to live and work, including by; increasing density in town centre, 
strengthening local economic assets including local cultural assets; site 
acquisition, remediation, preparation, regeneration; and making the full use of 
planning tools to bring strategic direction and change.  
 

b) Skills and enterprise infrastructure: driving private sector investment and 
ensuring towns have the space to support skills and small business 
development.  
 
 
 
 

Page 69



6 

 

 

c) Connectivity: developing local transport schemes that complement regional 
and national networks, as well as supporting the delivery of improved digital 
connectivity.  

The delivery process for the Towns Fund Programme was defined by three 
stages: 

Phase 1  Town Investment Plan - Heads of terms 
Phase 2  Full development of TIP Projects   
Phase 3 Delivery of TIP Projects. 
 
The key processes in the appraisal and approval of the projects are summarised 
as follows: 
 

 
 

1.3 PHASE 1 Town Investment Plan (Completed) 

1.3.1 A Towns Fund Superboard and three Local Boards were formed in January 
2020 and work was commissioned to prepare TIPs for each Town which 
contained a vision with a set of priorities and projects in line with the guidance 
issued. Superboard was responsible for signing off each stage of the 
development of the TIPs, this included the decisions relating to the project 
prioritisation process and final selection of projects for inclusion in the TIP.  The 
following projects were developed during this process: 
 

 Project Applicant 

W
ES

T 
B

R
O

M
IW

C
H

 Digital Den Greets Green 
Community Centre 

Sandwell Civil and Mechanical 
Engineering Centre 

Sandwell College 

Urban Greening SMBC 
Retail Diversification Programme SMBC 
Town Hall Quarter SMBC 
West Bromwich Connected SMBC 

 
 

Page 70



7 

 

 

 
 

SM
ET

H
W

IC
K 

Midland Met Learning Campus NHS Trust 
Grove Lane Regeneration SMBC 
Albion Family in the Park (project 
withdrawn following TIP submission) 

The Albion Foundation 

Rolfe Street Canalside Regeneration SMBC 
Ron Davis Centre Expansion SMBC 
Smethwick Connected SMBC 

R
O

W
LE

Y 
R

EG
IS

 Rowley Regis College- Satellite 
Education Hub 

Sandwell College 

Canal Network Connectivity Canal River Trust 
Britannia Park Community Hub and 
Greenspace Improvements 

SMBC 

Blackheath Bus Interchange and Public 
Realm 

SMBC 

Rowley Regis Connected SMBC 

 

1.3.2 Following the submission of the TIPs for Sandwell in October 2020, Government 
issued Heads of Terms for each of the Sandwell Towns in March 2021.   The 
Heads of Terms were a conditional offer of funding of £25m for West Bromwich, 
£23.5m for Smethwick and £19m for Rowley Regis.  
 

1.4 PHASE 2 Towns Fund Project Business Cases (Completed) 
 

1.4.1 Following the Heads of Term Agreement, the Towns Fund Boards oversaw the 
development of full business cases for all the TIP projects.  Towns had up to 12 
months from the signing of Heads of Terms (until 24th March 22) to develop and 
submit full business case to DLUHC to enable release of funding.  

 
1.4.2 A key component of the Business Case process was to undertake Green Book 

compliant Value for Money Assessments, including calculation so Benefit Cost 
Ratios (BCRs) for individual projects. 

 
1.4.3 Independent appraisal of the business cases were carried out prior to 

submission to government to give the necessary assurance to the Accountable 
Body and Towns Fund Boards.   

 
1.4.4 Where applicable, community & stakeholder consultation and engagement with 

the support of SMBC, took place during full business case development to 
ensure the community and stakeholders remained active in shaping the projects.  
 

1.4.5 Following the inclusion of 17 project in the TIPs, The Albion Foundation 
withdrew the Albion Family in the park project in December 2021 due to a 
number of challenges.  

1.4.6 The remaining 16 projects which make up the Towns Fund Programme were 
divided into 3 tranches for DLUHC submission and submitted to DLUHC as 
follows: 
 

Page 71



8 

 

 

 
 

Project Tranche Approval Process DLUHC Submission 
Digital Den 1 SIU 

Local Board 
Superboard 

SMBC Cabinet 

October 21 
Sandwell Civil and Mechanical 
Engineering Centre 

2  
January 22 

Urban Greening 2 
Retail Diversification 
Programme 

3 

SIU 
Local Board 
Superboard 

Assurance Panel 
 

March 2022 
 
 
 

Town Hall Quarter 3 
West Bromwich Connected 3 
Midland Met Learning Campus 3 
Grove Lane Regeneration 3 
Rolfe Street Canalside 
Regeneration 

3 

Ron Davis Centre Expansion 3 
Smethwick Connected 3 

SIU 
Local Board 
Superboard 

Assurance Panel 
 
 

March 2022 
 
 
 
 

Rowley Regis Satellite 
Education Hub 

3 

Canal Network Connectivity 3 
Britannia Park Community Hub 
and Greenspace 
Improvements 

3 

Blackheath Bus Interchange 
and Public Realm 

3 

Rowley Regis Connected 3 

 

1.4.7 The three projects within Tranche 1 and 2 followed the original assurance 
process, where projects were appraised by the Councils Strategic Investment 
Unit prior to being approved by the Local Boards and Superboard and finally 
the Cabinet before submission to DLUHC. 

1.4.8 Tranche 3 projects followed a revised assurance process. SMBC Cabinet 
authorised the establishment of an Assurance Panel to comprise the Director 
for Regeneration & Growth, the Section 151 Officer, a representative from the 
Strategic Investment Unit, the Cabinet Member for Regeneration and Growth 
and the chair of the Town Deal Board. Full Business Cases were appraised by 
the Council’s Strategic Investment Unit and third-party consultants, agreed by 
Local Board and Superboard before being presented to the Assurance Panel 
for approval. 

1.4.9 Once approved by Cabinet/ Assurance Panel, a project Summary Document 
and Monitoring and Evaluation Plan was prepared and submitted to DLUHC for 
review. The Summary Document contains an overview of the context within 
each FBC, how it has been appraised, and confirmation that key conditions 
from the Heads of Terms have been addressed (where applicable). 

 
 
 
 

Page 72



9 

 

 

1.5 PHASE 3 Delivery (Current Stage) 

1.5.1 Once Government approval has been received following submission of 
Summary documentation, projects will draw down funding and commence 
delivery.  Delivery of individual projects will continue to be overseen by the 
Towns Fund Local Boards in partnership with the Accountable Body. 
 

1.5.2 The Accountable Body will be responsible for the day-to-day delivery and 
operational decisions for the Towns Fund programme. The Board will be 
responsible for overseeing delivery of the programme, monitoring and 
evaluation of the individual projects and compliance with the Heads of Terms 
Agreement with government.  
 

1.5.3 The Programme Management Office (PMO) will have responsibility for day-to-
day decisions and delivery of the TIP projects:  
 
 
• The PMO office will be supported by appointed project managers and other 

economic development and regeneration specialists, including  
legal, finance and communication specialists.  
 

• Each TIP project will be led by an appointed Lead who will work with a 
Project Delivery Group made up of relevant internal and external 
stakeholders for the project.  
 

• The Towns Fund Programme Manager/ PMO Team will provide update 
reports to the Programme Board, Local Boards, Cabinet, DLUHC and any 
Scrutiny Boards where applicable.  
 

• Programme decisions will require final approval by SMBC Cabinet unless 
delegated authority has been authorised.  
 
The Programme Management Office will be responsible for following 
work areas;  
 

• Day to day responsibility for the management and administration of the 
Towns Fund programme  

• Overseeing the delivery of all TIP projects  
• Ensuring that projects remain state aid compliant - overseeing appropriate 

due diligence (whether internal or external)  
• Drafting funding agreements letters/contracts, where appropriate (approved 

by SMBCs legal department)  
• Communicating as required with private sector partners and any individual 

grant beneficiaries  
• Performance managing any external grant awards, monitoring milestones, 

outputs and the terms and conditions  
• Claim, drawdown, defray and account for funds from DLUHC  
• Liaising with DLUHC/Towns Fund Delivery Team to ensure they receive 

monitoring updates and progress reports as required  
• Supporting third party project teams in their delivery of Towns Fund 

projects, monitoring progress where appropriate through a grant agreement  

Page 73



10 

 

 

• Reporting on Towns Fund progress to SMBC’s internal Board, Portfolio 
Holders, Scrutiny and Cabinet  

• Implementation and delivery of the Communication Plan  
 

 
SECTION 2  TRANSPARENT DECISION MAKING 

 
2.1 Sandwell Towns Fund Superboard and Local Boards (Phase 1 and 2) 
 

2.1.1 The Towns Fund Superboard adopted the role of a senior strategic body 
working in partnership with SMBC. It provided strategic direction to the 
development and implementation of the Towns Investment Plans for Sandwell. 
 

2.1.2 Specifically, the Boards were the vehicle through which the vision and strategy 
for the town was defined ensuring diversity in its engagement with local 
communities and businesses. The three Local Boards (Rowley Regis, 
Smethwick and West Bromwich) were constituted as working groups of the 
Superboard and had a remit to influence the Towns Fund Programme and to 
form part of the assurance mechanisms to ensure that project delivery remains 
in keeping with the Vision and objectives outlined in the Town Investment Plan. 
 

2.1.3 As working groups of the Superboard, Local Boards committed to developing 
projects and through their recommendations and reports, influenced the 
programme and project direction to support the Towns Fund Superboard.   

 
 
2.2 Governance for Phase 3 Delivery 
 

2.2.1 The governance model of the Superboard being supported by three Local Boards 
has been effective to date allowing the development of projects to FBC stage 
through robust due diligence and assurance processes.  This structure has best 
served the projects in ensuring that due diligence was undertaken to submit 
summary documentation by 24th March 2022. 

 
2.2.2 MHCLG Guidance (Dec 2020 and April 2021) sets out the following requirements 

of the Boards and the Council: 
 

• Phase 3 of the Programme (project delivery) - that the Towns Fund Board 
should ensure an element of independent ‘on-the-ground’ monitoring of the 
deal delivery and act as a ‘critical friend’ throughout the programme lifecycle; 
 

• Through project delivery, ensure regular catch ups with the Towns Fund Board 
to enable the board to see through the town vision, take ownership of their 
proposed projects and provide a level of accountability. 

 
• The Towns Fund Board should have an ongoing role and sight of decisions, 

the nature and degree of which should be agreed locally. 
 
 
 

Page 74



11 

 

 

2.2.3 This Towns Fund Assurance Framework will stipulate the roles and 
responsibilities of partners, Boards and the Accountable Body as well as the 
processes required to deliver the Towns Fund Programme successfully 
throughout the delivery phase.  This will also include mechanisms on continuing 
reports to the Towns Fund Boards by way of highlight reports including progress 
towards finance, outcomes, milestones as well as project change requests, risk 
management and any other programme related matters. 

 
2.2.4 To best serve the efficient reporting throughout the delivery phase, an updated 

governance structure was approved at Cabinet on 18 May 2022.  The structural 
changes enables the Local Boards to inherit the Superboard responsibilities with 
ongoing delivery and progress being managed by the Local Boards. The 
changes for Phase 3 will include the following: 

 
• Superboard members will be transferred over to the Local Boards as 

appropriate to ensure continuation of representation of key stakeholders. 
 

• Inclusion of Elected Member representation on the Local Boards 
 

• Update of Cabinet members roles required as the structure has changed 
since June 2021 
 

• Cabinet members will continue to have an open invitation to Local Boards. 
 

• S151/delegated representative to have an open invitation to ensure 
compliance on behalf of Accountable Body. 
 

• Chairs of Local Boards will convene regularly for collaboration and 
consistency of approach. 
 

• Ongoing quarterly reports to be presented to the Elected Members Towns 
Meetings. 
 

• Superboard structure no longer being active. 
 

• Ongoing quarterly reports will be presented to the Economy, Skills, 
Environment and Transportation Scrutiny Board to provide assurance that 
the programme is proceeding in line with Government requirements and 
agreed local assurance processes. 

 
The revised structure is shown below: 

Page 75



12 

 

 

 
 
 

2.2.5  Members of the Local Boards will continue to work within the guidance issued by 
government and will always demonstrate the highest standards of conduct. Any 
third party involved with the Local Boards or who is providing a service to the 
Sandwell Towns Fund Board will be made aware they are expected to act within 
the governance system and that their conduct is expected to be consistent with 
the standards applicable to members of the Local Boards. 
 

2.2.7 As per the Towns Fund Prospectus, the Government expect that Towns Fund 
Boards align with governance and polices of the Accountable Body (SMBC).  
This includes whistle blowing, conflicts of interest and complaints. Details on 
such policies can be found on the Sandwell Towns Fund Website. 
 

2.2.8  SMBC expects employees and its members to adhere to the seven Nolan 
Principles of public life. Therefore, members of the Local Boards are expected to 
adhere to those same principles of:  
 

• Selflessness  
• Integrity  
• Objectivity  
• Accountability  
• Openness  
• Honesty  
• Leadership  

 
 

2.2.9 Each Board Member and Substitute Board Member is required to adhere to the 
Terms of Reference and submit a signed version of the Register of Interest and 
Code of Conduct before formal membership is given. A copy of the Register of 
Interest, Terms of Reference, and Codes of Conduct are included within 
Annexes 1, 2 and 3 of this document. Completed forms are submitted on the 
SMBC Towns Fund Website, as Accountable Body, under the list of Board 
representatives.  

 
 

Page 76



13 

 

 

2.2.10 In light of the Covid-19 pandemic, Sandwell Towns Fund Board meetings may 
be held in person or virtually, as required. The same governance rules apply to 
meetings that are held virtually. 

 
 

2.3 Board Representatives 
 

2.3.1 The Local Boards comprise of private and public businesses and bodies 
throughout the three towns and is the vehicle through which the vision and 
strategy for the town is defined.  

 
2.3.2    The primary role of the Local Boards is to provide strong and visible leadership 

for Sandwell, challenging partners to increase their ambition of what can be 
achieved collectively and acting as advocates for the town.  
 

2.3.3 Since inception in early 2020, Sandwell Towns Fund Boards have agreed a 
vision for Sandwell and sought to maximise the opportunities for growth; 
including, the development of a well evidenced Town Investment Plans which 
sets out clear understanding of the area, focusing on its assets, opportunities 
and challenges.  
 

2.3.4 As the Towns Fund Programme serves three towns in Sandwell, Local Boards 
were set up as working groups of the Superboard to deliver phases 1 and 2 of 
the programme. As mentioned in Section 3 Governance, the Local boards will 
inherit the responsibilities of the Superboard to ensure that programme reporting 
is effective during the delivery phase. The Board representatives for Phase 3 will 
compromise: 

 
• Chair and Co-Chair - The posts will lead and facilitate the Board providing 

strategic direction. Each role will be independent in its own right and at least one 
role will be held by a private sector representative. To enable the Board to 
proceed at least one of the two Chairs must be in attendance at the Local Board 
meetings The Chair and Vice-Chair will be voted in on an annual basis. 
 

• Board Members - Representatives from the public and private sector including 
local business, Higher Education, Further Education, community voluntary 
services, health, elected members. Board Membership will be reviewed 
annually. Any decision made by the Chair must be formally ratified by the rest of 
the Board Members at the next meeting. There may be one vote per 
organisation. 

 
• Substitute Board Members - Substitute members from organisations will be 

entitled to attend Board meetings and vote when a Board Member is not 
available. Substitute members are required to follow the governance process. 
 

• Advisors - Advisors are invited by Board Members and participate in the 
meetings but have no voting rights or ability to make decisions on behalf of the 
Board.  
 
 
 
 

• S151 Officer – SMBC is the Accountable Body for the Towns Funds Boards. 

Page 77



14 

 

 

The Council’s S151 Officer will ensure compliance with all necessary financial 
regulations, in order to protect the accountable body and ensure proper 
administration of all financial affairs. 
 

2.4 Structure and Roles during Phase 3 – Delivery 

2.4.1 The two key bodies with responsibilities to develop and deliver the Towns Fund 
are Sandwell Towns Fund Boards and Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council 
(SMBC), the latter being the Accountable Body for the Towns Fund. Detailed 
guidance was provided by government in December 2020 and updated in April 
2021 on the respective roles of these bodies (see section 4.10 of the 
guidance). This framework has been developed in line with this guidance, 
though it was focused more on the development of the Town Investment Plan 
than the totality of the Towns Fund programme. Looking to the phases of the 
programme beyond the Town Investment Plan, more recent guidance 
summarises the roles as follows: 
 

 The Accountable Body (as identified in the Town Investment Plan) will be 
accountable for implementing the Towns Fund Programme. The Towns 
Fund Board should have an ongoing role and have sight of decisions as 
projects are developed in more detail or possible changes are made. The 
nature and degree of the Board’s oversight should be agreed locally. 

 Locally, ultimate decision-making responsibility will lie with the 
accountable body, but the Towns Fund Board Chair will be a signatory to 
the Summary Document and should make decisions in partnership and 
collaboration with the Towns Fund Board 

(Towns Fund guidance (stage two): business case development, Dec 
2020 section 2.4-2.5) 

 
2.4.2 The governance structure and roles have been defined throughout the different 

phases of the Towns Fund Programme to ensure that the responsibilities have 
been effectively discharged. 
 

2.4.3 The Local Boards have been integral in the development of the projects 
throughout Phase 1 and 2 and will continue to have an ongoing involvement in 
Phase 3 delivery stage. To enable day to day programme management and 
decision making, the Local Boards have inherited the responsibilities from the 
Superboard and will be responsible for the delivery of the programme, ensuring 
compliance of Heads of Terms.  The Boards Terms of Reference have been 
updated to align with the delivery phase and details the responsibilities and 
policies to deal with challenges faced in the delivery stages. 
 

2.4.4 Overarching responsibility for steering and overseeing Sandwell Towns Fund 
programme lies with the Sandwell Towns Local Boards. As the Towns Fund 
progresses, some work may be delegated to specific sub-boards or panels. 
These sub- boards will be chaired by a member of the Local Boards who will 
report back on the sub-board activity. 

 
 

Page 78



15 

 

 

 
2.4.5 More detail on the respective roles of the groups in the diagram are included 

within subsequent sections as key activities and processes are described. 
However, with a focus on phases during the submission of the Town Investment 
Plan and Business cases, the roles in brief are: 

 
Towns Fund Boards 
Sandwell Town Fund 
Superboard (Phase 1 and 
Phase 2) 

Working in partnership with SMBC as the 
Accountable Body, Towns Fund Superboard 
provided strategic direction to the development 
and implementation of Sandwell Towns Fund. 
The Board had a critical role to play in ensuring 
a strong and diverse voice from Sandwell 
communities and stakeholders brought the 
discussions and decisions on the Towns Fund.  

Local Boards (Phase 1 
and 2) 
 
 
 
 

The three Local Boards (Rowley Regis, 
Smethwick and West Bromwich) were constituted 
as working groups of the Superboard to influence 
the Towns Fund Programme and projects and to 
form part of the assurance mechanisms to 
ensure that project delivery remains in keeping 
with the Vision and objectives outlined in the 
Town Investment Plan. Responsibilities of the 
Local Boards included helping develop full 
business cases with project leads in line and 
providing critical challenge where required  

Local Boards 
(Phase 3) 

Local Boards will inherit Superboard 
responsibilities to have continued input into the 
delivery phase of projects benefitting from local 
knowledge. Monitoring progress towards 
programme delivery including agreeing project 
adjustment requests and ensuring compliance 
with Heads of Terms, making recommendations 
to Cabinet/Delegated authority where required. 

Accountable Body 
SMBC Cabinet As the Accountable Body for the Towns Fund, 

SMBC will have a range of responsibilities as 
set out in the next section. The role of its 
Cabinet will be to ensure that resources and 
arrangements are in place to discharge those 
accountable body responsibilities. It will be the 
senior decision-making body within the Council 
regarding the Towns Fund Programme, though 
it may choose to delegate decisions for example 
to S151 Officer, Director of Regeneration & 
Growth or Cabinet member in consultation with 
the Towns Funds Boards/Chair. Decisions taken 
by Cabinet will be subject to scrutiny through the 
existing SMBCs Scrutiny process. 

Strategic Investment Unit The Councils Financial Regulations states that all 
bids for external funding must be appraised by 

Page 79



16 

 

 

Strategic Finance prior to being submitted. The 
SIU under this proposal, with the support of the 
external consultants have prepared 16 Business 
Cases for approval.  
 

Assurance Panel Due to the number of projects requiring Cabinet 
approval, Cabinet approved the establishment of 
an Assurance Panel consisting of the Chair of the 
Superboard, S151 Officer, Director of 
Regeneration and Growth.  Delegated authority 
was approved for the Assurance Panel to review 
and approve the 13 project business cases in 
Tranche 3 prior to submission to DLUHC. 
 
The Panel provided assurance that the projects 
were a strategic fit; support a compelling case for 
change; maximise public value; are commercially 
viable; are affordable and funding and can be 
achieved successfully by the organisation and its 
partners. 
 
Terms of Reference for the Assurance Panel are 
detailed in Annex 5. 

Towns Fund Programme 
Board (Accountable Body 
Officers Group) 

The Towns Fund Accountable Body Officers 
Group consisted of Project leads and the PMO to 
support the development of full business cases 
during Phase 2. It also included department and 
external consultants who are critical to the delivery 
of the programme including Legal, Finance, 
Governance, Procurement, Communications. 
 
This provided a further line of assurance within the 
council with regard to the managing of public 
money as the Towns Fund programme forms part 
of the council’s wider Capital Programme.    
 
During Phase 3, the Board will be revert to being 
the Programme Board and will review the Terms 
of Reference and ensure that its is fit for purpose.  
Having such a platform provides a route for 
escalation of project management issues and 
risks within the programme.  The Board is run in 
line with the wider project and programme 
methodologies in place within the council. Where 
applicable, it will also provide regular updates to 
the Sandwell Towns Fund Board. The Terms of 
Reference for the Accountable Body Officer are 
included at Annex 4. 
 

Page 80



17 

 

 

Towns Fund Programme 
Management Office 

The Programme Management Office has been 
established in order to provide the dedicated 
resources required to manage the programme 
and ensure the council can fulfil its role as the 
Accountable Body. It includes a Towns Fund 
Programme Manager and a Programme 
Support Officer responsible for the delivery of 
the Programme. The team will also provide 
secretariat support to the Sandwell Towns 
Fund Superboards, Local Boards and the 
Programme Board 

Accountable Body Finance 
Support 

The Claims Monitoring Officer will process and 
verify claims submitted to the Accountable 
Body ensuring compliance with the funding 
requirements prior to the payment of Towns 
Funds. The Claims Monitoring Officer will work 
closely with the PMO in collating information for 
monitoring returns submission which require 
Section 151 Officer sign off 

External  
DLUHC DLUHC is the lead government department for 

the Towns Fund. The accountable body will 
provide regular reports to DLUHC on 
implementation of the Towns 
Fund. 

Towns Fund Delivery 
Partner 

The Towns Fund Delivery Partner has been 
appointed by government to support all towns in 
their work to develop Towns Funds. The TFDP 
will also provide advice and support directly to 
both the Programme Management Officer and 
to Project Leads – individually and collectively – 
for the duration of its contract with DLUHC. 

 
 
2.5 Stakeholder Engagement 

 
2.5.1 Sandwell Towns Fund Local Boards are committed to effective engagement and 

collaboration with all its partners and stakeholders to effectively undertake its 
role as an advocate for its area and communicate key information relating to the 
Town Investment Projects.  A Stakeholder Engagement Plan was developed 
and submitted along with the TIPs to government.  A copy of this plan can be 
found in Annex 11a. 

 
Examples of Sandwell Town Board’s engagement activities include: 

 

• Consultation of partners and stakeholders in the region for the Town 
Investment Projects 

• Regular engagement with the local media on the Towns Fund Board’s 
work. 

• Regular social media updates, website and video coverage of Town 
Investment Plan activity. 

Page 81



18 

 

 

 
 

2.5.2 The Chairs of the Towns Fund Local Boards will regularly engage with local 
leaders, elected members, residents, and key business leaders.  Within 
Sandwell Towns Fund Board this engagement is being used to inform key 
decisions and future strategy development.  The Stakeholder Engagement Plan 
will be updated to align with the Communications Plan to ensure this is still fit for 
purpose during delivery phase. 

 
2.5.3 Where there needs to be a change to the projects TIP, this will be presented and 

agreed at the Local Boards and Accountable Body before being communicated 
to the public. The decision will have been scrutinised appropriately by the 
Section 151 officer to ensure the change is fair and robust.  

 
2.5.5 The Local Boards through the PMO,  will remain in regular communication with 

DLUHC and the Towns Fund Delivery Partner and other towns who have 
received investment from the Towns Fund to ensure a collaborative approach to 
sharing ideas and support on any challenges.   

 
 
2.6 Inclusion and Sustainability 
 

2.6.1 The Local Boards will look to enable inclusivity and sustainability in to all its 
decision-making processes and strategic development. In order to be able to do 
this the Local Boards will nominate an inclusion representative and any sub 
working group must have at least one named inclusion representative at all 
times. 

 
2.6.2 The Local Boards will consider how projects will improve the economic, social, 

and environmental well-being of Sandwell, how equality issues are considered, 
and how such improvements can be secured in the TIPs Projects. 

 
2.6.3 The Local Boards and project leads have committed to securing social value 

within the project designs. 
 

2.6.4 As part of the development of full business cases, project leads have set 
inclusive ambitions, ensuring compliance with strategies for capital funding  
where consideration must be taking into account the relevant charter which 
requires all projects to align their construction and development projects to a set 
of principles which create sustainable Economic, Environmental and Social 
impacts. 
 

2.6.5 Each project as part of the Green Book Business Case include details of how it 
meets the governments clean growth principles and Public Sector Equality Duty 
(PSED).  

 

Page 82



19 

 

 

 
 
Section 3 ACCOUNTABLE DECISION MAKING 
 
3.1 The Accountable Body 
 

3.1.1 The Local Boards are an unincorporated body and therefore require an 
Accountable Body for the funding programmes it manages. The Accountable 
Body for the Towns Fund is SMBC and this Assurance Framework will be used 
to manage and administer the Towns Fund on behalf of the Local Boards.  

 
The primary role of the accountable body will be to:  

 
• Uphold the Seven Principles of Public Life (the Nolan Principles) 
• Sign the Heads of Terms with Government 
• Ensure Towns Funds are only used in accordance with Board 

recommendations.  
• Establish a Programme Management Office function that will be responsible for 

ensuring appropriate systems are in place for the management and delivery of 
Towns Funds, that are compliant with the Towns Fund programme guidance 
and other relevant Government guidance, for example the HM Treasury Green 
Book.  

• Through the Project Delivery Groups, develop the projects within the Town 
Investment Plan in accordance with the HM Treasury 5 Case Model.  

• Ensure appropriate separation of duties and ethical walls are in place across the 
functions of the Towns Fund Governance structure to allow independent and 
transparent decision making.  

• Consider and make the final decision on the recommendations of The Board. In 
making these decisions the Accountable Body will ensure the activities of the 
Board comply with legal requirements including but not limited to those in 
respect of equalities, human rights, environmental requirements, procurements 
and subsidies.  

• Ensure that the recommendations made by the Boards are done so in 
accordance with good governance principles.  

• Ensure independent due diligence and assessment processes are in place to 
review Towns Fund schemes that are compliant with the HM Treasury Green 
Book, to allow The Board to make an informed recommendation.  

• Ensure transparency requirements are met through the publication of the 
governance arrangements, register or interests and meeting papers for the 
Board on the SMBC website 

• Ensure, where required, Environmental Impact Assessments or Public Sector 
Equalities Duties are undertaken.  

• Submit regular monitoring reports to the Government.  
• Enter into Funding Agreements with external Project Applicants  
• Hold publicly funded allocations, and make payments to, delivery bodies and 

account for these funds in such a way that they are separately identifiable from 
the accountable body’s own funds and provide financial statements to The 
Board as required.  

• Ensure that the Towns Fund Assurance Framework is adhered to.  
• Act as the Secretariat for the Towns Funds Boards and maintain the official 

record of the Towns Fund.  
 

Page 83



20 

 

 

 
 
The Accountable Body will discharge its responsibilities through the Programme 
Management Office, Finance and Programme Board as the key structures. 

 

 3.1.2 A wider support function will be provided by Council officers including expertise 
provided by Legal Services, Democratic Services, Procurement Services and 
Financial Services. External consultancy services with specialist expertise will 
also be procured to support the Towns Fund Project Team, such as to ensure an 
independent and robust due diligence process. 

 
3.1.3 The Towns Fund Programme Management Office will be responsible for 

day to day programme management once delivery commences. It will liaise 
regularly with each project sponsor and ensure that reporting requirements 
are clearly set out and understood. It will endeavor to provide and/or enable 
support for project sponsor organisations where delivery is challenging. The 
team will provide monthly programme reporting to the Towns Fund 
Programme Board with both highlight reports and, where commissioned, 
detailed project reviews. The regular reporting will include information at 
project and programme level on risk, finance, milestones and 
outputs/outcomes, social value, procurement with further information where 
required. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 84



21 

 

 

 
3.1.4 The Towns Fund Programme Board (Accountable Body Officer Group) 

chaired by the Director of Regeneration and Growth, this Board was 
established to support Phase - Development of Full Business cases.  It 
provided a platform whereby the PMO could provide support to project leads 
on common issues and collaborative working in ensuring completion of the 
FBCs.  The Programme Board continues to meet whilst awaiting government 
approvals.  This will enable the PMO to update project leads on government 
guidance and requirements.  A copy of the Programme Boards Terms of 
reference can be found in Annex 4.  
 
 

3.2 Role of the Section 151 Officer 
 
 3.2.1 SMBC is the Accountable Body for the Sandwell Towns Fund Local Boards. 

The Council’s Section 151 Officer will ensure compliance with all necessary 
financial regulations. 

 
3.2.2 The Sandwell Towns Fund Local Boards and Accountable Body will ensure they 

address the five principles of the CIPFA guidance: 
 

1. Embed a corporate position for the Section 151 officer in Local Board 
assurance 

2. Create a formal/structured mandate for the Section 151 officer 
3. Embed good governance onto decision making 
4. Ensure effective review of governance 
5. Ensure appropriate skills and resourcing 

 
 3.2.3 All Local Boards and any sub-group documents which have financial 

implications will be provided to the Section 151 Officer/delegate. Where 
decisions are being made, the Section 151 Officer/delegate will have the 
opportunity to comment.   

 
 3.2.4 Assurance will be provided by the requirement for Project Leads to submit 

signed monitoring returns to the Section 151 Officer as required. 
 

 3.2.5 Towns Funding will be separately identified from the Accountable Body’s own 
funds; the Section 151 Officer will ensure that Towns funding is used 
appropriately and not for any purpose other than for that which it is intended. 

 
 3.2.6 The Section 151 Officer (or their delegated representative) will be invited to 

attend all Local Boards and sub-group meetings but will not be entitled to vote 
or make decisions. 

 
 3.2.7 The Section 151 Office will be responsible for the signing of monitoring and 

evaluation returns as required by DLUHC. 
 
  
 
 
 

Page 85



22 

 

 

 
3.3 Audit and Scrutiny  
 

3.3.1 The Accountable Body’s scrutiny process will apply to the Towns Fund 
Programme.  The Scrutiny Boards act on behalf of the Accountable body and 
will scrutinise the performance of the Towns Fund programme to ensure 
appropriate compliance to Council, DLUHC and Towns Fund policies and 
processes.  The Scrutiny Boards are responsible for: 

• Carrying out in-depth reviews of services or policies that affect Sandwell. 
• Keeping up to date on new laws and issues that affect the council. 
• Making recommendations to the cabinet on what the Boards think could 

be done to make things better. 
• Asking cabinet members and other relevant officer questions about how 

they plan to do things. 
 

3.3.2 Where a decision is made by Cabinet, then the Accountable Body will have five 
working days after the meeting to exercise their right to “request a call in” of a 
decision.    

 
3.3.3 Quarterly Towns Fund reports will be presented to the Economy, Skills, 

Environment and Transportation Scrutiny Board to provide assurance of 
programme delivery.   

 
3.3.4 Additional scrutiny of the programme will be carried out through programme 

reviews by internal Audit on an annual basis to provide reassurance that the 
programme is being managed effectively. 
 

3.4 Financial Regulations  
 

3.4.1 SMBC is the accountable body for the Towns Fund.  SMBC must conduct its 
business efficiently and ensure it has sound financial management policies in 
place, including arrangements to monitor compliance. SMBCs statutory Section 
151 Officer is also charged with ensuring that proper financial management 
processes are in place.  

 
3.4.2 The financial management of the Towns Fund Programme will be in accordance 

with SMBCs Contract Standing Orders and Financial regulations. SMBC will 
account for financial resources granted or to be applied for in the name of the 
Towns Fund Local Boards.  

 
3.4.3 SMBC’s financial regulations provide clarity about the financial accountability of 

individuals. The regulations identify responsibilities of individuals across all 
levels. Written records are a requirement where decision making has been 
delegated to members of staff in order to give assurance that tasks or decisions 
have been performed in accordance with the Financial Regulations.  

 
3.4.4 Where applicable, further delegations will be put in place by the Accountable 

Body with specific reference to the delegation of authority for the Towns Fund 
programme. This proposal will ensure the most efficient and timely management 
of the programme, in the context of the delivery timeframes. 

Page 86



23 

 

 

Section 4 PROGRAMME DELIVERY 
 
4.1 Contract Management 

4.1.1 All external project leads organisations will receive a Partnership 
Agreement, which will be drafted by SMBC and issued by Bevan Brittan on 
behalf of the Accountable Body to the Lead applicant for its completion. 

4.1.2 The Partnership Agreement between SMBC and the project sponsor sets 
out the conditions relating to SMBC’s agreement to fund the project and 
the responsibilities of SMBC and the project sponsor. This will include any 
conditions for funding that are in place through either the requirements set 
by government in the Heads of Terms or in subsequent guidance, and/or 
conditions set by SMBC or the Towns Fund Boards as part of the process 
for approval of the project business case. 

4.1.3 The funding agreement will also confirm that the project sponsor 
organisation: 

a) Bears the risk for all overspend on the project beyond the approved 
amount 

b) Will be required to participate in a full and timely manner with any audit 
activity that is undertaken as part of the overall programme assurance 

c) Will be required to participate in a full and timely manner with any 
external reviews undertaken by government (or commissioned by 
government) as part of its assurance of Towns Fund delivery and/or 
evaluation of the programme 

d) Will maintain regular and timely reporting as set out in the monitoring 
and evaluation requirements outlined in Section 4.4 

4.1.4 Any contractual issues relating to projects will be considered informally in 
the first instance through ongoing dialogue between the Towns Fund 
Programme Management Office and the lead applicant.  Where issues are 
unable to be resolved, they will be considered by the Director of 
Regeneration and Growth and where applicable Cabinet member and 
Local Boards prior any formal action being taken. Where necessary, 
SMBC will seek external legal advice regarding significant contractual 
issues in the interests of fulfilling its role as the Accountable Body for the 
Towns Fund. 

4.1.5 Section 4.2 of this framework details the processes in place to agree 
changes to approved business case or latest project adjustment request. It is 
the responsibility of the Towns Fund Programme Management Office to 
maintain overall change control and ensure any changes are recorded 
including the requisite level of approval obtained. 
 
 
 

Page 87



24 

 

 

4.1.6 Payment milestones and any conditions will be agreed with the Project Lead 
organisation at the point of contract. The claims and payment process will be 
managed by the Accountable Body Claims Monitoring Officer and Towns 
Fund PMO in liaison with each project. Arrangements for processing claims 
will be made in line with the council’s financial procedures and be subject to 
both internal and external audit. Where the project sponsor is the council 
itself, additional processes and checks will be put in place to ensure an 
appropriate separation of roles. 
 

4.2 Scheme of Delegation and Project Changes 
 

4.2.1 The Towns Fund funding will need to be managed effectively to ensure the 
devolved budget delivers both the aims and objectives of the Town 
Investment Plan as well as value for money.  

 
4.2.2 The Accountable Body will put in place a transparent methodology for the 

Change Control to actively manage the project grant allocations and respond 
to changed circumstances including scheme slippage, changes in scheme 
scope and/or costs. The Change control process is detailed in Annex 9. 

 
4.2.3 Project leads will be required to formally notify the Accountable Body of any 

changes that impacts the project grant, outcomes, outputs, or Heads of 
Terms immediately either through the agreed reporting regime or separately if 
timescales do not align. This will constitute the start of a Change Control 
process.  

 
4.2.4 This section will be updated once we have detail from Government on 

their definitions regarding material changes. It is anticipated that the 
following principles outlined below will be used.  

 
4.2.5 The Accountable Body will consider if any notified scheme variation 

represents a material change to the project. A material change would include, 
but is not limited to;  
 

• Variation to delivery timescales – where delivery is likely to move into a 
different financial year;  

• Variation to funding package such as a reduction in match funding which 
could affect the viability of a scheme, or virement of funding between 
financial years  

• Variation to project outputs – forecast reduction in project outputs within 
the lifetime of the funding agreement; or  

• Variation to project scope or scale – where key elements of the project 
may no longer be deliverable or may be delivered at a reduced scale.  

 
4.2.6 Where a material change is proposed, a formal Change Control will be 

considered by the Accountable Body who will need to consider if delivery of 
the proposed changes would mean that;  
 

Page 88



25 

 

 

• The project still fits strategically with the objectives of the Town 
Investment Plan.  

• The project will still deliver acceptable value for money;  
• The project is still allowable within Subsidy Control regulations;  
• The project can be delivered effectively within the required 

timescales;  
• The proposed changes raise the risk to delivery/achievement of 

outputs to an unacceptable level.  
 

 4.2.7 The PMO will notify the Local Boards where the Change Control process has 
been invoked and the impact, if any, on the delivery of the Towns Fund 
Programme. Any changes to the Heads of Terms, Monitoring and Evaluation 
Plan will be shared with the Board for their views before a decision is taken 
by the Accountable Body and submitted to DLUHC.  

4.2.8 Changes to projects may also be recommended by the Programme 
Management Office or the Local Boards. They may arise in response to 
unforeseen external circumstances, changes that affect the capacity or 
capabilities of the delivery organisation, or as part of risk mitigation. 

4.2.9 Where project changes are relatively minor with no bearing on the project 
grant or the agreed project outputs, these may be agreed directly between 
the project sponsor organisation and the PMO and reported to the Local 
Boards and DLUHC where appropriate. 

 
4.3 Monitoring and Evaluation PMO and Project Leads 

 
4.3.1  The Towns Fund PMO will develop local programme monitoring requirements 

in line with DLUHC’s Monitoring and Evaluation guidance (April 2021) to 
inform the programme management activities and ensure that regular reports 
can be made to other groups within the governance structure, including the 
returns to central government. The Monitoring Assurance Protocol in Annex 
6, details how the Accountable Body will undertake regular project 
visits/updates to provide assurance that project activity is on track. Changes 
to the monitoring approach may be required following government guidance. 
 

4.3.2 In addition to the Monitoring protocol, project leads will also be required to 
submit returns to indicate their progress towards plans detailed within their 
Full Business Cases or approved Project Adjustment Requests (PAR).  This 
is including but not limited to Claims returns, Risk Reporting, Consultation 
and Stakeholder Engagement, progress towards Social Value and Equality 
Impact Assessments where applicable.   

4.3.3 Project sponsor organisations will be responsible for reporting at the agreed 
frequency against all project data required and in accordance with the 
agreed data collection methodology to ensure consistency. This monitoring 
will allow the Accountable Body and the Local Boards to hold each project 

Page 89



26 

 

 

sponsor organisations to account for delivery against the activities, outputs, 
spend etc. set out in the final business case for the project. In turn, the Local 
Boards and SMBC will be held to account by government for delivery 
against the outputs included within the Heads of Terms for Sandwell Towns 
Fund. 

 
4.4 Monitoring and Evaluation Towns Fund Local Boards 

 
4.4.1 The Local Boards will be invited to consider project progress on a quarterly 

basis following the claims process timeframe.  This will enable a review of 
projects activity against the profiles detailed in the full business case or 
approved change. A forward plan will be developed to highlight the key 
issues and reports being presented to the Local Board.  As an indication, the 
timeline for Local Boards is suggested as follows: 

 
 

Period Claims in by Processed by Local Boards 
Meeting 

DLUHC Returns 

Qtr1 Apr-Jun 5thJul 22 5th Aug 22 24th Aug 22 
26th Aug 22 
30th Aug 22 

 
 
 

December 22 
Qtr2 Jul-Sep 10th Oct 22 7th Nov 22 23rd Nov 22 

25th Nov 22 
29th Nov 22 

Qtr3 Oct-Dec 10th Jan 23 6th Feb 23 22nd Feb 23 
24th Feb 23 
28th Feb 23 

 
 
 

June 23 
Qtr4 Jan-Mar 10th Apr 23 5th May 23 25th May 23 

29th May 23 
31st May 23 

 
 

4.4.2 At the meeting, the Local Boards will be presented with information including 
the following: 
  
• Programme development to ensure projects deliver coherent package of 

interventions without duplication or gaps.  
• Project Business Case development.  
• Decision making at project level as details are agreed.  
• Proposed project changes.  
• Programme risk.  
• Monitoring and evaluation across each project.  
• Progress towards delivering match funding.  

 
 
 
 

Page 90



27 

 

 

4.4.3 The principles of programme management will be for the PMO to manage the 
key programme risks, through proactive engagement with the project leads 
and developing a system of regular reporting. A programme overview 
including high risk projects will be presented at every Local Board meeting. 

 
4.4.4 The Accountable Body and Local Boards may decide to withhold funding if the 

project delivery expectations as per FBC or approved project adjustment are 
not met, or there are high risks that require further investigation. 

 
4.4.4 Projects will be required to submit quarterly monitoring reports (financial, output 

and narrative) explaining their progress to spend and delivery targets and 
noting specific changes to the project and challenges in delivery. The Project 
Lead will check monitoring reports are correct prior to submitting an approved 
return and that records are retained for the duration of the reporting period. 
Spot checks for verification purposes will be undertaken by the Accountable 
Body.  

 
4.4.5 A variance of 25% or more on grant profile and delivery targets will trigger a 

review by the Accountable Body and Local Board, who will request a written 
response from the project lead detailing why the project has changed from the 
approved scope. 

 
4.4.6 The Local Boards and SMBC, as Accountable Body, reserve the right to 

recover or withhold all or part of the funding supplied for a project in the 
following circumstances: 

 
• The project is not delivered within agreed dates 
• The project delivered differs from that specified 
• The outcomes demonstrated through post-delivery evaluation fall short of 

those on which the value for money assessment and business case were 
based 

• The outputs identified in the Business Case are not delivered. 
 

4.4.7 Monitoring reports will be summarised for consideration at the Local Board 
meetings, using a RAG rating system. In line with good practice and to support 
effective and robust decision making, monitoring reports to the Local Boards 
will typically summarise good progress and areas of good practice. The report 
will also highlight risks to the delivery of the programme. 

 
4.4.8 If the Local Boards consider it appropriate, project leads will be invited to the 

Board meeting to explain any slippage. The Local Boards and Accountable 
Body will take circumstances beyond the projects control into account prior to 
making decisions over whether funding should be withheld or recovered. 

 
4.4.9 All projects will be subject to a post-project evaluation completion report; this 

will ensure the Towns Fund Board follows best practice using recognised 
project and programme management techniques to ensure sound decisions 
have been made. 

 

Page 91



28 

 

 

 
 

4.4.10 Each project claims monitoring report will be defined by the outputs, 
outcomes, and interrelationships to the wider programme. 

 
4.4.11 Furthermore, projects will be subject to an annual monitoring/audit by the 

Accountable Body with summary of any findings and recommendations being 
presented to the Local Boards.  
 

 
4.5 Monitoring and Evaluation Reporting to DLUHC 
 

4.5.1 A condition of receiving Towns Fund funding will be providing regular 
feedback to DLUHC on progress of the Town Investment projects, to allow for 
monitoring and evaluation. 

 
4.5.2 At least every six months (or more regularly, if required) the Accountable 

Body will be required to provide DLUHC with a comprehensive set of data 
relating to each Town Investment Project, including both total and forecast 
spend, and output metrics. These returns will be scrutinised and signed off by 
the Accountable Body’s Section 151 Officer.  

 
4.5.3 The specific data requirements are set out in the Monitoring and Evaluation 

Framework issued by DLUHC in April 2021.  

4.5.4 DLUHC will lead on data collection relating to the outcomes and impact of 
Towns Fund interventions. Where data can be provided directly to 
government by SMBC it will undertake this; where data requires information 
from project sponsor organisations, this will be built into the local programme 
monitoring requirements where possible, to avoid duplication or unnecessary 
burdens for project leads.  

4.5.5 Project sponsor organisations will also be responsible for collaborating with 
government and SMBC to assist its work on evaluation of the Towns Fund. 
Whilst this activity will be led by DLUHC, it will require local input and 
therefore local partners will need to contribute accordingly. This may include 
participating in any deep dive reviews that government chooses to conduct 
for the Towns Fund. 

4.5.6 In addition to informing the evaluation activity to be conducted by 
government, the Sandwell Towns Fund Board may carry out its own review 
of Towns Fund delivery during the lifetime of the programme. The Towns 
Fund PMO will be responsible for presenting options for this review to the 
Sandwell Towns Fund Board. 

 
 
 
 

Page 92



29 

 

 

 
4.6 Claims Process 

 
4.6.1  The claims process is detailed in Annex 8 of this framework. 

 
4.6.2 A Partnership Agreement or Internal Offer letter will be developed by the 

Accountable Body to align with its requirements in respect of the 
management and monitoring of Towns Fund projects. The Schedule 
sections of the agreement will then include the full business case which 
contains information relating to each project and take into account 
contractual obligations emerging from the due diligence appraisal process 
and expectations in terms of monitoring and evaluation of expenditure, 
outputs and outcomes.  

 
4.6.3 A projects approval visit will be conducted by the PMO with Project Leads 

once Summary documentation has been submitted.  The purpose of this 
visit is to explain further the delivery stages, monitoring and reporting during 
the project lifetime.   The visit will be captured using the Project Approval 
Visit Template and provide the project leads with a suite of documents to 
support the monitoring and delivery of their project. 

 
4.6.4 The Accountable Body will monitor performance of all projects every quarter 

and organise site visits/monitoring visits to each project once a year as a 
minimum. If a project is not performing as expected more frequent visits and 
progress meetings will be held with the funding recipients.  

 
4.6.5 The Accountable Body is responsible for developing and maintaining a 

claims process enabling passporting of funds to grant recipients.  
Segregation of duties will ensure approval processes are in place where 
approval for payment is signed in accordance with scheme of delegation 
contained within Sandwell Financial Procedures.  

 
4.6.6 The Accountable Body will ensure from the outset that robust and suitable 

systems and processes are in place locally in order to maintain adequate 
audit trails and manage information effectively and efficiently.  

 
4.6.7 Funding recipients will provide quarterly claims to the Accountable Body, 

completing progress report information and spend/output updates on each 
claim. However, where a project is unable to financially cover its costs in the 
first quarter, an advance payment may be authorised, subject to approval by 
the Accountable Body.  

 
4.6.8 The Claims process may be updated following further government guidance 

and requirements. The Accountable Body will review progress against 
outputs and outcomes quarterly until all outputs have been achieved.  

 
4.6.9 Subject to government monitoring requirements, a quarterly reporting 

dashboard will provide the Local Boards with regular, detailed RAG rated 
information on how the project and overall programme is performing.  

Page 93



30 

 

 

 
4.6.10 Where a project is Red RAG rated, it will be subject to monthly monitoring 

by the Accountable Body. If improvement is not demonstrated, this could 
result in withholding or claw-back of funds (see Section 4.8 Recover of 
Funds).  

 
4.6.11 Projects will be subject to Annual audits from the Accountable Body in order 

to ensure compliance with funding regulations. 
 
4.6.12 There may be occasions where projects incur essential eligible costs in 

advance of the contractual agreement being in place, for example, project 
design fees, planning fees, procurement costs, etc. These costs could be 
included within and considered as part of the due diligence appraisal, and if 
approved for funding support, would be specifically identified within 
schedules of the contractual agreement for the project.  
 

4.7 Procurement 

 4.7.1 As a public sector body, SMBC employs rigorous procurement processes 
which fully comply with the European and HM Treasury regulation on 
tendering and procurement and is a ‘contracting authority’ under the 
Public Contracts Regulations. Any procurement carried out as part of the 
Towns Fund programme will follow the Council’s procurement procedures 
where an organisation does not have such a policy.  Compliance with 
procurement regulations are detailed in each project Partnership 
Agreement or Internal Offer Letter.  The Councils Contract and Procedure 
rules can be found via the following link:  Sandwell Council's Contract and 
Procedure 

 4.7.2 Procurement information will be required as part of the quarterly claims 
process.  Compliance of procurement regulations will be verified during 
claims process or as part of the annual audits undertaken by the 
Accountable Body. 

 
4.8 Recovery of Funding  

This section will be updated once we have detail from Government on grant 
conditions.  

 
4.8.1 It is anticipated that the Accountable Body through regular project monitoring 

will be in a position to identify where projects are likely to:  
 

• Underspend  
• Underperform  
• Demonstrate non-compliance with the conditions of funding  

 
4.8.2 Such concerns will be reported at the earliest possible stage to Accountable 

Body and where appropriate escalated to the Programme Risk Register. 

Page 94

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/download/1923/procurement_and_contract_procedure_rules
https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/download/1923/procurement_and_contract_procedure_rules


31 

 

 

 
4.8.3 Where mitigation measures fail and a project is likely to underspend, 

underperform or demonstrates non-compliance, an individual report will be 
considered by the Towns Fund Local Board which will include as a minimum:  
 
• Project summary.  
• Detail on the overall performance of the project to date.  
• Description of the nature of the underperformance (financial, output or non- 

compliance);  
• The level of funding at risk.  
• A legal opinion setting out the legal basis for recovery of funding and the 

likelihood of success.  
• A recommendation from the Accountable Body on the proposed course of 

action.  
 

4.8.4 In exceptional circumstances, the Accountable Body may need to consider 
as to whether it is able to recover some or all funding from a project. In each 
circumstance the Accountable Body will provide a report to the Towns Fund 
Board to seek their endorsement for a proposed course of action. 
 
 

4.9 Publications of Reports and Information 
 

4.9.1 Sandwell Towns Fund Superboard papers for Phase 1 and 2 and the Local 
Boards for delivery phase will be published on Modern.gov website. 

 
4.9.2 These are published in line with the Best Guidance Practice Guidance in 

accordance with the Local Government Act 1972, meeting agendas and 
papers are published 5 clear working days before the meeting takes place 
and draft minutes of the meeting are published within 10 clear working days 
of the meeting taking place. 

 
4.9.3 Any declaration of interest made at the meeting will be included in the 

minutes. 
 

4.9.4 The three Towns Fund Local Boards will follow the Accountable Body – 
SMBCs document classification policy in terms of how documents are 
classified as public, controlled, or restricted. 

 
4.9.5 Information which is not to be placed in the public domain is treated under 

The Local Authorities-Executive Arrangements Meetings and Access to 
Information Regulations 2012 using one of following 7 exemptions: 

 
a) Information relating to any individual. 
b) Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 
c) Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any person 

(including the Authority holding that information). 
d) Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated 

consultation or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations 

Page 95



32 

 

 

matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and 
employees of, or office holders under, the authority. 

e) Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could 
be maintained in legal proceedings. 

f) Information which reveals that the authority proposes: 
 

i. To give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which 
requirements are imposed on a person; or 

ii. To make an order or direction under any enactment. 
 

g) Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with 
the prevention, investigation, or prosecution of crime. 

 

4.9.6  The Towns Fund Programme Board is a meeting of project leads, SMBC 
representatives and specialist advice from consultants therefore will not be 
a public meeting. Papers will be kept restricted to those attending the 
meetings, though (as noted below) any request for information under the 
Freedom of Information Act 2000 would be considered and responded to, 
subject to any relevant exemptions (for example due to commercial 
considerations).  

4.9.7 SMBC have in place appropriate data protection arrangements in line with 
the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) and the Data Protection 
Act 2018. The Council is the Data Controller for the Board in its capacity 
as Accountable Body 

 
 
4.10 Government Branding 
 

4.10.1 The Local Boards will meet any branding requirements set by DLUHC 
including the HM Government Identity Guidelines.  Any additional branding 
changes or requests by HM Government will automatically by adopted by 
the Local Boards and Accountable Body and will apply to all 
communication produced afterwards 

 
4.10.2 Each project is given the Towns Fund branding guidance document which 

includes details for press and publicity and marketing and branding 
materials. This guidance adheres to the standards issued by the DLUHC. 

 
4.10.3 Each project is contractually obliged to conform to the branding guidance. 

This is followed up as part of the monitoring returns from each project, with 
projects required to provide details of forthcoming milestones linked to 
publicity opportunities to enable the PMO and Accountable Body to co-
ordinate an appropriate marketing approach including engagement with 
DLUHC.  A detailed Communications Plan (Annex 11) has been developed 
which will comply with any Government guidance. 
 
 

Page 96



33 

 

 

 
4.11 RISK AND ASSURANCE 

 
4.11.1 A detailed Risk Management Policy is included in Annex 12.  Projects will 

maintain a detailed risk register and update on a regular basis to report to 
Boards as appropriate. The risks of each project are rated using a scoring 
matrix based on likelihood and impact that each risk presents. A set of 
mitigations is also included. 

 
4.11.2 Based on the risk register and as part of the programme overview report, 

red and amber within projects are highlighted to the Local Boards on a 
quarterly basis.  
 

4.11.3 Where a project as a whole is seen as high risk the Boards will seek a full 
risk report including how the risks will be mitigated. If the Boards are not 
satisfied with the response, they will seek further information from the 
project leads. 

 
4.11.4 In the event that a project has, in the opinion of the Local Board, 

significantly changed (by 25% or more) from what was originally proposed 
(i.e.: spend profile, outputs and outcomes, or delivery) the Towns Fund 
Board will write to the project lead requesting a written response detailing 
why the project has changed. 

 
4.11.5 Following receipt of the response, the Local Boards may decide to proceed 

with the amended project, may request that the project revert back to what 
was originally approved, release only part of the funding or delete the 
project from the programme. 

 
4.11.6 The Local Boards will be provided with quarterly performance reports by 

the PMO. If it is reported that a project is delayed (commencement / 
completion / outputs / outcomes) by 3 months or more then the project will 
be reported as a High-Risk project.  In this instance the Local Boards will 
write to the project lead requesting a written response detailing why the 
project was delayed. 

 
4.11.7 If the Local Boards are not satisfied with the response, they can invite the 

project lead to present additional information to the next Board meeting. 
 

4.11.8 The Towns Fund Programme will use a model of four ‘lines of defense’ 
in order to provide assurance across the programme to government 
and to the communities of Sandwell. The details of this are included in 
Annex 13.  In summary, the four lines will be: 
 

  First line Towns Fund (PMO) working with project leads  
  Second line Towns Fund Programme Board 
 Third line Sandwell Towns Fund Local Board and SMBC Cabinet 
 Fourth line Internal Audit and Scrutiny (SMBC) and external scrutiny including  

    DLUHC 

Page 97



34 

 

 

 
 

4.12 Communications and Engagement 

4.12.1  For the Towns Fund to be successful and of greatest benefit to the 
communities of Sandwell, it will be important to communicate effectively, 
accurately and regularly with stakeholders and the public. A 
Communications Protocol has been developed and adopted by the 
project leads.   
 
This has been further developed into a detailed Communications and 
Engagement Plan (Annex 11) has been developed to ensure the Towns 
Fund Programme is communicated effectively.  

4.12.2 Community stakeholder communication and engagement is essential to 
support the effective delivery of the Towns Fund by understanding how 
people are experiencing change in the local community and what their 
priorities are. Core principles to delivering communication and 
engagement activity were identified as:  
 

• Clear, timely and accurate.  
• Targeted and appropriate.  
• Accountable to The Board.  
• Planned, consistent and professional.  
• Two way – with feedback considered in every interaction.  

 
4.12.3 The Communications and Engagement Plan will also:  

 
• Build a consistent and clear story of the Towns Fund and aligned 
initiatives.  
• Take a coordinated Sandwell-wide approach.  
• Be put into context and linked to the bigger picture.  
• Use all available channels and techniques that are appropriate to the 
audience.  
• Be meaningful and provide a feedback mechanism at all times.  
• Be mindful of partners when sharing information.  

4.12.4  Project leads will be asked to agree and follow the Communications Plan 
that will ensure communication regarding Towns Fund projects is 
coordinated and fulfils government expectations for branding and any 
other Towns Fund requirements. The Sandwell Towns Fund Board will be 
responsible for overseeing the implementation of the protocol and 
working with project sponsor organisations to ensure adherence to this. 

4.12.5 The Towns Fund PMO will be responsible for maintaining the 
Sandwell Towns Fund website pages and ensuring information is 
kept up to date. It will also be responsible for ensuring any other 
digital channels are utilised effectively and contain accurate and 
timely information about the programme. 

Page 98



35 

 

 

 

4.13 Data management and Freedom of Information. 

4.13.1 Towns Fund programme activity will comply with the council’s Information 
Governance Framework which is aligned to requirements of the General 
Protection Data Regulation (GDPR) 2015 and Data Protection Act 2018.  
 
Through the Towns Fund PMO, the council will support the Board in 
Funding with any data protection questions and ensure that project 
sponsor activity is also conducted in line with information assurance 
requirements. The relevant council policies can be found here. 

4.13.2 The Freedom of Information Act 2000 will also apply and there should be 
prompt liaison with SMBC over any request for information received to 
enable an appropriate response within statutory timescales and under 
the council’s procedures. 
 

4.14 Consultations during Delivery Phase 
  

4.14.1 All projects have been required to complete a detailed Consultation and 
Engagement plan as part of their Full Business case.  Project leads will be 
responsible for regularly updating this document and reporting back to the 
PMO on progress towards this plan as part of the monitoring process. 

4.14.2 Where objections have been received following consultation on the 
proposed designed of Towns Fund projects, a process has been developed 
to assist projects navigate through this and provide the necessary approvals 
required to proceed with projects where applicable.  The process can be 
found in Annex 14.   

Page 99

https://www.chesterfield.gov.uk/your-council/your-chesterfield/data-protection-privacy-notice/data-protection-policy.aspx


36 

 

 

Signatories: 

 

Towns Fund Chairs 

S151 Officer 

Cabinet Member for Regeneration & Growth 

  
 

Page 100



 

Towns Fund Governance Document Phase 2 and Phase 3 

 

1. Purpose of Document 
 

1.1 The purpose of this document is to outline the governance arrangements for 

Sandwell’s Towns Fund Programme for Phase 2 and Phase 3 and supersedes 

the Towns Fund Governance Arrangements agreed in July 2020.  

 

1.2 It has been updated to reflect the next phases of the programme now that the 

Town Deals have been signed and to reflect the latest Towns Fund Guidance 

(released by MHCLG December 2020 and April 2021). 

 

1.3 The document includes Roles and Responsibilities, Code of Conduct for Board 

Members, Decision Making arrangements, Scrutiny arrangements, 

Transparency and Accountability and a List of Members of the Towns Fund 

Superboard, and three Local Boards 

 
2. Context 
 

2.1 Governance is provided to this programme through the Towns Fund 

Superboard, three Local Boards, and the Council as the Accountable Body. 

 

2.2 In accordance with the Towns Fund Guidance published June 2020 and 

December 2021 the Sandwell Superboard will be classed as the Town Deal 

Board.  

 

2.3 The three Local Boards (Rowley Regis, Smethwick and West Bromwich) are 

constituted as working groups of the Superboard and have a remit to influence 

the Towns Fund Programme and to form part of the assurance mechanisms to 

ensure that project delivery remains in keeping with the Vision and objectives 

outlined in the Town Investment Plan. 

 

2.4 Over the forthcoming months, the work of the Local Boards will involve 

considering options around the projects and the development of consultation 

and engagement plans, ahead of these being recommended to the 

Superboard.  

 

2.5 MHCLG guidance outlines the following responsibilities for the Town Deal 

Board: - 

 

Page 101



 

2.5.1 Over Phase 2 of the Programme (development of full business cases) - the 

Town Deal Boards should have an ongoing role and sight of decisions, the 

nature and degree of which should be agreed locally and that the accountable 

body should make decisions in partnership and collaboration with the Town 

Deal Board. 

 

2.5.2 Phase 3 of the Programme (project delivery) - that the Town Deal Board 

should ensure an element of independent ‘on-the-ground’ monitoring of the 

deal delivery and act as a ‘critical friend’ throughout the programme lifecycle.  

 

3. Roles and Responsibilities  
 

3.1 Superboard 

 

3.1.1 The Superboard is responsible for: - 

 

• Leadership/ Direction - Provide strategic direction across all of the Town Deal 

Areas 

• Coherent Governance - Ensure a coherent approach across all of the Town 

Deal Areas, maximising cross town initiatives where possible 

• Consistency - Ensure interventions are not competitive across the Town Deal 

Areas and act to build the local economy 

• Alignment to Strategic Priorities - Ensure alignment of projects to Local, 

Regional and National strategies 

• Approve the Stakeholder Engagement Approach – ensuring that communities’ 

voices are involved in shaping design and decision making at each phase of 

development, and ensuring diversity in its engagement with local communities 

and businesses 

• Support and provide a steer (as required) to the Local Town Boards 

• Upholding the Seven Principles of Public Life (Nolan Principles) 

• Ensure compliance with Heads of Terms Agreements  

• Have sight of and be consulted over project change requests  

• Agree Full Business Cases and recommend them for appraisal and approval 

• Act as a critical friend throughout the programme  

• Fulfil any other duties and responsibilities required of the Town Deal Board by 

Central Government 

 

3.1.2 The Chair of the Superboard is responsible for: 

 

• Upholding the Seven Principles of Public Life (Nolan Principles) 

• Leading the Superboard to achieve its objectives, maintaining an overview of 

activity, and championing the supporting partnership working 

Page 102



 

• Ensuring that decision are made by the Board in accordance with good 

governance principles 

• Signing the submissions to Government on behalf of the Superboard 

 

3.2 Local Boards 

 

3.2.1 The Local Boards are responsible for: - 

• Helping develop project business cases as required by the Superboard 

• Provide views, opinions and ideas on options and proposals 

• To input into and advise on proposed engagement and consultation plans to 

encourage and help ensure relevant, proportionate and timely engagement 

with stakeholders 

• To champion the Towns Fund projects 

• To act as a critical friend offering on the ground local knowledge and 

perspective 

• To make recommendations / create reports detailing the views of the Local 

Board to Superboard and Project Leads (as required) 

 

3.2.2 The Chairs of the Local Boards are responsible for: - 

• Upholding the Seven Principles of Public Life (Nolan Principles) 

• Leading the Local Boards to achieve their objectives, maintaining an overview 

of activity, and championing the supporting partnership working 

• Reporting progress to the Superboard 

• Acting as a Champion for the Towns Fund projects and the Town vision 

3.3 Superboard Members and Sandwell Council Cabinet Members will have an 

open invite to attend Local Board Meetings and engage and contribute to the 

development of projects. 

 

3.4 Sandwell Council 

 

3.4.1 Sandwell Council is the Accountable Body for the Town Deal 

 

3.4.2 Sandwell Council is responsible for: - 

• Upholding the Seven Principles of Public Life (Nolan Principles) 

• Developing a delivery team, delivery arrangements and agreements 

• Ensuring that decisions are made by the Superboard are in accordance with 

good governance principles. 

• Ensuring transparency through the publication of agendas and minutes of the 

Superboard on CMIS 

• Developing agreed projects in detail and undertaking any necessary feasibility 

studies 

• Undertaking any required Environmental Impact Assessments or Public 

Sector Equality Duties 

Page 103



 

• Monitoring and evaluating the delivery of Towns Fund projects and impact 

• Submitting monitoring reports, as required 

• Receiving and Accounting for the Town’s Funding allocation and capacity 

funds 

• Undertake business case assurance and sign off in line with local processes 

(approval from SMBC Cabinet) 

• Engage with the Towns Fund Superboard regarding project changes 

• Proactively consult the Towns Fund Lead (MHCLG representative) on any 

potential changes to approved plans 

• Ensure that all templates submitted to MHCLG are accurate and complete 
representations of current circumstances 
 

 

4. Board Vacancies 
 

4.1 Superboard - Vacancies occurring within the Superboard are for the identified 

organisations to make an appointment to in line with their own governance 

procedures. 

 

4.2 Young People’s Representatives - Vacancies occurring in young people’s 

representation at Superboard and Local Boards will be identified and appointed 

to via the Sandwell Council Youth Service in consultation with the Chair of the 

Superboard and the relevant Local Board Chair, as appropriate. 

 

4.3 Local Board Representatives - As working groups of the Superboard, Local 

Board appointments to vacancies will be agreed by Superboard. Any changes 

to the overall composition of the Local Boards should be made in consultation 

with the Leader and Cabinet Member for Inclusive Economic Growth. 

 

5. Code of Conduct  
 

5.1 All Members of the Superboard and Local Boards will sign the Councillor Code 

of Conduct which is based on the Seven Principles of Public Life (Nolan 

Principles) and contained within Article 13 of the Council’s constitution. 

 

5.2 Members of the Superboard and the Superboard as a whole will be required to 

declare and register any gifts and/or hospitality which will be maintained by the 

Council. 

 

 

 

Page 104



 

6. Decision Making – Superboard 
 

6.1 The Council’s Principles of Decision Making will apply to the Superboard, as 

laid out in article 13 of the Council’s Constitution. ‘elected member’ is taken to 

refer to Superboard member: - 

 

6.1.1 Article 13.02 Principles: 

• Proportionality (i.e. the action taken is proportionate to the desired 

outcome);  

• Decisions are taken on the basis of due consultation and professional 

advice from officers (Decisions taken by elected members will be 

based on information provided in a written report prepared by the 

responsible officer/s);  

• Respect for human rights and giving due regard to the Public Sector 
Equality Duty;  

• A presumption in favour of openness (Reports will only be considered 
in private where they contain exempt information as defined in 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended)(see 
Part 4 Access to Information Rules – Rule 10);  

• Clarity of aims and desired outcomes (The written reports submitted to 
elected members will contain a clear recommendation of the 
professional officer for every decision they are asked to take)  

 

6.2 Quorum – the Superboard will be considered quorate with one quarter of 

voting members present.  

 

6.3 Voting – any matter will be decided upon by a simple majority of those 

members present in the room and eligible to vote. 

 

6.4 Confirmation of minutes - The Chair presiding shall put the question that the 

minutes submitted to the meeting be approved as a correct record. 

 

6.5 Declarations of Interest 

 

6.5.1 Members shall be required to declare interests in accordance with any 

relevant statutory provisions and the Members’ Code of Conduct as set out in 

Part 5 of the Constitution. 

 

Page 105



 

6.5.2 Where a Superboard member has a disclosable pecuniary interest or 

pecuniary interest in the business of the authority he/she must withdraw from 

the room or chamber where the meeting considering the business is being 

held unless the member has obtained a dispensation from the Council’s 

Monitoring Officer. 

 

7. Recommendations from Local Boards 
 

7.1 As working groups of the Superboard, Local Boards will not have decision-

making responsibilities. Through their recommendations and reports, Local 

Boards will influence the programme and project direction and will therefore 

adopt good governance principles for the management of declarations of 

interest as follows: - 

 

7.2 Declarations of Interest 
 

7.2.1 Where a Local Board Member has a disclosable pecuniary interest or 

pecuniary interest in the business of the authority he/she must withdraw from 

the room or chamber where the meeting considering the business is being 

held unless the member has obtained a dispensation from the Council’s 

Ethical Standards and Member Development Committee. 

 

7.2.2 Where a Local Board Member is nominated as the Lead Officer for a project 

and/or is involved in project delivery, they may attend the Local Board 

discussion relating to the project in the capacity of providing and presenting 

information but they may not participate in any deliberations or decision by the 

Local Board concerning that project. 

 

7.3 In the event that Local Board wishes to move to a vote, any matter will be 

decided upon by a simple majority of those members present in the room and 

eligible to vote.  

 

7.4 The Chair shall have a casting vote. 

 

8. Scrutiny  
 

8.1 Scrutiny of Sandwell’s Towns Fund Programme will be provided by the 

Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Arrangements and through the critical friend 

challenge that will be provided by Superboard and Local Boards. 

 

 

Page 106



 

9. Transparency and Accountability 
 

9.1 Superboard Agendas and Minutes  

 

9.1.1 The Council will publish Superboard meeting agendas on CMIS 5 clear days 

before the meeting. 

9.1.2 Draft minutes of the Superboard will be published within 10 clear working 

days; and 

9.1.3 Approved minutes of the Superboard will be published within 10 clear working 

days 

 

9.2 Member profiles 

9.2.1 Profiles of Superboard Members will be published on CMIS. 

 

9.3 Conflicts of Interest 

9.3.1 Members of the Superboard will be required to declare any conflicts of interest 

(commercial, actual and potential). This will be maintained by the council in a 

declaration of interest register which will be managed by Sandwell Council. 

 

9.3.2 Superboard Members should take personal responsibility for declaring their 

interests before any decision is considered by the Superboard. These will be 

formally noted within the published minutes of meetings of the Superboard 

including action taken in response to any declared interest. 

 

9.3.3 Local Board Members should take personal responsibility for declaring their 

interests prior to an item being discussed. These will be noted within the 

minutes including action taking in response to any declared interest. If any 

Member has any queries about their interests and the disclosure thereof, they 

should seek advice from the Monitoring Officer. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 107



 

10. Membership 
 

10.1 Towns Fund Superboard 
 

Representative Organisation Individual 

Chair Jude Thompson - President of the Black Country Chamber of Commerce 

 
Board Members 

 
Federation of Small Businesses (FSP) 
 
Homes England Rep 
 
Black Country LEP 
 
Liberty Group – CEO Jahama Group 
 
Local Board Chair – West Bromwich 
Local Board Chair – Smethwick 
Local Board Chair – Rowley Regis 
 
MP (Halesowen and Rowley Regis) 
MP (Warley) 
MP (West Bromwich East) 
MP (West Bromwich West) 
 
Sandwell College CEO 
 
SCVO CEO 
SVCO Board Member 
 
SMBC Leader 
SMBC Cabinet Member Strong and Inclusive 
Economy 
 
Transport for West Midlands 
 
WMCA 
 
Sandwell Youth Parliament  
 
Police Representative 
 

 
Karen Woolley 
 
Jo Nugent  
 
Geoff Layer 
 
Dilip Awtani 
 
Chris Hinson 
Alan Taylor 
Adrian Eggington 
 
James Morris 
John Spellar 
Nicola Richards 
Shaun Bailey 
 
Graham Pennington 
 
Mark Davis 
Geoff Foster 
 
Cllr Rajbir Singh 
Cllr Iqbal Padda 
 
 
Sandeep Shingadia 
 
Gareth Bradford 
 
Vacancy 
 
Keeley Bevington 

SMBC Officers 
(attending in 
advisory capacity) 
 

SMBC CEO 
SMBC Executive Director, Children Services 
SMBC Interim Director - Regeneration and 
Growth 
SMBC Monitoring Officer 

David Stevens 
Lesley Hagger 
Tammy Stokes 
 
Surjit Tour 

Page 108



 

10.2 Local Boards 
 

West Bromwich 

Representative Organisation Individuals 

Chair Chris Hinson – Sandwell Business Ambassador 

Business Community West Bromwich BID Lisa Hill 

Voluntary and 

Community Sector 

Multistory 

SCVO 

Kaleidoscope 

Albion Foundation 

YMCA 

Greets Green Community Enterprise 

The GAP Centre 

West Bromwich African Caribbean 

Centre 

Emma Chetcuti 

Leona Bird 

Monica Shafaq 

Rob Lake 

Steve Clay 

Wendy Brookfield  

Andrew Bent  

Shane Ward 

BME, Equality and 

Faith Group 

Representatives 

Vacancy Vacancy 

Young People’s 

Representative 

West Bromwich Resident/ Sandwell 

Council Apprentice  

Dannielle Hawthorne 

Public Sector 

Organisations 

Sandwell College 

West Midlands Police 

WMCA Officer Level 

Sandwell & West Birmingham CCG 

Simon Griffiths 

Vacancy 

Vacancy 

Andrew Lawley 

Elected Members 

 

Town Lead Member 

Deputy Town Lead Member 

Cllr Melia 

Cllr E Giles / Cllr K Akpoteni 

Superboard Members & Cabinet Members in attendance, as desired 

 

Smethwick 

Representative Organisation Individuals 

Chair Alan Taylor (MI Glass) – Sandwell Business Ambassador 

Business Community Business Representative 

Liberty Engineering 

Omar Rashid 

John Wood 

Voluntary and 

Community Sector 

Brasshouse Community Centre 

SCVO 

Albion Foundation  

Smethwick Church Action 

Jennifer Harrison 

Leona Bird 

Rob Lake  

Gareth Brown 

BME, Equality and 

Faith Group 

Representative 

Guru Nanak Gurdwara 

 

Jatinder Singh 

 

Page 109



 

Smethwick 

Representative Organisation Individuals 

Young People’s 

Representative 

Vacancy  Vacancy 

Public Sector 

Organisations 

Sandwell College 

West Midlands Police 

WMCA Officer Level 

Sandwell & West Birmingham CCG 

David Holden 

Sgt Joanne Parke 

Vacancy 

Andrew Lawley 

Elected Members 

 

Town Lead Member 

Deputy Town Lead Member 

Cllr Shaeen 

Cllr S Gill 

Superboard Members & Cabinet Members in attendance, as desired 
 

Rowley Regis 

Representative Organisation Individuals 

Chair Adrian Eggington – Black Country Housing Group 

Business Community Business Representative/ Local 

Resident 

Wayne Edwards 

Voluntary and 

Community Sector 

Cradley Heath Community Link 

Agewell 

Grace Mary to Lion Farm Big Local 

SCVO 

Murray Hall Community Trust 

Black Country Touring  

Alecia Baker 

Deborah Harrold 

Helen Trueman 

Leona Bird 

Manjula Patel  

Matt Andrews 

BME, Equality and 

Faith Group 

Representative 

Cradley Heath Mosque Mohammed Asif 

Young People’s 

Representative 

Rowley Regis Resident/  

SHAPE Youth Forum Member 

Harvey Katarina 

Public Sector 

Organisations 

Sandwell College 

West Midlands Police 

West Midlands Police 

WMCA Officer Level 

Sandwell & West Birmingham CCG 

Ann Sheridan 

Sgt Cheryl Reed 

Insp. Bel Sixsmith 

Vacancy 

Andrew Lawley 

Elected Members 

 

Town Lead Member 

Deputy Town Lead Member 

Cllr Ashman 

Cllr Mabena 

Superboard Members & Cabinet Members in attendance, as desired 

 

Page 110



 

Towns Fund Governance Document Phase 3 

 

1. Purpose of Document 
 

1.1 The purpose of this document is to outline the governance arrangements for 
Sandwell’s Towns Fund Programme for Phase 3 and supersedes the Towns Fund 
Governance Arrangements agreed in July 2021 which was relevant to Phases 1 
and 2.  

 

1.2 It has been updated to reflect the next phases of the programme now that the Town 
Deals have been signed and to reflect the latest Towns Fund Guidance (released 
by MHCLG December 2020, April 2021 and December 2021). 
 

1.3 The document includes Roles and Responsibilities, Code of Conduct for Board 
Members, Decision Making arrangements, Scrutiny arrangements, Transparency 
and Accountability and a List of Members of the three Local Boards 

 
2. Context 

 
2.1 Governance was provided to this programme through the Towns Fund Superboard 

and three Local Boards, and the Council as the Accountable Body for Phases 1 and 
2. 
 

2.2 For Phase 3 -Delivery, the work of the Local Boards will involve reviewing progress 
of the Towns Fund Programme and projects, assessing change requests and 
ensuring compliance with Heads of Terms.  In accordance with the Towns Fund 
Guidance published June 2020 and updated guidance in, the Local Boards will 
each act as the Town Deal Board for their respective Towns. 
 

2.3 MHCLG guidance outlines the following responsibilities for the Town Deal Board: - 
 

2.3.1 Phase 3 of the Programme (project delivery) - that the Town Deal Board 
should ensure an element of independent ‘on-the-ground’ monitoring of 
the deal delivery and act as a ‘critical friend’ throughout the programme 
lifecycle. 
  

2.3.2 Through project delivery, ensure regular catch ups with the Town Deal 
Board to enable the board to see through the town vision, take ownership 
of their proposed projects and provide a level of accountability. 
 

2.3.3 The Town Deal Board should have an ongoing role and sight of decisions, 
the nature and degree of which should be agreed locally. 

 

Page 111



 

3. Roles and Responsibilities  
 

3.1 Local Boards 
 

3.1.1 The Local Board will be responsible for: - 
 

• Leadership/ Direction - Provide strategic direction across all of the Town Deal 
Areas 

• Coherent Governance - Ensure a coherent approach across all of the Town Deal 
Areas, maximising cross town initiatives where possible 

• Consistency - Ensure interventions are not competitive across the Town Deal 
Areas and act to build the local economy 

• Alignment to Strategic Priorities - Ensure alignment of projects to Local, Regional 
and National strategies 

• Approve the Stakeholder Engagement Approach – ensuring that communities’ 
voices are involved in shaping design and decision making at each phase of 
development, and ensuring diversity in its engagement with local communities and 
businesses 

• Support and provide a steer (as required) to the Local Town Boards 
• Upholding the Seven Principles of Public Life (Nolan Principles) 
• Ensure compliance with Heads of Terms Agreements  
• Have sight of and be consulted over project change requests  
• Agree Full Business Cases and recommend them for appraisal and approval 
• Act as a critical friend throughout the programme  
• Fulfil any other duties and responsibilities required of the Town Deal Board by 

Central Government 
 

3.1.2 The Chair of the Local Boards will be responsible for: 
 

• Upholding the Seven Principles of Public Life (Nolan Principles) 
• Leading the Local Boards to achieve its objectives, maintaining an overview of 

activity, and championing the supporting partnership working 
• Ensuring that decision are made by the Board in accordance with good 

governance principles 
• Signing the submissions to Government on behalf of the Local Boards 

 

 
3.2 Sandwell Council 
 

3.2.1 Sandwell Council is the Accountable Body for Sandwell’s Town Deal Programme. 
 

Page 112



 

3.2.2 Sandwell Council is responsible for: - 
• Upholding the Seven Principles of Public Life (Nolan Principles) 
• Developing a delivery team, delivery arrangements and agreements 
• Ensuring that decisions are made by the Local Boards are in accordance with 

good governance principles. 
• Ensuring transparency through the publication of agendas and minutes of the 

Local Boards on CMIS 
• Developing agreed projects in detail and undertaking any necessary feasibility 

studies 
• Undertaking any required Environmental Impact Assessments or Public Sector 

Equality Duties 
• Monitoring and evaluating the delivery of Towns Fund projects and impact 
• Submitting monitoring reports, as required 
• Receiving and Accounting for the Town’s Funding allocation and capacity funds 
• Undertake business case assurance and sign off in line with local processes 

(approval from SMBC Cabinet) 
• Engage with the Towns Fund Local Boards regarding project changes 
• Proactively consult the Towns Fund Lead (MHCLG representative) on any 

potential changes to approved plans 
• Ensure that all templates submitted to MHCLG are accurate and complete 

representations of current circumstances 
 

 

4. Board Vacancies 
 

4.1 Local Board - Vacancies occurring within the Local Boards are for the identified 
organisations to make an appointment to in line with their own governance 
procedures. 

 

4.2 Young People’s Representatives - Vacancies occurring in young people’s 
representation at Local Boards will be identified and appointed to via the Sandwell 
Council Youth Service in consultation with the Chair of the Local Boards, as 
appropriate. 

 

5. Code of Conduct  
 

5.1 All Members of the Local Boards will sign the Councillor Code of Conduct which is 
based on the Seven Principles of Public Life (Nolan Principles) and contained within 
Article 13 of the Council’s constitution. 

 

Page 113



 

5.2 Members of the Local Boards as a whole will be required to declare and register 
any gifts and/or hospitality which will be maintained by the Council. 

 

6. Decision Making – Local Boards 
 

6.1 The Council’s Principles of Decision Making will apply to the Local Boards, as laid 
out in article 13 of the Council’s Constitution. ‘elected member’ is taken to refer to 
Local Board member: - 
 

6.1.1 Article 13.02 Principles: 
• Proportionality (i.e. the action taken is proportionate to the desired 

outcome);  
• Decisions are taken on the basis of due consultation and professional 

advice from officers (Decisions taken by elected members will be based on 
information provided in a written report prepared by the responsible 
officer/s);  

• Respect for human rights and giving due regard to the Public Sector 
Equality Duty;  

• A presumption in favour of openness (Reports will only be considered in 
private where they contain exempt information as defined in Schedule 12A 
to the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) (see Part 4 Access to 
Information Rules – Rule 10);  

• Clarity of aims and desired outcomes (The written reports submitted to 
elected members will contain a clear recommendation of the professional 
officer for every decision they are asked to take)  

 

6.2 Quorum – the Local Boards will be considered quorate with one quarter of voting 
members present.  

 

6.3 Voting – any matter will be decided upon by a simple majority of those members 
present in the room and eligible to vote. 

 

6.4 Confirmation of minutes - The Chair presiding shall put the question that the 
minutes submitted to the meeting be approved as a correct record. 

 

6.5 Declarations of Interest 
 

6.5.1 Members shall be required to declare interests in accordance with any relevant 
statutory provisions and the Members’ Code of Conduct as set out in Part 5 of the 
Constitution. 

 

Page 114



 

6.5.2 Where a Local Board member has a disclosable pecuniary interest or pecuniary 
interest in the business of the authority he/she must withdraw from the room or 
chamber where the meeting considering the business is being held unless the 
member has obtained a dispensation from the Council’s Monitoring Officer.  
 

6.5.3 Where a Local Board Member is nominated as the Lead Officer for a project 
and/or is involved in project delivery, they may attend the Local Board discussion 
relating to the project in the capacity of providing and presenting information but 
they may not participate in any deliberations or decision by the Local Board 
concerning that project. 

 

6.6 In the event that Local Board wishes to move to a vote, any matter will be decided 
upon by a simple majority of those members present in the room and eligible to 
vote.  
 

6.7 The Chair shall have a casting vote. 
 

7. Scrutiny  
 

7.1 Scrutiny of Sandwell’s Towns Fund Programme will be provided by the Council’s 
Economic, Skills, Environment and Transport Scrutiny Board on a quarterly basis 
and through the critical friend challenge that will be provided by the Local Boards. 

 

8. Transparency and Accountability 
 

8.1 Local Board Agendas and Minutes  
 

8.1.1 The Council will publish Local Board meeting agendas on Modern.gov 5 
clear days before the meeting. 

8.1.2 Draft minutes of the Local Boards will be published within 10 clear 
working days; and 

8.1.3 Approved minutes of the Local Boards will be published within 10 clear 
working days 

 
8.2 Member profiles 

 
8.2.1 Profiles of Local Board Members will be published on Modern.gov.uk 

 

Page 115



 

8.3 Conflicts of Interest 
 

8.3.1 Members of the Local Boards will be required to declare any conflicts of interest 
(commercial, actual and potential). This will be maintained by the council in a 
declaration of interest register which will be managed by Sandwell Council. 

 

8.3.2 Local Boards Members should take personal responsibility for declaring their 
interests before any decision is considered by the Local Boards. These will be 
formally noted within the published minutes of meetings of the Local Boards 
including action taken in response to any declared interest. 

 

8.3.3 Local Board Members should take personal responsibility for declaring their 
interests prior to an item being discussed. These will be noted within the minutes 
including action taking in response to any declared interest. If any Member has 
any queries about their interests and the disclosure thereof, they should seek 
advice from the Monitoring Officer. 
 

(The following sections are proposed new additions to the Terms of Reference) 
 

9. The Boards relationship with Sandwell Council 
 

9.1 In accordance to the government guidance, the Town Deal Board will have sight 
and endorse Accountable Body decisions in the delivery of the Towns Fund 
Programme. Sandwell Council will remain the Accountable body for any Town 
Deal funding that is received, and any other funding received in future in relation to 
Town Deal projects. 
  

9.2  These Terms of Reference do not change, replace, substitute for or amend in any 
way the statutory powers or duties or other responsibilities of any of the people or 
organisations represented on the Sandwell Town Deal Boards.  
 

9.3  The procurement policies of Sandwell Council will apply. Where external 
professional advice is required, consultants will be identified using the 
procurement policies of Sandwell Council and contracts will be entered into 
between Sandwell Council and the relevant organisation in accordance with 
Sandwell Councils policies and procedures including its contract procedure rules. 
  

9.4 Where applicable, Sandwell Councils Cabinet will receive regular reports on 
progress of activities through regular performance monitoring. 
  

9.5 Board Members shall make themselves available from time to time to meet Cabinet 
and / or Portfolio Holder and to attend meetings of the Council’s Scrutiny Committee if 
invited. 
  

Page 116



 

9.6 The council’s Data Protection Officer and the PMO will support the Board in dealing 
with any data protection questions.  The councils framework can be found at 
:Information Governance and Data Protection 

 
10. Membership 

 
10.1 The Lead Council has responsibility for establishing the Town Deal Boards for the 

development and implementation of the Town Investment Plans 
   
10.2 The Local Boards will now assume responsibility for future governance under these 

Terms of References in consultation with the Accountable Body.  
  

10.3 Membership will be reviewed annually and seek to continue to be representative of 
a diverse range of sectors, skills and interests in Sandwell in order for the Sandwell 
Towns Boards to be a valuable resource to drawn on at all stages of the Town 
Investment Plan implementation. 

 
10.4 Advisors – Advisors are invited by Board Members and participate in the meetings 

but will have no voting rights or ability to make decisions on behalf of the Board. 
 

10.5 S151 Officer – Sandwell Council is the Accountable Body for the Town Board. The 
Council’s S151 Officer or substitute will have a standing invite on the Local Boards 
to ensure compliance with all necessary financial regulations.  
  

10.6 These terms of reference may be reviewed and modified at any time in consultation 
with the , Director of Law and Governance . 

 
11. Scheme of Delegation 

 
11.1 The Scheme of delegation in relating decision making are included as an annex to 

these Terms of Reference. 
 

11.2 A decision which is made in contravention of the process will be invalid based on 
non- compliance unless the Local Board has given prior approval for variation in 
the decision-making process. 
 

11.3 Any financial decision must be signed off by Sandwell’s S151 Officer as the 
Accountable Body. The Council’s S151 Officer will ensure compliance with all 
necessary financial regulations, in order to protect the Accountable Body and 
ensure proper administration of all financial affairs. 
 

11.4 The Chair of the Local Board can decide to convene a meeting where decisions 
need to be considered by the Local Boards which does not fit within the timeframe 
of the scheduled meetings.  Where possible, the standard notice period will apply 
for any such meeting.   
 

Page 117

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/info/200198/data_protection_and_freedom_of_information


 

11.5 Where a meeting cannot be convened, urgent decisions can be endorsed by the 
Local Board through a written procedure. 
 

11.6 Only in the most exceptional circumstances might it be considered necessary and 
appropriate for a matter of strategic importance usually reserved to the Main 
Board to be decided through this procedure.  This will apply where a project 
cannot continue without a decision being approved, therefore posing a significant 
risk to project deliverability.  This includes, but is not limited to: 
 
a) Time limited reallocation of funding  
b) Changes to Heads of Terms 
c) Changes to Mandatory Indicators and financial profiles 
 

 
11.7  Written/Urgent Procedure: 
 

11.7.1 Following consideration by Director of Regeneration and Growth/S151, a 
report in the usual meeting format and including reasons for urgency, will 
be circulated to the Chair/Vice chair  to consider whether, due to the 
urgent nature of the decision to be made, it is necessary and appropriate 
for the decision to be made before the next meeting. 
 

11.7.2 The Chair/Vice Chair may consult with Director of Regeneration and 
Growth /S151 or other officers to provide further information where 
required. 
 

11.7.3 Within 5 working days of the report being presented, the Chair/Vice Chair 
will inform whether the decision is endorsed on behalf of the Board.  
 

11.7.4 For transparency the report, reasons for urgency, and decision will be 
presented to the next Local Board meeting. 

 
12. Objections following Consultations 
 

12.1 Project Leads will present any objections that have been received following 
consultation on Towns Fund projects to the Local Boards.  The Local Board will 
consider the objections and alternative options prior to making a decision in 
consultation with the appropriate Cabinet member. 

12.2 In the event that a decision cannot be agreed between Local Board and Cabinet 
member, a separate meeting will be held with the Leader, Cabinet Member, Chair 
of Local Board and Director of Regeneration and Growth to discuss/resolve 
difference of view. 

12.3 The project will not proceed in the delivery phase until a decision has been made.  

Page 118



 

Annex 1  
Type of Variation 

 

Scale of Variation Action Required Requires 
Local Board 
endorsement? 

Delegated Authority 
to approve 

Approval 
required from 
DLUHC 

Action following 
DLUHC approval 

Heads of Terms Any Changes to the Heads of Terms  Submit Project 
Adjustment 
Request  

Yes 

 

Director of 
Regeneration & Growth 
in consultation with 
Cabinet Member and 
S151 Officer 

*(subject to May 22 
Cabinet approval) 

Yes 

S151 sign off 
required 

Issue Deed of Variation 

Financial A decrease/increase of grant funds to be drawn 
down by the project which is less than £250,000 

A decrease/increase of grant funds to be drawn 
down by the project which is greater than £250,000 

Any decrease of match funding 

An increase in the match funding cost of the project 
without impact to the agreed funding for the project, 
the outputs/ outcomes or project completion 

Update PMO n/a Towns Fund 
Programme Manager 

No Issue Re-profile letter 

Report to Local Board 

Time/ Schedule 
Slippage of milestones with no effect on total grant, 
completion date, outputs/outcomes 

Update PMO No Towns Fund 
Programme Manager 

Tbc Issue Re-profile letter 

Report to Local Board 

Slippage of outcomes and/ or grant claim profile, 
requiring re-profiling across future financial years 
with no overall change to project 

Submit Project 
Adjustment 
Request 

Yes Director of 
Regeneration & Growth 
in consultation with 
S151 Officer* 

Yes 

S151 sign off 
required 

Issue Re-profile letter 

Report to Local Board 

Outcomes/Outputs 

 
An increase in the outputs and outcomes of the 
project. 

Quarterly 
reporting by 
project lead 

No Towns Fund 
Programme Manager 

No Report to Local Board  

Any decrease to Mandator indicators outputs and 
outcomes of the project. 

 

 

Submit Project 
Adjustment 
Request 

Yes Director of 
Regeneration & 
Growth, in consultation 
with S151 Officer and 
Cabinet Member 

Yes 

S151 sign off 
required 

Issue Deed of Variation 

Any decrease to Local Measures 

 

Submit Project 
Adjustment 
Request 

Yes Director of 
Regeneration & Growth  

Tbc Issue Re-profile letter 

Other Changes to project contact information, 
administrative errors and others which have no 
impact to approved outcomes, outputs or grant. 

  

Inform Project 
Lead/PMO  

No Towns Fund 
Programme manager 

Tbc Update documentation 
and Local Board where 
applicable 

P
age 119



 

WEST BROMWICH PROPOSED LOCAL BOARD MEMBERSHIP 

Organisation Individual 

Sandwell Business Ambassador  Chris Hinson - Chair 
Albion Foundation Rob Lake 
Greets Green Community Enterprise Wendy Brookfield 
Kaleidoscope  Monica Shafaq 
Multistory Emma Chetcuti 
SCVO Leona Bird 
Sandwell and West Birmingham CCG Andrew Lawley 
Sandwell College Simon Griffiths 
Ward Member representative Tbc 
West Bromwich Town Lead Member Councillor Steve Melia 
The GAP Centre Andrew Bent 
West Bromwich African Caribbean Centre Shane Ward 
West Bromwich BID Lisa Hill 
West Midlands Police Identified in line with rest days 
WMCA Officer Level Vacancy 
YMCA Luke Tyler 
Young Peoples Representative Danielle Hawthorne 
SMBC Cabinet Member Cabinet Member – Councillor Hartwell 
Transferred from Superboard 
SMBC Leader Cllr Kerrie Carmichael 
Cabinet Member for Strong and Resilient 
Communities 

Portfolio holder structure has changed - to be updated 
following election 

SMBC Cabinet Member for Governance and 
Democracy 

Portfolio holder structure has changed - to be updated 
following election 

SMBC Cabinet Member for Regeneration and 
Growth TBC/ Cllr Kerrie Carmichael 

MP Nicola Richards - MP West Bromwich East 
Constituency 

Business Representative/Vice Chair Jude Thompson 
LEP representative Geoff Layer 
Homes England Representative Jo Nugent 
Transport for West Midlands Sandeep Shingadia 
SMBC Representative 
Towns Fund Programme Manager Rina Rahim 
Towns Fund Programme Support Officer  Emma Parkes 
Regeneration Manager Jenna Langford 
Director – Regeneration and Growth Tony McGovern 
Managing Director Commissioner Kim Bromley-Derry 
SMBC Monitoring Officer Surjit Tour 
Employment and Skills Kelly Thomas 
Regeneration Lead Joshua Singh/ Alex Oxley 
Service Manager for Culture and Tourism Jane Lillystone 
Interim Service Manager for Assets and Land Chris Hilton 

Page 120



 

SMETHWICK PROPOSED LOCAL BOARD MEMBERSHIP 

Organisation Individual 

MI Glass Alan Taylor - CHAIR 
Albion Foundation Rob Lake 
Brasshouse Community Centre Jennifer Harrison 
Business Representative Omar Rashid 
Guru Nanak Gurdwara Jatinder Singh 
Liberty Engineering John Wood 
Sandwell and West Birmingham CCG Andrew Lawley 
Sandwell College David Holden 
SCVO Leona Bird 
Ward Member representative Tbc 
Smethwick Town Lead Member  Councillor Farut Shaeen 
West Midlands Police Sgt Joanne Parke 
WMCA Officer Level Vacancy 
Young People's representative Muhammed Shabir 
Young People's representative Muskaan Iqbal 
Smethwick Church Action Network Gareth Brown 
SMBC Cabinet Member Councillor Piper 
SMBC Cabinet Member Councillor Ahmed 
Transferred from Superboard 
SMBC Leader Cllr Kerrie Carmichael 
MP John Spellar - MP Warley Constituency 
Business Representative/Vice Chair Jude Thompson 

SMBC Cabinet Member for Regeneration & Growth Tbc/Cllr Kerrie Carmichael 

Cabinet Member for Strong and Resilient 
Communities 

Portfolio holder structure has changed - to be updated 
following election 

SMBC Cabinet Member for Governance and 
Democracy 

Portfolio holder structure has changed - to be updated 
following election 

LEP representative Geoff Layer 
Homes England Representative Jo Nugent 
Transport for West Midlands Sandeep Shingadia 
SMBC representatives 
Regeneration Manager Jenna Langford 
Towns Fund Programme Manager Rina Rahim 
Towns Fund Programme Office/ Note Taker Emma Parkes 
Director – Regeneration and Growth Tony McGovern 
Managing Director Commissioner Kim Bromley-Derry 
SMBC Monitoring Officer Surjit Tour 
Director Town Lead  Vacant 
Employment and Skills Kelly Thomas 
Regeneration Lead Hayley Insley / Clinton Felicio 
Service Manager for Culture and Tourism Jane Lillystone 
Interim Service Manager for Assets and Land Chris Hilton 

 

Page 121



 

ROWLEY REGIS PROPOSED LOCAL BOARD MEMBERSHIP 

Organisation Individual 
Black Country Housing Group Adrian Eggington - CHAIR 
Agewell  Deborah Harrold 
Cradley Heath Central Mosque Mohammed Asif 
Cradley Heath Community Link Vacancy 
Business Rep and Local Resident Wayne Edwards 
Grace Mary to Lion Farm Big Local Helen Trueman 
Murray Hall Community Trust Manjula Patel 
SCVO Leona Bird 
Sandwell and West Birmingham CCG Andrew Lawley 
Sandwell College Ann Sheridan 
Ward Member representative Tbc 
Rowley Regis Town Lead Member Councillor Lorraine Ashman 
SMBC Local Cabinet Member Councillor Maria Crompton  
SMBC Local Cabinet Member Councillor Danny Millard 
West Midlands Police Attendance in line with rest days 
WMCA Officer Level Vacancy 
Young People’s Representative Harvey Katarina 
Transferred from Superboard 
SMBC Leader Cllr Kerrie Carmichael 
MP James Morris - MP Halesowen and Rowley Constituency 
Business Representative/Vice-Chair Jude Thompson 
SMBC Cabinet Member for Regeneration & 
Growth Tbc/Cllr K Carmichael 

LEP representative Geoff Layer 
Homes England Representative Jo Nugent 
Transport for West Midlands Sandeep Shingadia 
SMBC Representatives 
Towns Fund Programme Manager Rina Rahim 
Towns Fund Programme Support Officer Emma Parkes 
Director, Regeneration and Growth Tony McGovern 
Regeneration Manager Jenna Langford 
Managing Director Commissioner Kim Bromley-Derry 
SMBC Monitoring Officer Surjit Tour 
Employment and Skills Kelly Thomas 
Regeneration Lead Alan Reynolds 
Service Manager for Culture and Tourism Jane Lillystone 
Interim Service Manager for Assets and Land Chris Hilton 
Programme Support/ Note Taker Jenny Bakewell 

 

Page 122



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 123



CODE OF CONDUCT 
West Bromwich Local Board/ Smethwick Local Board/  

Rowley Regis Local Board. 
 

 
Sandwell MBC, as the Accountable Body for the Towns Fund, has a statutory duty 
under the Localism Act 2011 to promote and maintain high standards of conduct. This 
code of conduct sets out the expectations placed on all members of the West 
Bromwich, Smethwick and Rowley Regis Local Boards. 
 
The Code is not intended to be an exhaustive list of all the obligations that are placed 
on members. It is the responsibility of individual members to comply with the provisions 
of the Code as well as such other legal obligations as may apply to them from time to 
time.  
 
Definitions 
 
In this Code “meeting” means any formal meeting of the Local Boards. It also means 
any informal meeting, which is not a formal meeting, but which has been arranged in 
advance where business is being discussed between board members or between 
members and officers. 
 
In this Code a ‘member of your family’ includes the following relationships of the 
member, the member’s spouse or the member’s civil partner or any person with whom 
you are living as husband and wife or as if you were civil partners: a son/daughter 
(including a biological son/daughter, stepson/daughter, adopted son/daughter or 
male/female child for which the person has custodial responsibilities), mother, father, 
brother or sister, a niece, nephew, aunt, uncle, grandchild, grandparent 
 
In this Code ‘a person with whom you have a close association’ means someone that 
you are in either regular contact with over a period of time or a significant contact who 
is more than an acquaintance or can be considered to be a friend, a colleague, a 
business associate or someone whom you know through general social contacts. 
 
Rules of Conduct 
 
Sandwell Towns Fund Local Board’s success as a partnership depends on the 
professionalism of all of its Board Members and officers who support Board activity. 
This relates to both internal and external funding and how its Board Members and 
officers conduct themselves in relation to others, both within work environment and 
any work-related social event.  
 
Sandwell Towns Fund Local Board’s expect all its Board Members/Committee 
Members and employees to be courteous and respectful to clients, suppliers and 
colleagues and not behave in a discriminatory manner. This code of conduct should 
be signed by all Local Board Members upon appointment and on annual basis after 
joining the Board/Committee and upheld at all times.  
 
1. You are a Board Member of the Sandwell Towns Fund Local Board and hence you 

always shall have regard to the Seven Principles in Public Life (the Nolan principles) 
which are: –  
 

Page 124



Selflessness  Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public 
interest.  
 

Integrity  Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any 
obligation to people or organisations that might try inappropriately 
to influence them in their work.  
They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or 
other material benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends.  
They must declare and resolve any interests and relationships.  
 

Objectivity  Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, 
fairly and on merit, using the best evidence and without 
discrimination or bias.  
 

Accountability  Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their 
decisions and actions and must submit themselves to the scrutiny 
necessary to ensure this.  
 

Openness  Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open 
and transparent manner. Information should not be withheld from 
the public unless there are clear and lawful reasons for so doing.  
 

Honesty  Holders of public office should be truthful.  
  
Leadership  Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own 

behaviour. They should actively promote and robustly support the 
principles and be willing to challenge poor behaviour wherever it 
occurs.  

 
 

2.  Accordingly, when acting in your capacity as a Board Member of Sandwell Towns 
Fund Local Board: - 

 
• You must act solely in the public interest and should never improperly seek to 

confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person or act to gain financial or 
other material benefits for yourself, your family, a close associate, an employer 
or a business carried on by you. 

 
• You must not place yourself under a financial or other obligation to outside 

individuals or organisations that may influence you in the performance of your 
duties 

 
• You must not disclose any information given to you as a member in breach of 

any confidence. 
 

• You must not prevent another person from gaining access to information to 
which that person is entitled by law. 

 
• You must not bring the Towns Fund Local Board into disrepute 

 
• You must treat others with respect and must promote equality by not 

discriminating unlawfully against any person, and by treating people with 
respect, regardless of their sex, race, age, religion, gender, sexual orientation 
or disability 

 

Page 125



• You must not bully any person 
 

• You must not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is or is likely 
to be - 
 a complainant, 
 a witness, or 
 involved in the administration of any investigation or proceedings, in 

relation to an allegation that a member (including yourself) of the Board 
has failed to comply with the code of conduct; 

 
• You must respect the impartiality and integrity of the council’s statutory officers 

and its other employees. 
 

• When carrying out your public duties such as awarding contracts or making 
appointments, you must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, 
using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias. 

 
• You must, when using or authorising the use by others of the resources of the 

Sandwell Towns Fund Local Board, ensure that such resources are not used 
improperly for political or personal purposes (including party political purposes). 

 
• You must promote and support high standards of conduct when serving as a 

board member 
 

• You must at all times facilitate and engage with the council and its committees 
on probity and ethical matters and submit yourself to the scrutiny necessary to 
ensure this without any undue delay. 

 
 
Registering and declaring pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests  
 
3. You must, within 28 days of appointment as a Board Member notify the Council’s 

(as the Accountable Body) Monitoring Officer of any disclosable pecuniary interest, 
where the pecuniary interest is yours, your spouse’s or civil partner’s, or is the 
pecuniary interest of somebody with whom you are living with as a spouse, or as if 
you were civil partners. Where you may have a “sensitive interest” as defined by 
the Localism Act 2011, you should seek advice from the Monitoring Officer on 
whether this can be exempt from public disclosure. 
 

4. In addition, you must, within 28 days appointment as a Board Member, notify the 
Councils Monitoring Officer of any non-pecuniary interest which the Sandwell 
Towns Fund Local Board has decided should be included in the register or which 
you consider should be included if you are to fulfil your duty to act in conformity with 
the Seven Principles of Public Life. These non-pecuniary interests will necessarily 
include your membership of any Trade Union. Register of Interests forms will be 
provided for you to do this.  
 

5. You must, within 28 days of becoming aware of it, register with the Monitoring 
Officer any change to interests or new interests. 
 

6. Board Members should review their individual register of interest before each board 
meeting or any other meeting where a decision is proposed to be made. If an 
interest has not been entered onto the Board’s register, then the member must 
disclose the interest at any meeting of the Sandwell Towns Fund Local Board at 

Page 126



which they are present, where they have a disclosable interest in any matter being 
considered and where the matter is not a ‘sensitive interest’.  
 

7. Following any disclosure of an interest not on the register or the subject of pending 
notification, you must notify the Council’s Monitoring Officer of the interest within 28 
days beginning with the date of disclosure.  
 

8. Unless a dispensation has been granted, you may not participate in any discussion 
of, vote on, or discharge any function related to any matter in which you have a 
pecuniary interest. Additionally, you must observe the restrictions the Sandwell 
Towns Fund Local Board places on your involvement in matters where you have a 
pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest as defined by the Sandwell Towns Fund Local 
Board. 
 

9. Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to or affects an other registerable 
interests you must declare the existence and nature of the interest unless it is a 
sensitive interest. When acting alone declare the interest and do not take any steps, 
or any further steps in relation to the matter. 

 
 
Gifts and Hospitality 
  
General Caution  
 
Treat with extreme caution any offer or gift, favour or hospitality that is made to you 
personally.  
 
Your personal reputation and that of the Board can be seriously jeopardised by the 
inappropriate acceptance by you of a gift or hospitality.  
 
The acceptance of gifts and hospitality is not always unlawful or inappropriate. The 
decision for you in every case is whether or not it is appropriate to accept any gift or 
hospitality that might be offered to you, having regard to how it might be perceived.  
 
No hard and fast rules can be laid down to cover every circumstance as to what is 
appropriate or inappropriate. This guidance is intended to enable you to make your 
own decision.  
 
 
Criminal Law  
 
It is a criminal offence corruptly to solicit or receive any gift, reward or advantage as 
an inducement to do or forbear to do anything in respect of any transaction involving 
the Board or Council as the accountable body. 
  
The onus would be on you to disprove corruption in relation to a gift from a person 
holding or seeking to obtain a contract from the Board or Council.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 127



Limits of Guidance  
 
This guidance does not apply to: - 
 

• Gifts and hospitality you may receive from family and friends (as birthday or 
other festival presents) that are not related to your position as a member. You 
should however question any such gift or hospitality offered from an unusual 
source.  

 
• The acceptance of facilities or hospitality provided to you by the Board or 

Council.  
 
• Gifts given to the Board that you accept formally on the Board’s behalf and are 

retained by the Board and not by you personally.  
 
 
Meaning of Gifts and Hospitality  
 
The expressions ‘gifts’ and ‘hospitality’ have wide meanings and no conclusive 
definition is possible.  
 
Gifts and hospitality include:  
• The free gift of any goods or services.  
 
• The opportunity to acquire any goods or services at a discount or at terms not 

available to the general public.  
 
• The opportunity to obtain goods or services not available to the general public.  
 
• The offer of food, drink, accommodation or entertainment or the opportunity to  attend 

any cultural or sporting event.  
 
Common gifts include pens, diaries, calendars and other business stationery, articles 
of clothing, books, flowers and bouquets. Members should however be cautious when 
purchasing anything, when additional services, privileges or advantages are offered, 
which might be related to their position as a member.  
 
 
Appropriate Gifts and Hospitality  
 
There are some circumstances where you may accept gifts and hospitality as being in 
the normal course of your duties as a board member.  
 

• Hospitality provided by another board or public authority.  
 

• Normal and modest refreshment in connection with any meeting in the course 
of your work as a member (e.g. tea, coffee and other normal beverages and 
refreshments) 

 
• Tickets for sporting, cultural and entertainment events which are sponsored or 

promoted by the Board or bodies to which you have been appointed by the 
Board, and the tickets are offered in relation to that sponsorship or promotion.  

Page 128



 
• Small gifts of token value i.e. estimated to be below £50: - 

 
(a)  given by way of trade advertisement to a wide range of people, e.g. 

pens, calendars, diaries and key-rings; or  
 
(b)  given on the occasion of a courtesy visit, e.g. to a factory or other 

business premises; or  
 
(c)  received from a recipient of a service, where it would give offence to 

reject it.  
 

• Drinks or other modest refreshment in the normal course of socialising arising 
consequentially from Authority business (e.g. inclusion in a round of drinks 
after a meeting).  

 
• Modest meals provided as a matter of courtesy in the office or meeting place 

of a person with whom the Board has a business connection.  
 

• Souvenirs and gifts from other public bodies intended as personal gifts (e.g. 
arising from twin-town and other civic events).  

 
• Invitations to attend functions where you represent the Board (e.g. dinners 

where you are invited to speak, opening ceremonies and trade shows) or to 
functions when you attend by virtue of your position on the Board.  
 

• Hospitality provided at public events, where a formal invitation has been 
received at Council offices and the attendance is in a civic capacity.  

 
Inappropriate Gifts and Hospitality  
 

• Free or subsidised holidays or travel.  
 

• Personal invitations to the theatre, cabaret, light entertainment or sporting 
events.  

 
• Personal invitations to socialise with representatives from a company or 

organisation that has business or other Fundings with the Council.  
 

• Offers of any free or subsidised accommodation (i.e. hotel, flat, villa or holiday 
home).  

 
• Any offer whatsoever of free services.  

 
• Any other hospitality offered by a company or organisation that has business 

or other Fundings with the Council, which is not linked to its normal course of 
business with the Council (i.e. not part of business meetings or offered to 
officers representing the Council at events).  

 
In exceptional circumstances, it may be permissible to accept travel, accommodation 
and hospitality from a company or organisation, which has or may have business with 
the Council, when the assessment and evaluation of bids or tenders necessitates 
visiting reference sites, provided that this facility is also offered/applied to other 

Page 129



tenderers. In such a situation, you must be accompanied by an officer of the Council, 
whose attendance has been approved by his Director/Service Manager or in 
appropriate cases the Chief Executive.  
 
 
Principles to Apply in Relation to Gifts and Hospitality  
 
In deciding whether it is appropriate to accept any gift or hospitality you must apply 
the following principles: - 
 

• Do not accept a gift or hospitality as an inducement or reward for anything you 
do as a member. If you have any suspicion that the motive behind the gift or 
hospitality is an inducement or reward you must decline it. “Reward” includes 
remuneration, reimbursement and fee.  

 
• Do not accept a gift or hospitality whose value is excessive in the 

circumstances.  
 

• Do not accept a gift or hospitality if acceptance might be open to 
misinterpretation. Such circumstances will include gifts and hospitality: - 

 
a) From parties involved with the Authority in a competitive tendering or 

other procurement process except in the limited circumstances referred 
to in paragraph 7 above.  

 
b) From applicants for planning permission and other applications for 

licences, consents and approvals.  
 
c) From applicants for grants, including voluntary bodies and other 

organisations applying for public funding.  
 
d) From applicants for benefits, claims and dispensations.  
 
e) From parties in legal proceedings with the Authority.  

 
• Do not accept a gift or hospitality if you believe it will put you under any 

obligation to the provider as a consequence.  
 

• Do not solicit any gift or hospitality and avoid giving any perception of so 
doing.  

 
Registration of Gifts and Hospitality  
 
For the purposes of the Code of Conduct for Board Members, you have a personal 
interest in any business of your authority where it relates to or is likely to affect the 
interests of any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an 
estimated value of at least £100.00. 
  
This interest (gifts or hospitality worth £100.00 or over that you receive in connection 
with your official duties as a member and its source) must be registered in the register 
of members’ interests within 28 days of receiving it.  
 

Page 130



You should register the interest as soon as possible after acceptance of the gift or 
hospitality. The registration should include the source and nature of the gift or 
hospitality.  
 
You should also register any such gift or hospitality, which you decide to refuse or 
decline.  
 
You do not need to register gifts and hospitality which are not related to your role as a 
Board member, such as Christmas gifts from your friends and family, or gifts which 
you do not accept. However, you should always register a gift or hospitality if it could 
be perceived as something given to you because of your position or if your authority 
requires you to.  
 
You should ask yourself, would I have been given this if I was not on the Board? If 
you are in doubt as to the motive behind a gift or hospitality it is recommended that 
you register it or at least seek advice from the Monitoring Officer. If you have not 
registered your gift or hospitality in accordance with the requirements set out in your 
Code of Conduct then you must declare or disclose the existence and nature of the 
interest arising from a gift or hospitality at a meeting of the authority at which 
business is considered to which the interest relates. (i.e. business relating to the 
interests of the person or body giving the gift or hospitality).  
 
Whilst the registration requirement in the Code is limited to gifts or hospitality over the 
value of £100.00, members are encouraged to register any significant gift or hospitality 
they receive below this value.  
 
There is no obligation to make a declaration or disclosure in relation to gifts and 
hospitality on the register which are below £100.00 in value. The general rule is, if in 
doubt as to the value of a gift or hospitality, you should register it, as a matter of good 
practice and in accordance with the principles of openness and accountability in public 
life.  
 
You may have to estimate how much a gift or hospitality is worth. Also, an 
accumulation of small gifts you receive from the same source over a short period that 
add up to £100.00 or over should be registered.  
 
 
Reporting of Inappropriate Gifts and Hospitality offered  
 
It is a criminal offence for a person corruptly to give or offer any gift, reward or 
advantage as an inducement or reward to you for doing or forbearing to do anything 
as a member of the Board.  
 
You must immediately report to the Monitoring Officer any circumstances where an 
inappropriate gift or hospitality has been offered to you. You may thereafter be 
required to assist the Police in providing evidence.  
 
 
Enforcement  
 
Allegations of any failure to meet the parameters of the Code of Conduct must be 
made in writing to the Monitoring Officer.  
 
 

Page 131



Policy Owner  
 
This code of conduct is owned and maintained by the Council’s Monitoring Officer 
and Chair of Sandwell Towns Fund Local Boards and reviewed annually.  
 
 
Confirmation 
 
In accepting my appointment to the Sandwell Towns Fund Local Board, I 
confirm that I have read, understood and agree to abide by the Code of 
Conduct. 
 

Full Name  

Signed  

Dated  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Guidance and Further Information 
 
1. For the purposes of this guidance, we are using the definition of a pecuniary interest as 

set out in the Localism Act 2011 and The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests) Regulations 2012.  

 
2. A Non-Pecuniary interest is any interest which is not listed in the Schedule to The 

Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 (No.1464).  
 

3. A ‘sensitive interest’ is described in the Localism Act 2011 as a member or co-opted 
member of an authority having an interest, and the nature of the interest being such that 
the member or co-opted member, and the authority’s monitoring officer, consider that 
disclosure of the details of the interest could lead to the member or co-opted member, or 
a person connected with the member or co-opted member, being subject to violence or 
intimidation.  
 

 

Page 132



REGISTER OF BOARD MEMBER INTERESTS 
West Bromwich Local Board/ Smethwick Local Board/  

Rowley Regis Local Board. 
 

 

(Pursuant to the agreed Code of Conduct for Board Members and Part 
1, Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011). 

Please refer to the Code of Conduct and the accompanying  
Notes of Guidance before completing this form. 

 

I, [Insert Name] 
 
An appointed Board member of West Bromwich, Smethwick, Rowley Regis Local 
Board (Delete as appropriate) give notice that I have set out below my interests and 
in so far as I am aware of the existence of the interests of my spouse or civil partner 
or any person with whom I am living as husband and wife or as if we were civil partners 
(relevant persons).  
 

I have also set out in so far as I am aware of the existence of the names of any 
members of my family or close associates who either work on behalf of the Board or 
the Council or have a contractual relationship with the Board or the Council and the 
nature of that interest.    
 

I have put ‘None’ where I/ we have no such interest under any heading. 
 

PART A - DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS 
1. Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain 

(Including employment outside of the Borough of Sandwell). Please give details of 
(i) every employment, job, trade, business or vocation you and/or your partner 
have, for which you and/or your partner receive any benefit or gain (i.e. profit, salary 
or benefit in kind) including a short description of the activity e.g. accountant or 
plumber and (ii) the name of any employer or body, firm or company which you 
and/or your partner own  or in whose securities you and/or your partner have any 
beneficial interest. This must include remuneration as a director. 
 
 

 
2. Sponsorships - any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than 

from the Council) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any 
expenses incurred in carrying out duties as a Board member. This includes any 
payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning of the Trade 
Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 
 
 

 

Page 133



3. Contracts - any contract which is made between you and/or your partner (or a body 
in which you and/or your partner have a beneficial interest) and the Council or 
Town Deal Local Board (a) under which goods or services are to be provided or 
works are to be executed; and (b) which has not been fully discharged. 
 
 

 

4. Land - any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Borough of 
Sandwell. Please give the address or other description (sufficient to identify the 
location) of any land or property in the area of the Borough of Sandwell in which 
you and/or your partner have a beneficial interest, indicating whether you and/or 
your partner are the owner or lessee or a tenant. Include any house you rent from 
Sandwell Borough Council.      
 
 

 

5. Licences - any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of 
the Borough of Sandwell for a month or longer. Please give the address or other 
description (sufficient to identify the location) of any land or property in the area of 
the Borough of Sandwell in which you and/or your partner licence. 
 
 

 

6. Corporate tenancies -any tenancy where (to your knowledge) (a) the landlord is 
the Council; and (b) the tenant is a body in which you and/or your partner have a 
beneficial interest. Please give the address or other description (sufficient to 
identify the location) of any land leased or licensed from the Council by you and/ 
or your partner or any body, firm or company by which you are employed or which 
you own or in which you have a beneficial interest. 
 
 

 

7. Securities - any beneficial interest in securities of a body where (a) that body (to 
your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the Borough of 
Sandwell ; and (b) either (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds 
£25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or (ii) if the 
share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal value of the 
shares of any one class in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest 
exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. Note it is not 
necessary to declare the nature or size of the holding, simply the name of the 
company or other body. 
 
 

 

PART B - OTHER REGISTERABLE  INTERESTS 
Page 134



8. Any body of which you and/ or your partner are a member or in a position of general 
control or management and to which you and/ or your partner are appointed or 
nominated by the Council or Town Deal Local Board. 
 
 

 

9. Any body of which you and/ or your partner are a member or in a position of general 
control or management and which: - 
 
(a) exercises functions of a public nature;  
(b) is directed to charitable purposes; or 
(c) is a body which includes as one of its principal purposes influencing public 

opinion or policy (this includes any political parties or trade union. 
 
 

 

10. Any person from whom you and/or your partner have received a gift, or hospitality 
with an estimated value of at least £100 (you must register any gifts and hospitality 
worth over £100 that you receive personally in connection with official duties). 
 
 

 
 

PART C - MEMBERS OF YOUR FAMILY AND CLOSE ASSOCIATES 
11. The names of any members of your family or close associates who either work for 

the Council or on behalf of the Town Deal Local Board or have a contractual 
relationship with the Council or Town Deal Local Board and the nature of that 
interest. 

 

 

PART D – VOLUNTARY REGISTRATION OF OTHER INTERESTS 
12. Please list below any other interests that you wish to declare in accordance with 

the General Principles of Conduct as set out in the Code of Conduct or which you 
think may lead to a conflict of interests between your personal interests and the 
public interest. 

 

 

PART E - CONFIRMATION 
Page 135



I understand that: - 
 

(a) I may be committing a criminal offence if I: - 
 

(i) fail to register or declare disclosable pecuniary interests as required, 
without reasonable excuse;  

 
(ii) participate or vote or take steps in Council business at meetings or when 

acting alone when prevented from doing so; 
 
(iii) knowingly or recklessly provide information that is false or misleading; 

 
I understand that I must, within 28 days of becoming aware of any new or change in 
the above interests, provide written notification to the Monitoring Officer. 
 

 
(b) I will be in breach of Sandwell Town Deal Local Board Council’s Code of 

Conduct for Members if I: -  
 

(i) fail to meet the requirements in relation to disclosable pecuniary 
interests; 

 
(ii) fail to register or declare other interests as required;  

 
(iii) take part in Council business at meetings or when acting alone when 

prevented from doing so; 
 

(iv) provide information that is materially false or misleading; 
 
I understand that I must, within 28 days of becoming aware of any new or change in 
the above interests provide written notification to the Monitoring Officer. 
 

Signed  

Dated  

 

Please sign and return this Notice to the Democratic Services Unit, Sandwell Council 
House, P.O. Box 2374, Oldbury, West Midlands, B69 3DE. 
 
Alternatively, please return the signed notice to town_deal@sandwell.gov.uk  
 

Date received by the Monitoring Officer  
 

 

 

Notes of Guidance to Register of Interests 
Page 136

mailto:town_deal@sandwell.gov.uk


You should complete the register with sufficient detail to identify clearly what the 
interest is. Do not use abbreviations, initials or acronyms. You are personally 
responsible for the accuracy of the contents of the register. 

 

PART A - DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS 

Disclosable Pecuniary interests are prescribed by Regulation.  Please refer to Part A 
of the Code of Conduct when completing questions 1 - 7. 

 

PART B - OTHER REGISTERABLE INTERESTS 

1. List all the bodies that are not committees or sub committees of the Council to 
which you have been appointed by the Council. Give the full name of the body 
(not acronyms or initials). If in doubt, ask the Monitoring Officer or the Service 
Manager - Democracy for the list of Outside Bodies. Appointments or 
nominations may include local committees and charities, partnerships and 
companies in which the Council is involved, and other related organisations. 
Include nominations to regional and national bodies such as local authority 
associations. 
 

2. Include any public bodies of which you are a member (e.g. school governor, health 
authority, government agency, other non-profit organisation in the public sector, 
local committee). Include any charity of which you are a trustee or member and 
any non-profit making body such as a cultural, sporting, environmental or social 
association, club or organisation. Include the name of any political party of which 
you are a member, any national or local body operating as a pressure group and 
any trade union or trade association.  
 

3. This requirement is not intended to cover gifts and hospitality received by you in 
your private capacity (i.e. when you are not acting as a Board Member). The 
requirement covers gifts and hospitality received by you as a Board Member. With 
some hospitality, for example, weddings and special events, you will need to 
consider in what capacity you are involved. You are advised to register all gifts that 
you accept, and all hospitality (other than incidental refreshment of a modest 
nature). You must register the nature and approximate value of the gift and 
hospitality, and the person or body giving it. You should register it as soon as 
possible after receiving it. Make sure that you indicate the date when you register 
as this is important to determine how long you will need to disclose the receipt of 
the gift or hospitality in the event of any business of the authority relating to it (three 
years from the date of registration). Please see Guidance on Gifts and Hospitality. 
 

PART C - MEMBERS OF YOUR FAMILY AND CLOSE ASSOCIATES 

4. List the names of any members of your family or close associates who either work 
for the Council or in supporting the Town Deal Local Board or have a contractual 
relationship with the Council.  Named individuals will need to provide written 
approval for their personal data to be used or the member will need to sign a 
statement that they have obtained permission. Any such names will be redacted 
from the public register.   

Page 137



 
 
PLEASE NOTE 
 
In the context of BOTH Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and Other Registerable 
Interests you are required to set out your own interests AND in so far as you are 
aware of their existence the interests of your spouse or civil partner or any person 
with whom you are living as husband and wife or as if you were civil partners.  
 
In circumstances where the interest is not your own, you are not required to identify 
the interest as being your spouse or civil partner or any person with whom you are 
living as husband and wife or as if you were civil partners. However, you may wish 
to do so should you wish to provide further clarity where appropriate. 
 
In this Code a ‘member of your family’ includes the following relationships of the 
member, the member’s spouse or the member’s civil partner or any person with 
whom you are living as husband and wife or as if you were civil partners: a 
son/daughter (including a biological son/daughter, stepson/daughter, adopted 
son/daughter or male/female child for which the person has custodial 
responsibilities), mother, father, brother or sister, a niece, nephew, aunt, uncle, 
grandchild, grandparent. 
 
In this Code ‘a person with whom you have a close association’ means someone 
that you are in either regular contact with over a period of time or a significant 
contact who is more than an acquaintance or can be considered to be a friend, a 
colleague, a business associate or someone whom you know through general 
social contacts. 

 

 

 
 

Page 138



DRAFT Towns Fund Programme Board Terms of 
Reference  
 

1. Purpose of Document 
 

1.1 The purpose of this document is to outline the Terms of Reference for the 
Towns Fund Programme Board including membership. This document will 
remain in draft release until the approval of the Towns Fund Governance 
Document Addendum by Cabinet (scheduled May 2022). 

 

2. Version Control 
 

Version Number 
and Date 

Changes since previous release 

Draft v1 29/02/21 N/a  
Draft v2 25/4/2022 3.1 Updated governance for phase 3 

3.2 Guidance updated April 21 
4. Updated structure 
5. Updated purpose 
8. Frequency of meetings 
9. Chair and attendees 

 

3. Towns Fund Programme Governance Context 
 

3.1 Governance for the Sandwell Towns Fund Programme is documented in the 
Towns Fund Governance Document, approved by SMBC Cabinet in July 2021  
and the forthcoming Draft ‘Towns Fund Programme Governance’ relating to 
Phase 3 of the Towns Fund Programme’, which is scheduled for Cabinet 
approval in May 2022. 

 

3.2 The Local Boards Terms of Reference (currently draft) reflects the 
governance required for the next phases of the Towns Fund Programme and 
the latest Towns Fund Guidance released by MHCLG in April 2021. This 
details the roles and responsibilities of the Accountable Body and Local 
Boards in ensuring the successful delivery of the Towns Fund Programme.  
The creation of a Towns Fund Programme Board during Phases 1 and 2, 
enabled the submission of all summary documentation to DLUHC by 24th 
March 2022.  
 

 

 

Page 139



 

4. Draft Governance diagram 
 

 
 

5. Towns Fund Programme Board Purpose 
 

5.1 The main function of the Towns Fund Programme Board is to create a platform 
whereby Project Leads can meet collectively to discuss progress/ issues 
relating to project delivery and monitoring requirements.  This ensures the 
delivery of the Towns Fund Programme is in line with DLUHC requirements and 
Heads of Terms, SMBC requirements as Accountable Body, and the 
recommendations of the Towns Fund Local Boards.   

 

6. Accountability 
 

6.1 The Programme Board is accountable to SMBC as the Accountable Body for 
the Towns Fund Programme.  

 
7. Responsibilities 
 

Page 140



7.1 Officers will use the Programme Board as a platform to discuss Towns Fund 
project/programme related matters with any new guidance from DLUCH 
presented by the PMO.  This will also provide opportunity for collaborative 
working, sharing of information and experience where applicable.   Officers are 
expected to refer to the Assurance Framework which sets out approaches to: 
 
o Governance 
o Stakeholder Engagement and External Communication 
o Design approach  
o Funding 
o Delivery 
o Resourcing  
o Information Management 
o Knowledge and Learning 
o Assurance 
o Decision Making 
o Issue Resolution  
o Risk Response 

 
The Programme Board will support the development and implementation of 
the Assurance Framework throughout the Towns Fund Programme lifetime. 

 
8. Frequency of Meetings 

 
8.1 The Programme Board will meet 6-weekly in the initial phases of delivery whilst 

monitoring arrangement are being established.  It is anticipated that the board 
will then move to meeting quarterly / on an exception basis. 

 

9. Board Attendees and Chair 
 
9.1 The Board will be chaired by Tony McGovern, Director of Regeneration and 

Growth and will comprise representatives from SMBC Corporate Functions. 
Project Delivery Leads will have a standing invite. 

 
9.2 Attendees: 
 
 

Name Organisation Representing 
Core Representatives 
Tony McGovern Sandwell Council Senior Responsible Officer/Director of Regeneration & Growth 
Rina Rahim Sandwell Council Towns Fund Programme Manager 
Emma Parkes Sandwell Council Towns Fund Programme Support Officer  
Rebecca Maher Sandwell Council SMBC Finance Representative 
TBC Sandwell Council SMBC Legal Representative 
Andy Jukes Sandwell Council SMBC Procurement Representative 
Jenna Langford Sandwell Council SMBC Regeneration Manager 
Santokh Singh  Sandwell Council SMBC Neighbourhoods 
Tariq Karim Sandwell Council SMBC Young People’s Engagement 
Harpreet Dhillon  Sandwell Council SMBC Press Office Representative 

Page 141



Name Organisation Representing 
Joshua Singh Sandwell Council SMBC Regeneration Town Lead for West Bromwich 
Hayley Insley Sandwell Council SMBC Regeneration Town Lead for Smethwick 
Alan Reynolds Sandwell Council SMBC Regeneration Town Lead for Rowley Regis 
Clinton Felicio Sandwell Council SMBC Regeneration Town Support Officer 
Project Leads  
Wendy Brookfield GGCE Digital Den  
Joshua Singh Sandwell Council Urban Greening 
Alex Oxley Sandwell Council Retail Diversification Programme 
Jane Lillystone/ Mark 
Evans 

Sandwell Council Town Hall Quarter  

Wayne Moore Sandwell Council West Bromwich Connected 
Roland Barret-Price Sandwell College Sandwell Civil and Mechanical Engineering Centre  

Rowley Regis Satellite Education Hub  
James Dennison Canal and River Trust Canal Network Connectivity 
Andy Miller Sandwell Council Blackheath Bus Interchange and Public Realm 
Chad Smallman Sandwell Council Rowley Regis Connected 
John R Satchwell Sandwell Council Britannia Park Greenspace and Community Hub 
Austin Bell NHS Trust Midland Met Learning Campus 
Talvinder Sandhu Sandwell Council Smethwick Connected 
Erroll Blackwood Sandwell Council Smethwick Ron Davis Centre Expansion 
Hayley Insley Sandwell Council Grove Lane Regeneration 

Rolfe Street Canalside Regeneration 
 

  

 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 142



 

January 2022 
 

Sandwell Towns Fund – Assurance Panel Terms of Reference 
 

 
1. Purpose of the Assurance Panel  

 
1.1. The role and purpose of the Assurance Panel is where the Financial, Economic and 

Commercial Cases of Towns Fund Projects have been prepared with the support of an 
independent third party, the Assurance Panel will provide assurance that the projects are a 
strategic fit; support a compelling case for change; maximise public value; are commercially 
viable; are affordable and funding and can be achieved successfully by the organisation and 
its partners.  
 

1.2.  If the Assurance Panel agree, they will authorise, by the signatures of the Section 151 Officer 
and the Town Deal Board Chair for a Project Summary Document to be prepared and 
submitted to DLUHC by the Programme Management Office.  
 

2. Assurance Panel Members & Voting Rights & Decision Making 
 

Organisation  
 

Position  Voting rights 

Sandwell MBC Director Regeneration & 
Growth 

Yes  

Director of Finance/S151 
Officer 

Yes  

Cabinet Member 
Regeneration & Growth 

Yes 

Towns Fund Programme 
Manager  

No 

Towns Fund Programme 
Support Officer 

No 

Strategic Investment Unit 
Officer 

No 

Town Deal Board  Town Deal Board Chair  Yes  
 

 

2.1 The Board shall be quorate if the signatories are in attendance.   

2.2 Those who are present and eligible to vote may vote. Non-voting members of the Board shall 
attend in an advisory capacity. 

2.3 The Chair does not have a casting vote. 

2.4 The Assurance Panel is a decision-making body, with delegated authority from Cabinet (24 
November 2021; 218/21) and the Town Deal Board to undertake the assurance process and 
submit project summary documents to DLUHC.   

2.5 The Panel will be supported by the Programme Management Office and the Strategic 
Investment Unit.   

 
  

Page 143



 

January 2022 
 

2.6 Town Deal Local Board Chairs are authorised to deputise for the Town Deal Board Chair at 
Assurance Panels and can authorise for the Town Deal Board Chair’s signature to be added 
to Project Summary Documents for submission.  

 
2.7 The Service Manager for Finance, as Deputy S151 Officer, is authorised to deputise for the 

Finance Director as S151 Officer at Assurance Panels and can authorise Project Summary 
Documents for submission.   

    
3. Frequency of Meetings  

3.1 The Assurance Panel will meet fortnightly to cover the Tranche 3 submission programme 
which will conclude by the 24 March 2022.   

3.2 The Chair of the Board may call additional Assurance Panel meetings as necessary to meet 
the Tranche 3 submission programme.  

3.3 Meetings of the Assurance Panel are not to be held in public due to the commercial sensitivity 
contained within the documentation. However, minutes of the Assurance Panel will be 
published via Mod.Gov. 

3.4 Agenda and papers for each Assurance Panel shall be circulated least three days in advance 
of the meeting, unless otherwise agreed by the Chair of the Board. 

3.5 The Board meetings may be held remotely or physically in suitable offices as determined by 
the Chair (or a hybrid format of the two). 

 

<END> 

 

Page 144



Version Date Created by Approval & Date Protectively Marked Page No 
1 20/4/22 R Rahim Tbc Not protectively marked 1 

 

ANNEX 6   Monitoring and Assurance Framework - Projects 

Introduction 

The Accountable Body (AB) will monitor and assure programme compliance and 
performance on the delivery of the Towns Fund Programme. The Accountable Body 
team will regularly review visit requirements to ensure alignment with best practice and 
funders requirements. 

The Monitoring Framework comprises of four types of visit: 
 

• Project Approval Visit (PAV)  
• Annual Audit Visit (AAV) 

Full audit (grant and match funding, procurement, milestones and 
outcomes) 

• Progress Audit (Full audit completed, ongoing progress against 
match, milestones and outputs) 

• Progress Visit (PV) – undertaken in addition to AV where delivery of 
achieving the project outcome and match is assessed as being at 
risk. 

• Project Closure Visit (PCV) 

The content of these individual visits is detailed in the Project Audit Visit Framework 
(Figure 1.below). The frequency of the visit will be determined on a risk based criteria 
excluding the Audit Visit (AV) which will be carried out annually to review the previous 
year’s claim submissions. An Audit Visit may be combined with a Project Closure Visit 
(PCV). Where deemed appropriate.  If a project is of high risk requires further support, 
additional informal visits will be undertaken. 

Visit Overview 
The purpose of these visit checks is to advise, support and ensure grantees are fulfilling 
their Partnership Agreement obligations. Audit visits will involve sample-based testing of 
financial and performance documentation in support of claim(s) and future profiles. The 
objective of the testing is to confirm that the project control systems provide adequate 
expenditure and output audit trails. 
 
Where not previously examined, a sample of the selected expenditure and procurement 
will be checked during the visit for completeness. 

Partner Obligations – record retention 
Document retention timelines are required to be observed by the grantee in line with 
funding requirements. All related project information to be held in an accessible format 
during this period. 

Expenditure and Outputs Verification 
A quarterly claim has been developed ensuring that data is captured in line with 
Sandwell Council’s claim process.  The claim will include, but is not limited to: 
 

• Expenditure claimed in period  
• Budget forecast  
• Outputs achieved  
• Outputs forecast 

Page 145



Version Date Created by Approval & Date Protectively Marked Page No 
1 20/4/22 R Rahim Tbc Not protectively marked 2 

 

• Milestone reporting 
• Major and Fixed Assets Register information 
• Updated Risk Register 
• Procurement 
• Social Value  

 

The different visit types check that Partners are appropriately maintaining source 
documentation and backing evidence in support of claims. Templates will be used to 
ensure that Partner project systems and procedures are comprehensively and 
consistently checked. The Accountable Body will test project systems and comment 
upon and make recommendations as necessary. 
 
Evidence Documentation 
All source documents (originals or certified copies) will be maintained by Project 
applicants with copies of relevant evidence submitted requests to support claims. 

Key evidence to be held by Projects will include: 

1. Staff timesheets 
2. Payroll information for relevant staff  
3. Hourly rates calculations 
4. Purchase orders, invoices, QS certificates, transaction processing documentation 
5. Procurement/value for money documentation 
6. Asset register (as applicable) 
7. Evidence of defrayed expenditure where internally generated documents support 

transactions or where transaction processing documentation is not available. 
8. Evidence to support outputs claimed 
9. Any other 3rd party evidential requirements needed to support expenditure 

Highlighting Issues and Reporting 
The PMO team will notify any issues identified during relevant visits with the Project 
Manager/ Senior Responsible Officer. An audit dashboard will be produced annually and 
reported to the S151 Officer, Town Deal boards and Cabinet where appropriate. 
   
All material issues during each year will be reported to the Cabinet and Town deal 
boards and where applicable, an agreed method of escalation to relevant parties/boards. 

Where supporting evidence for financial or outputs claims is insufficient or not available at 
the time of the visit, a period of time will be given to allow the Project applicant to collate 
and/or review evidence/documentation. If evidence is not satisfactorily provided within 
this timeframe it will be treated as an ineligible for inclusion within the programme and an 
adjustment made to remove this from the claim. Where the project is able to provide 
satisfactory evidence post removal from claim, the items can then be included in a later 
claim which will be verified during future visits. 

Where a project outputs and match funding is materially behind original profiles, and 
where deemed necessary, additional output and match funding visits will be undertaken 
to assist the project re-profiling and agree project action plans. 

A programme performance dashboard will be produced annually to be reported to the 
S151 officer and the Town Deal Local Boards 
 

Page 146



Version Date Created by Approval & Date Protectively Marked Page No 
1 20/4/22 R Rahim Tbc Not protectively marked 1 

 

Figure 1: Project Visit Audit 
Framework 

 
Project Approval Visit (PAV) 
All projects are offered a Project Approval Visit within 4 weeks of receipt of signed 
Partnership Agreement, and include: 

 
1. Our role as Accountable Body 
2. Project Contacts and Project Update 
3. Project File and Document Retention 
4. Future Data Sharing 
5. Publicity and Branding 
6. Completion of Claim 
7. Financial evidence 

a. Grant 
b. Match 
c. Asset Register 

8. Outcomes evidence and reporting requirements 
9. Progress and milestones evidence/reporting 
10. Future visits 

a. Annual Audit 
b. Progress visit 
c. Project closure visit 

11. Issues/Risks/Queries 
 

Annual Audit Visit (AAV) 

1. Review of Project files including asset register where applicable. 
2. Verification of claimed expenditure (minimum 20% sample) 

a. Grant 
i. Source documentation (invoices. payroll, etc.) 

ii. Procurement/ best value 
b. Match 

i. Source documentation 
3. Verification of milestones claimed, with evidence as agreed at PAV 
4. Verification of claimed outputs (minimum 20% sample), with evidence as agreed at 

PAV 
5. Contract variations 
6. Issues/Risks/Queries 
7. Re-profiling 

 
Progress Visit 

 
Carried out in addition to Annual Audit Visit where the non-delivery of the outcomes, spend 
or match if considered a risk. 

1. Verification of claimed outputs (minimum 20% sample) 
2. Agreed Action plan to resolve project non-delivery. 

Page 147



Version Date Created by Approval & Date Protectively Marked Page No 
1 20/4/22 R Rahim Tbc Not protectively marked 2 

 

Project Closure Visit (PCV) 

All projects where relevant 
 

1. Project evidence 
a. Grant Agreement 
b. Subsidy aid compliance (if applicable) 
c. Project variations/changes 
d. Claims and supporting evidence 
e. Outputs and supporting evidence 
f. Asset Register 
g. Document retention/storage 

 
2. Issues/Risks/Queries 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 148



Version Date Created by Approval & Date Protectively Marked Page No 
1 20/4/22 R Rahim Tbc Not protectively marked 1 

 

Project Approval Visit 

Project: XXXXXXXXXXXX 
Project Ref:       Date:                  

  

Attendees:  

Notes of Meeting 

1. SMBC’s role as the ‘Accountable Body’ 
Explain the division of future roles – PMO and AB Finance, post setup, between SMBC and 
Project applicant in relation to the fund.  SMBC, as the grant making body (“Accountable 
Body”), is responsible for grant approvals, contracts, processing grant claims; and ensuring 
compliance.  SMBC’s role is to also ensure the correct spending of public monies in line with 
statutory requirements 

 

 
2. Project Contacts and Project Update 

Check the detail of who will need to be recorded as a contact for project delivery and 
monitoring (Project Manager, finance, performance, data etc.) and who to address for 
various communications in practice 

Emphasis need for continuity if project contacts change – to inform us and provide internal 
handover 

 

ACTIONS: 

1.  

 
3. Project File & Document Retention 

Requirement to retain relevant documents for a period of 12 years after project closure, as 
per Partnership Agreement - documents include both financial documents and those relating 
to outputs. 

Explain that project need to keep evidence in project file either hard copy or electronically 
for access for internal/external audits and for accountable body monitoring visits – 
expectation that milestone and outputs evidence will be available to view at visit  

ACTIONS: 

To retain relevant documentation up to 31 March (XXXXX). 
 

 

Page 149



4. Future Data Sharing 

Agree to password protection of documents containing sensitive information with project.  
Agree a password e.g. project reference WBXXX. 

 

ACTIONS: 

 

 

5  Publicity and Branding 
As per your Partnership Agreement, during all stages, projects are required to comply with:  

1) Identity Guidelines;  

2) Town’s Fund requirements for the use of appropriate signage and logos at the Site; and 

3) SMBCs requirements to provide high-resolution images of the Project and the Site. 
 

Reference to Towns Fund Pubility Guidance (Appendix 1) 
 
The absence of or non-compliance with the Towns Fund identity requirements will be reported back 
to the Towns Fund Boards and will be treated as a breach of contract (your grant agreement) with 
Accountable Body, potentially triggering the clawback clause. 
 
There are no technical specifications as the guidelines are to have a “common sense” approach to 
how they are used and may differ depending on what the funding is being used for, so a prescriptive 
one size fits all is not the intention.     
 
NEW BUILD 

If the building is a new building as a result of funding from us, then it is expected that a sign 
would acknowledge this upon completion. How, what and where this is displayed is entirely 
up to the venue. Some prefer to display plaques outside, some in reception, on walls or desks 
etc. The basic rule of thumb for determining this is, if a Minister turned up at the building, 
would there be something they could stand next to for a photo!  
 
 

ACTIONS: 

 

 

6. Completion of claim 
 

Page 150



ACTIONS: 

 

 

7. Financial Evidence 
Note any HoT that are project specific or eligible expenditure etc 

Any budget breakdown to be discussed, informing applicant that they need to ensure 
contractors/applicant allocates costs as per budget in Patnership Agreement 
 
If there is a variance of +/- 10% on any budget line, rationale and explanation will be 
required and if there is a variance of +/- on the overall budget there will be a 
requirement to go back to Towns Boards if this is the case.  A summary of budget v 
actual costs will need to be submitted with each claim, also showing a rolling 
cumulative total. 
 
 
Review Grant, Match, Asset Register 

 

Partial recoverable VAT – Ensure project confirms rate by letter or email.  For projects 
crossing multiple years, this needs to be reviewed annually.  Confirmation required for any 
irrecoverable VAT claimed 

ACTIONS: 

 

 

8. Procurement  
Do they have their own policy? If not, follow the Council’s policy. 
3 quotes etc.  

ACTIONS: 

 

 

 

9. Mandatory Output Evidence & Reporting 

Page 151



See table on outputs in Appendix 1 & 3 and evidence required. 

 

ACTIONS: 

 

 

10. Additional Output Evidence & Reporting 
See table on outputs in Appendix 2. 

Discuss claim form completion for outputs 

 

ACTIONS: 

 

 

11. Monitoring Evaluations/Benefits 
See project targets Appendix 1. 

 

ACTIONS: 

 

 

12. Future Visits 
 Future visits would take on different formats and these would consist of: 

• An annual audit visit – this visit is carried out to undertake detailed checks on 
expenditure, progress and outcomes claimed.  

• Progress visit – this is less formal visit undertaken and is often carried out with the 
check the project progress against forecast expenditure and outputs- discuss any 
issues.    

• Project Closure visit – this would be undertaken at the end of the project to ensure all 
project information is kept on file and readily available should this be required. 

 

Page 152



 

13. Issues/Risks/Queries/AOB 
Check any other outstanding information required from Grantee 

ACTIONS: 

 

 

VISIT ACTION POINTS 

No Action point Owner  Status 

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

 

Page 153



Version Date Created by Approval & Date Protectively Marked Page No 
1 20/4/22 R Rahim Tbc Not protectively marked 6 

 

Milestones/Outputs/Outcomes 

Insert table from Full Business Case and add additional column headed - Agreed file evidence – 
suggestions for discussion  
This will require populating prior to visit 

Page 154



Appendix 1: Grant Agreement Overview 

Version Date Created by Approval & Date Protectively Marked Page No 
1 20/4/22 R Rahim Tbc Not protectively marked 7 

 

 

 

 

P
age 155



 

 

P
age 156



ANNEX 8 - CLAIMS PROTOCOL: 

1. The PMO will inform the Claims Monitoring Officer of Summary Document approval by 
DLUHC. 
 

2. Accountable Body Claims Monitoring Officer will issue Grant claim form (Appendix A) to 
project applicant with email guidance on completion. 
 

3. Project Leads to submit electronic claims returns with supporting evidence to Accountable 
Body Claims Monitoring Officer by the following date: 

Proposed Claim Dates  

Claim Period Project Claims 
deadline 

DLUHC Returns 

Up to March 2022 31st May 2022 1st June 2022 
Qtr 1 Apr- Jun 2022  10th July 2022 1st December 2022 
Qtr 2 Jul – Sep 2022 10th October 2022 
Qtr 3 Oct- Dec 2022  10th January 2022 1st June 2023 
Qtr 4 Jan-Mar2022  10th April 2022 

 

4.  Checking the claim:  

Initial Checks will be undertaken to ensure: 

• That the whole of the claim is completed, signed and outputs/milestones are 
updated.  Where it is an electronic signature, an email from the authorised 
representative supporting the claim must be received from the applicant. 

• General ledger sheet/transaction listing has been submitted. 
 
Where applicable: 

• Bank statements/evidence of defrayment required to support expenditure 
• Time sheets submitted for staff not spending 100% time on the project 
• Supporting evidence required for outputs, outcomes, milestones claimed. 
• Completion of procurement information. 
• Claims will be returned to Project Lead where there is missing information.  This 

will stop the payment clock of 21 days, until project leads respond to queries. 
 

Full Claim Checks 

• All invoices to reference Towns Fund Project and to reconcile to transaction list 
submitted 

• Timesheets, apportionments, hourly rates to be submitted for staff time, where 
applicable.  This is to be supported by salary information e.g. payslips, payroll 
transaction reports. 

• Where invoices do not refer to project, obtain confirmation from project that 
they relate to the project  

Page 157



• Items included in clam must be capitalised with revenue costs checked for 
eligibility. 

• Part claimed invoices must have apportionment rationale 
• Update of VAT status may be required where non-recoverable costs are claimed. 

E.g. if VAT status fluctuates year on year. 
 
Outcomes monitoring 

• Evidence to support claimed outputs/outcomes/milestones will be required with 
each claim.  Refer to Indicator Guidance see Appendix C 

• Where applicable, a sample of match funding claimed will be requested 
following claim 

If adjustments required, these are to be made on current claim being processed with 
a revised claim form submitted where applicable. 

Forecasting   
Projects are required to provide update forecasting for financial profiles and 
output/outcome targets 

Procurement   
Update procurement spreadsheet required where applicable  
 
Publicity  
Project PR articles to be forward to PMO 
 
Any queries to be raised with the Project Manager/applicant.  Ongoing issues to be raised 
with PMO.  If queries are taking longer to resolve, removing the item of expenditure from 
the current claim may be proposed  to allow payments to be made.   Once queries are 
resolved, the expenditure can be claimed in the following claim submitted. 
 

Once claim form has been checked and all information has been verified, the claim will be 
passed to the Approver (Senior Accountant) to sample check and approve the claim for 
payment.   
 

5.  Reconciling the Claims 
At the end the quarter, reconciliation of project claims will be made against the Councils 
Finance system to provide further assurance. 
 

6. Programme Management Office 

The Accountable Body Finance reps and PMO team will meet at least monthly to reconcile 
payments, review forecasts, issues, risks, and balance of advanced funding.  PMO will submit 
reports to Local Board on the progress of spend, achievement of outcomes and any changes 
to risk.   
 
Both the PMO and Finance will collate information from claims to support the monitoring 
returns requiring sign off by S151 Officer.  

Page 158



Highlight Report and Claim Form

Project Lead: [Insert Name here]

Organisation: [Insert organisation here]

Date: [Insert date here]

 Sandwell Council
 Council House
 Oldbury
 West Midlands
 B69 3DE

[Insert Project Title Here]

Page 159



Project Details

PROJECT STATUS

RAG KEY  'X' 
RED

AMBER

GREEN

Component RAG Status Owner

Schedule

Resourcing

Risks

Issues

Outputs

Outcomes

Total Budget Budget Spent to date Budget Remaining

[Insert Project Title Here]

Reasoning behind Project Overall Status
Please provide reasoning behind project overall status, including progress highlights.

Items for escalation to the Towns Fund Programme Management Office
Please detail items that require escalation to the Towns Fund Programme Management Office.

Overall Project Status

Commentary

Description

Overall Project Status Rating 
Please provide details of the projects overall status using the RAG key.

Project Component Status
Provide details of the project components status using the RAG key.

Budget

Page 160



Project Progress

SUMMARY AND CONTEXT FOR CURRENT STATUS

Project Delivery Procurement Finance Other

Project Delivery Procurement Finance Other

Project Delivery Procurement Finance Other

Due Date Milestone Revised Due Date Actual Date Achieved Commentary

[Insert Project Title Here]

Key Achievements for this period
Provide details of key milestones achieved this period by using the 'Actual Date Achieved' column. If key milestones were not met, or you foresee that future milestones will need to be pushed back, 
please provide a 'Revised due date' and enter commentary below.

Task Completed 
this period

Tasks Delayed 
this period

Tasks planned for 
next period

Summary of progress
Provide an update on project progress.

Page 161



Risks and Issues

RISK AND ISSUES

Reference Risk Description Risk Mitigation Status Owner Resolve By Date

Reference Risk Description Risk Mitigation Status Owner Resolve By Date

Issues Log
Please provide details of the issues affecting your project.

[Insert Project Title Here]

Red Risks Log
Please provide details of the red risks affecting your project.

Page 162



Grant Claim Form - Sandwell Towns Fund Programme

Period of Claim

Budget as per Agreement: Claimed to Date 
(1)

Claim for this period
(2)

TOTAL 
(1&2)

CAPITAL
Refurbishment £1,000.00 £1,000.00 £2,000.00
Construction Costs £1,000.00 £1,000.00 £2,000.00
Professional Fees £1,000.00 £1,000.00 £2,000.00
Capital Total (a) £3,000.00 £3,000.00 £6,000.00

REVENUE
Staffing Costs £0.00 £1,000.00 £1,000.00
Marketing £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
Revenue Total (b) £0.00 £1,000.00 £1,000.00

Total Grant Claim (a +b)* £3,000.00 £4,000.00 £7,000.00

Match Funding (c) £0.00 £1,000.00 £1,000.00

Total Grant Claim and Match Funding (a+b+c) £3,000.00 £5,000.00 £8,000.00

GRANT CLAIM CERTIFICATE

Authorised Signatory Name

Organisation

Signature

Name 

Position 

Date

This is an auditable document.  Where original forms are not submitted, claims with electronic signatures must be supported with 
email from the delegated signatory.

[Month, Year] - [Month, Year]

[Insert Project Title Here]

Instructions
Please complete the un-highlighted cells only.

Instructions
Please submit a transaction list of defrayed expenditure, supoprted with invoices for the value of the claim.

On behalf of (Project Applicant), this claim form details the Grant claim for the (Project Name) project.  I have recorded all details of 
eligible expenditure incurred (net of recoverable VAT), all funding received and details of outcomes achieved.  I have completed all 
sections of the claim form and I certify to the best of my knowledge and belief that:

6.     The Grantee confirms that all expenditure is Eligible Expenditure.

7.     The Grantee confirms that there are no Material Changes to the Project and/or the Eligible Expenditure and/or the estimated 
Project costs

1.     The information given is correct.

2.     No other grants, payments or contributions have been or will be made to (Project Applicant) for activity against which this claim is 
made.

3.     The expenditure has been incurred on implementing the Project in line with the grant approval by Sandwell Metropolitan Borough 
Council and DLUHC

4.     The grant claimed is within the Project’s limit for the Town Funds grant in this financial year and in all other ways complies with 
the conditions of Project approval.

5.     All information given in this claim is supported by appropriate evidence on which the claim can be checked and verified.

Page 163



Funding Breakdown - Sandwell Towns Fund Programme

Period of Claim

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8) (9)

TOWNS FUND GRANT CLAIM

  Agreed  Towns 
Fund Budget 

21/22 Claimed to date Forecast Claim 
this period Claim this Period

Variance this 
period 

(-under/+over)

Total Claimed to 
date Including 

this period

Balance of Grant 
to claim 21/22

Revised Annual 
Forecast 21/22

Variance to 
Annual Budget 
(-under/+over)

Towns Fund Capital Grant (A) 100,000.00 75,000.00 20,000.00 15,000.00 -5,000.00 90,000.00 -10,000.00 100,000.00 0.00
Towns Fund Revenue Grant (B) 25,000.00 0.00 0.00 5,000.00 5,000.00 5,000.00 -20,000.00 25,000.00 0.00
TOTAL GRANT CLAIM (A+B) 125,000.00 75,000.00 20,000.00 20,000.00 0.00 95,000.00 -30,000.00 125,000.00 0.00
Capital Match (C) 50,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 -50,000.00 50,000.00 0.00
Revenue Match (D) 1,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 -1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00
TOTAL MATCH (C+D) 51,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 -51,000.00 51,000.00 0.00

TOTAL GRANT AND MATCH 176,000.00 75,000.00 20,000.00 20,000.00 0.00 95,000.00 -81,000.00 176,000.00 0.00

Land 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Buildings 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Other Assets 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

FINANCIAL YEAR FORECAST

Financial Year Budget approved Qtr1 Qtr2 Qtr3 Qtr4 Total Variance Forecast V Budget

21/22 125,000.0000£    50,000.0000£       20,000.0000£       12,000.0000£       10,000.0000£       92,000.0000£      33,000.0000£      74%

22/23 200,000.0000£    0%

23/24 200,000.0000£    0%

24/25 200,000.0000£    0%

TOTAL 725,000.0000£    50,000.0000£      20,000.0000£      12,000.0000£      10,000.0000£      92,000.0000£      33,000.0000£      13%

Instructions
Please complete the un-highlighted cells only.
Please update with actuals where applicable

Please provide explanation of any slippage that has occurred/ forecasted with mitigations/ action plan to return to profile.  A forecast for the lifetime of the project is required below.

In-kind Resources

[Insert Project Title Here]

[Month, Year] - [Month, Year]

Instructions
Please complete the un-highlighted cells only.
Please include the total Towns Fund Claimed for this period 
Please report the cumulative totals from 1 April 2021.

Page 164



Outputs - Sandwell Towns Fund Programme

OUTPUTS

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8) (9)

Lifetime 
Target

2021/22
B/fwd 

Achieved to 
Date

Amount 
Claimed this 

period

TOTAL to 
C/fwd
(3+4)

Next Period 2021/22 Lifetime
Lifetime Variance 

(-under/+over)
(8-1)

Commercial Floorspace constructed (sqm) 10,498 0 0 0 -10498

FTE Jobs Created 25 0 0 1 1 -25

FTE Jobs safeguarded 2 0 0 0 -2

Area of land remediated (ha) 2.67 2.67 0 -2.67

Learners enrolled onto course 1,200.00 200.00 0 -1200

[Insert Project Title Here]

Instructions
Please complete the un-highlighted cells only.

Agreed Indicators Claimed Indicators Forecasted Indicators

Please provide explanation of any slippage that has occurred/ forecasted with mitigations/ action plan to return to profile.  

Mandatory Indicators

Local Measures

Page 165



Outcomes - Sandwell Towns Fund Programme

OUTCOMES

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8) (9)

Lifetime 
Target

2021/22
B/fwd 

Achieved to 
Date

Amount 
Claimed this 

period

TOTAL to 
C/fwd
(3+4)

Next Period 2021/22 Lifetime
Lifetime Variance 

(-under/+over)
(8-1)

0 0

0 0

0 0

0 0

0 0

Mandatory Indicators

Local Measures

Please provide explanation of any slippage that has occurred/ forecasted with mitigations/ action plan to return to profile.  

[Insert Project Title Here]

Instructions
Please complete the un-highlighted cells only.

Agreed Indicators Claimed Indicators Forecasted Indicators

Page 166



Procurement - Sandwell Towns Fund Programme

Company Name Company Location Method of Award Value of contract Date of award
Duration of 
contract

FTE Jobs created
FTE Jobs 
safeguarded

Drop down list

Cumulative contracts awarded

[Insert Project Title Here]

Page 167



The following information is required within the grant claim report template to support your claim:

  ·  Apportionment calculations and methodology, hourly rates etc
  ·  Timesheets 

 ·  Signed claim form

 ·  Transaction list - evidence of spend from your financial/accounting system to support your claim 

 ·  Copy of defrayed invoices /subcontractor certificates (with grant funded elements, apportion rate clearly highlighted where applicable)

      Where applicable:

OUTPUT SUPPORTING EVIDENCE

 ·  Beneficiary output list
 ·  Supporting evidence for outputs claimed

STAFF TIME ONLY

  ·  Payroll evidence 

The following evidence is required to support your claim where relevant:

  ·  Update of overall achievement
  ·  Progress against targets 
  ·  Reasons for slippage 
  ·  Forward plan of how targets will be achieved if slippage has occurred

GRANT CLAIM REPORTS

ALL CLAIMS

FINANCIAL SUPPORTING EVIDENCE

       ·   Match funding evidence
       ·   Details of contributions in Kind
       ·   Completed Asset Register

Page 168



Grant Claims Checklist  
Project Name:  
Project Applicant  
Claim Period  

 

Task Compiler 
1.  Grant Claim form signed, all tabs completed 

 
 

2. Transaction List Submitted 
 

 

3. Evidence of defrayal 
 

 

4. Copy of invoices, with apportionment where applicable, all invoices are 
eligible and comply with approved FBC spend 
 

 

5. Output evidence 
 

 

6. Match funding evidence (where applicable 
 

 

7. Forecast completed 
 

 

8. Update Programmes Monitoring Spreadsheet 
 

 

9. Invoice received and matches claim amount 
 

 

10. Date forwarded to Finance verifier (2nd check)  
  
(For Finance Second check)  

11. Minimum 10% check of invoices 
Amount checked: 

 

12. Where errors found, return to Claim compiler 
 

 

13. Date of approval 
 

 

  
 

Page 169



ADVANCE ON GRANT FUNDING  

The Accountable Body received 5% of the Capital element from the Towns Fund 
Programme to support advance works required in full business case development 
and preliminary works.  This funding was allocated following requests from Project 
Leads and approved by Finance.  Project Leads are to contact the PMO if further 
funds are required providing sufficient justification.  

In certain circumstances, it may be necessary to release fund to a project prior to 
receipt of an official award notice from the funding source. Utilisation of the 
Advanced funding process must be approved by email confirmation from Director of 
Regeneration and Growth. 

Establishing an advanced fund is appropriate only when certain conditions exist.  
Examples of such cases include, but are not limited to, recurring contracts from 
same state and local agencies, mid‐cycle of a multi-‐year project period, and grants 
or contracts where pre-award costs are allowable.  

An advanced fund can be established if the following conditions are met:  

• The Accountable Body has received confirmation of approved grant award or 
funds have already been received.  

• The Project Lead informs the Accountable Body at the outset of Full Business 
Case or Partnership Agreement, that advanced funding is required to begin 
preliminary works prior to approval. 

• There is an essential need to incur expenses in advance of the grant rather than 
arrears. 

• The Accountable Body concurs that the risks of releasing advanced funds are 
minimal 

• All due diligence has been completed with no outstanding actions  
• Partnership Agreement is signed by the Accountable Body and Project 

Applicant. 

The following restrictions apply to an advanced fund:  

• The Advanced Funding must only be used for the purposes of the costs as 

detailed in the Full Business Case. 

• The Advanced Funding Request Form must be completed, signed and dated 

along with a supporting invoice 

• At the end of the Quarter, the project applicant will submit a Grant Claim form, 

supported by defrayed invoices, a transaction list from the organisation’s 

ledger, asset register and any evidence of any outputs claimed. 

• Any advanced funds not utilised, must be returned to the Accountable Body 

where the project is not approved by DLUHC. 

• Project claims will be reconciled against any advanced funding already 

received by the project 

 

Page 170



 
Payments 

The Accountable Body will process the request and request any further information if 
appropriate. 

Once the request is accepted and approved, payments will be processed and within 
the Project applicants bank account within 5 working days.  

Page 171



 

Invoice for claim, defrayal 
evidence and copy invoices 

submitted 

Claim check  

Payment authorised by 
appropriate officer? 

PMO reports for Town Deal 
Board 

Notify claim amount to PMO 

Missing Information 

Unsatisfactory 
Evidence 

YES 

PMO to raise with 
Project Lead/Trigger’s 

change request 

Claim not in 
accordance with 

Partnership Agreement 

NO 

Advanced Funding 
Partnership Agreement 

Signed 

Page 172



Version Date Created by Approval & Date Protectively Marked Page No 
1 20/4/22 R Rahim Tbc Not protectively marked 1 

 

 
  

Annex 9 - Change Management Policy 
 
 
Purpose   
1. This document details the process that the Sandwell Metropolitan Borough 

Council (SMBC) follows to manage change on the Towns Fund Programme and 
forms part of the Towns Fund Assurance Framework. 

 
2. It is not unusual for circumstances to alter in such a way that a project can no 

longer be delivered as originally agreed, impacting project cost, schedule and/ or 
outputs/outcomes. The change control process is the process through which all 
requests to change the approved baseline of a project, are captured, evaluated 
and then approved, rejected or deferred. In the event of a variation to a project’s 
cost, schedule and/or outputs/outcomes the variation must be reported to the 
Programme Management Office who will support projects through this process. 

 
3. Understanding variations on individual projects within the programme is integral to 

successful programme management and ultimately the delivery of the benefits 
expected from the programme. 

 
4. These variations include when grant funding will be utilised by projects, to ensure 

programme expenditure targets are not impacted through individual project 
changes. 

 
5. Additionally, changes to individual projects may create a reputational risk to 

SMBC, which would need to be managed and may impact on delivery of other 
projects within other capital programmes. 

 
 
The Change Process 
 
6. Throughout the development of a project, Project Leads having been working in 

partnership with the Programme Management Team (PMO).  Any changes to the 
proposed project – from Strategic to Full Business Case – will be managed in a 
proportionate way. This may be through meetings or discussions to understand 
what changes are proposed and what their impact on delivering the proposed 
project will be.  

 
7. On approval of the Summary documentation and Monitoring & Evaluation Plans 

submitted to (DLUHC), funding allocations are committed to a project and the 
formal Change Management Policy comes into effect.

 
8. Upon the conclusion of the contracting stage and as part of the Project Approval 

Visit, the Project Lead will be informed of the Change Management Policy. 
 

9. In accordance with the Scheme of Delegation (Appendix A) should a variation 
occur on a project; the Project Lead must notify the PMO at the earliest 
opportunity. 

 
10.  At this point, the PMO will advise on how the change process will work and what 

action the Project Sponsor needs to take. Details of the format for reporting 
variations are provided within the ‘Recording Change’ section below. 

 
Page 173



Version Date Created by Approval & Date Protectively Marked Page No 
1 20/4/22 R Rahim Tbc Not protectively marked 2 

 

11. Effective handling of change requests is critical to the management of the Towns 
Fund programme. The thresholds make clear where responsibility lies for these 
decisions, providing a balance between the need for scrutiny and swift action. 

 
12. Where a major change is requested, which has a significant negative impact as 

detailed below, approval is required from SMBC Cabinet or appropriate 
person/group having delegated authority to make such decision:  

 
• Any changes to Mandatory Outputs/Outcomes or Heads of Terms 

 
• Time/schedule (more than £250,000 slippage over financial years);  

 
13. All change requests will be reported in accordance with the Scheme of Delegation 

included in Appendix A. 
 
14. In exceptional circumstances, contracted projects may, have their funding 

withdrawn and reallocated elsewhere within the programme, with approvals as 
per the Scheme of Delegation. 

 
15. This is likely to be an exceptional event where, following detailed discussion 

between SMBC as the Accountable Body and the Project Lead, a project can no 
longer deliver the planned benefits within an agreed timeframe, or can no longer 
be expected to deliver the agreed outcomes because of a change in external 
circumstances, often beyond their control. 

 
Recording Change 
 
16. There are a number of ways of reporting and recording changes to projects 

depending on the nature of the change. The PMO will advise on the most 
appropriate method to take. Reporting and recording change can take one or 
more of these forms: 

 
 
i. Project Adjustment Request – where changes will affect the outputs/ 

outcomes, time and/or cost of the project as detailed in the Partnership 
Agreement or approved change request, the Project Lead will need to notify 
the PMO and submit a formal change request at the earliest opportunity. This 
document will detail the change and enable the PMO, and Accountable Body 
to consider the effect of the change to the project, its impact on the 
programme and request any further information, prior to approval being 
sought.  The Project Adjustment Request form is shown in Appendix B 
 

i. File Notes – on occasion, minor variations to the agreed project parameters 
may not warrant a formal change request. There should still be clearly 
recorded as a change to what was agreed in the Business Case and 
Partnership Agreement. In these instances, following notification by the 
Project Sponsor of the change, the PMO will record the change reported and 
confirm this via email to the Project Sponsor. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 174



Version Date Created by Approval & Date Protectively Marked Page No 
1 20/4/22 R Rahim Tbc Not protectively marked 3 

 

ii. Project Claim Reports – this is how Project Managers report, on a quarterly 
basis, on the progress and status of their project.  Projects will be required 
provide forecasts on financial profiles, outcomes/outputs throughout the 
lifetime of the project.   This may include changes that may not require the 
formal change process i.e. slippage across quarters but not financial year.  
Projects should not wait until the next quarter returns to report significant 
changes.  Regular dialog the PMO is required to ensure that the correct 
process is followed.    

iii. Exceptions Report – where a project has experienced more significant 
change, an Exception Report will be presented to the Town Board/Cabinet for 
consideration. 
  

iv. Deed of Variation – Once the project is in contract, i.e. a signed Partnership 
Agreement or Service Level Agreement is in place. All project adjustment 
requests that are approved by Towns Fund Board and Accountable Body will 
also need to be supported by a variation to contract. This will be done via a 
Deed of Variation to the Partnership Agreement or reprofile offer letter for 
Internal projects. 

 
v. Reprofile Letter –The Accountable Body will issue reprofile letters signed 

by the Director of Regeneration and/or S151 following the closure of claims 
for the financial year. This is to reflect an updated position on spend, 
outcomes and milestones to future years. 

 
17. The Programme Management Office will support projects to manage and control 

change in order that they are able to meet the delivery of their projects in the most 
timely and cost-effective way, to deliver the agreed outputs and outcomes. 
 

18. A written/urgent procedure is included as part of the Boards Terms of Reference 
to allow urgent decisions to be made where change requests cannot wait until the 
next Local Board to be approved. 

 
 
 
Appendix A Scheme of Delegation 
Appendix B Project Adjustment Request Form 
 

Page 175



Version Date Created by Approval & Date Protectively Marked Page No 
1 20/4/22 R Rahim Tbc Not protectively marked 4 

 

  
APPENDIX A 

Type of Variation 
 

Scale of Variation Action Required Requires Local 
Board 
endorsement? 

Delegated Authority to 
approve 

Approval 
required from 
DLUHC 

Action following DLUHC 
approval 

Heads of Terms Any Changes to the Heads of Terms  
 

Submit Project 
Adjustment Request  

Yes 
 

Director of Regeneration 
& Growth in consultation 
with Cabinet Member and 
S151 Officer* 

Yes 
S151 sign off 
required 

Issue Deed of Variation 

Financial A decrease/increase of grant funds to be drawn 
down by the project which is less than £250,000 
A decrease/increase of grant funds to be drawn 
down by the project which is greater than £250,000 
 
 

Any decrease of match funding 
An increase in the match funding cost of the project 
without impact to the agreed funding for the project, 
the outputs/ outcomes or project completion 
 

Project lead to 
update PMO 

n/a Towns Fund Programme 
Manager 

No Issue Re-profile letter 
Report to Local Board 

Time/ Schedule Slippage of milestones with no effect on total grant, 
completion date, outputs/outcomes 
 

Update PMO No Towns Fund Programme 
Manager 

Tbc Issue Re-profile letter 
Report to Local Board 

Slippage of outcomes and/ or grant claim profile, 
requiring re-profiling across future financial years 
(under £250k) with no overall change to project. 
 
Over £250k 
 
 

Submit Project 
Adjustment Request 

Yes Towns Fund Programme 
Manager - 
 
 
Director of Regeneration 
& Growth in consultation 
with Cabinet Member and 
S151 Officer* 

Yes 
S151 sign off 
required 

Issue Re-profile letter 
Report to Local Board 

Outcomes/Outputs 
 

An increase in the outputs and outcomes of the 
project. 
 

Quarterly reporting 
by project lead 

No Towns Fund Programme 
Manager 

No Report to Local Board  

Any decrease to Mandator indicators outputs and 
outcomes of the project. 
 
 

Submit Project 
Adjustment Request 

Yes Director of Regeneration 
& Growth, in consultation 
with S151 Officer and 
Cabinet Member* 

Yes 
S151 sign off 
required 

Issue Deed of Variation 

Decrease to Local Measures – below 10% 
 
 
Above 10% 
 

Submit Project 
Adjustment Request 

Yes Towns Fund Programme 
Manager 
 
Director of Regeneration 
& Growth 

Tbc Issue Re-profile letter 

Other Changes to project contact information, administrative 
errors and others which have no impact to approved 
outcomes, outputs or grant. 
  

Inform Project 
Lead/PMO  

No Towns Fund Programme 
manager 

Tbc Update documentation 
and Local Board where 
applicable 

*(subject to May 22 Cabinet approval) 
 
 

P
age 176



Version Date Created by Approval & Date Protectively Marked Page No 
1 20/4/22 R Rahim Tbc Not protectively marked 5 

 

 
APPENDIX B 
 

     
    

 

A project adjustment form is required where changes may be need to be made after agreeing the final projects. 
Please liaise with your CLGU Area Lead and when ready submit the form to them for consideration. 
Please duplicate this tab for every project that is being adjusted.  

 
     Project details   Original proposal  Reason for change  

(where applicable)  
Details of change  

(where applicable)  
Details of how the Town Deal 

Board and relevant 
stakeholders have been 
consulted on changes 

Project name          

Project description including:  
- rationale and strategic fit with original Town 
Investment Plan;   
- how the project addresses need/opportunity; 
- alignment with other plans and strategies   

      

Outputs (where these vary or have reduced 
from your original proposal, please provide 
rationale for the change in column c) 

      

Outcomes (where these vary or have reduced 
from your original proposal, please provide 
rationale for the change in column c) 

      

Project completion date         
Towns Fund (£m) 
Please also complete Finance Annex 

      

Total project cost (£m)  
Please also complete Finance Annex 

      

Capital/revenue split  
Please also compete Finance Annex 

     

Financial profile 
Please also complete Finance  Annex  

      

     
I confirm that this request has been discussed with the Town Deal Board and the relevant Accountable Body, and they agree with this request. We will provide a value for 
money assessment and BCR at summary document stage.  
SIGNATURE OF S151 OFFICER      

NAME      
DATE      

 

P
age 177



Sandwell Council/Town Funds Programme (TFP) partnership 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Joint Publicity Protocol 
 

 

 

 
Background 

 
The effective and consistent management of communications within the Sandwell Council/Town Funds 
Programme (TFP) partnership is vital in supporting a successful roll-out of the projects and funds 
allocated to each town, as the messages and reporting of activities will impact upon the general public’s 
perception of the success of the service and the partnership. 

 
As we seek to raise the profile of the(TFP) partnership as well as protecting the brand and reputation, 
we will be identifying and taking up a growing number of opportunities to engage with stakeholders 
through third party events, the media, social networking as well as through campaigns and activities.   

 
While these interactions create new opportunities to enhance our profile they also bring responsibilities 
for us all, particularly when engaging with the media. 
 
Although the majority of these interactions will enhance the partnerships profile and represent little or no 
reputational risk for either the Council or (TFP) partnership, we have a responsibility to ensure that we 
support our staff and provide carefully managed communications throughout every aspect of the Town 
Funds Programme. 
 
The guidance in this document covers our engagement with the media, and protocol between Sandwell 
Council and (TFP) partnership. 
 
1. Definition 
 
This document refers to all media engagement whether proactive or reactive, broadcast or prints. This 
includes any reference to Sandwell Council or (TFP) partnership, where either partner is dual branded 
or mentioned where applicable, including: press releases, announcements, interviews, 
statements/comments and background briefings etc. 
 
2. Purpose 
 

• To manage the (TFP) partnerships brand and reputation nationally and locally within the 
Sandwell community. 

• To promote the innovation and benefits brought to the people of Sandwell by the partnership 

• To manage any potential crisis, through managed joint communications 
 
  

Page 178



Sandwell Council/Town Funds Programme (TFP) partnership 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Joint Publicity Protocol 
 

 

 

3. Principles 
 
Lead responsibilities 

1. In all cases, the other party is to be kept informed of enquiries, actions and feedback, and be 
invited where appropriate, to provide input and comment 

2. In all cases, press statements and releases will represent the project delivery as the ‘Partnership’ 
rather than apportioning responsibility and comments from either party. All enquiries will be 
allocated through the central point of the councils press office.   

 

4. Publicity Protocol Partnership Representation  
 

• The contact within the Council for work with the (TFP) partnership should ensure that this 
protocol is discussed at the partnership, taken back for approval by each partner, as 
appropriate, and adopted as a working method. If appropriate, other areas of work can be 
added. Variations to the protocol must be discussed with the communications team before it is 
adopted by the partnership.  
 

• The partners agree that:  
Publicity for each partnership project will be overseen by the organisation leading or co-
ordinating that initiative.  

 

• The leading or co-ordinating partner to draw up a timetable for publicity for the initiative to be 
communicated to the partners at partnership meetings, or by e-mail if deadlines cannot wait for 
the next meeting.  

 

• The leading or co-ordinating partner to provide the main spokesperson to be quoted in press 
releases and interviewed by print and broadcast media interviews. Other major partners to be 
invited to contribute quote for press releases (wherever possible this should be kept to a 
maximum of two quotes).  

 

• All partners to be issued with a draft of the publicity or promotional material with comments 
invited by a deadline. If comments are not received by the deadline the co-ordinating body to 
assume that it is OK to go ahead. Partners need to be aware that, due to media deadlines, 
notice may be short – but wherever possible at least 24 hours notice should be given for 
comments. Bearing this in mind, information should be e-mailed or faxed wherever possible.  

 

• All press and media statements will make it clear that decisions are being taken by the (TFP) 
partnership. 

 

Statements issued by Sandwell Council featuring quotes should read: 
Sandwell Council along with our Town Funds Programme partner XXX said XXX 
 
All press releases to include, or similar: “The Sandwell Town Funds Partnership exists to 
………… Its main activities are …………………. The Partners are (list of partners). For further 
information on the Town Funds Programme Partnership’s work visit www……….  
………………”.  

 

• Media coverage of initiatives to be collated and record kept by leading or co-ordinating partner 
for use in evaluation. 

 

Page 179



Sandwell Council/Town Funds Programme (TFP) partnership 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Joint Publicity Protocol 
 

 

 

• If the partner leading the initiative does not have the resources to carry out the above activities, 
another partner should be nominated to provide support.  

 

• Where possible quotes from from either the Chair of the Superboard or the Chair of the 
Local Board should be obtained for all press releases. 

 

5. Proactive Positive Communications 
 
From time to time, either the Council or (TFP) partnership will develop communications around 
positive activities and work being implemented. Typical examples of these would be the original roll 
out of the timescale and updates of the projects in each of the towns. This can include awareness 
raising.  
 
On such occasions, the ideal approach would be to work up the various communications pieces, 
e.g. press releases in partnership, with the instigating partner, taking the lead in preparing content 
that can be shared by Sandwell Council and vise-versa.  
 
However, in all cases, no material is to be published or distributed without the ‘sign-off’ of both 
partners, in terms of text and imagery approvals. 

 
 

6. Media Enquiries/Crisis Management 
 
If an event of potential concern occurs prior to a media enquiry formally, each partner will inform the 
other, to prepare them for a potential approach. 
 
The appropriate partner will prepare statements and responses according to the nature of the 
enquiry. Additional Q&A’s to be included if these are deemed to be helpful and address other 
predicted enquiries. A designated media contact or his/her substitute, for each partner will gain all 
internal approvals and be the single point of contact/approval between Sandwell and (TFP) 
partnership 
 
Each (TFP) partner will keep the other posted on their response. All final responses are to go to the 
Sandwell Council press office who will then conclude by sending to the journalist that made the 
original enquiry the response. All final responses will be issued by the press office to reflect 
ownership as a partnership. 
 
The councils press office will be responsible for briefing the relevant cabinet member regarding the 
enquiry.  
 
The designated media contacts for each partner from the commencement of the Town Funds 
Programme will be: 
 
 
Sandwell MBC: 
 
Sandwell Council press office team  
Tel: 07920 027723 (out of hours)   
E: harpreet_dhillon@sandwell.gov.uk or press_office@sandwell.gov.uk 

 

Add Town Fund Programme Partner details here (when funding has been confirmed and 
allocated) 

Page 180

mailto:harpreet_dhillon@sandwell.gov.uk
mailto:press_office@sandwell.gov.uk


Sandwell Council/Town Funds Programme (TFP) partnership 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Joint Publicity Protocol 
 

 

 

 
 
 

7. Press Coverage 
 
In all cases, be it proactive positive press articles or responsive negative all (TFP) partners will share 
coverage captured through various channels. This coverage will be distributed to selected 
stakeholders within both organisations, and assessed as part of the ongoing Communications Group 
meetings??. 
 
The objective will be to ensure more positive coverage is achieved throughout the duration of the 
programme. 
 
 
8. Spokespeople 
 
Each (TFP) partner will select its own spokespeople for quoting in statements/releases or for 
broadcast interviews. 
 
In Sandwell’s case, this will usually be the council’s Cabinet Member although on occasions other 
officers will be chosen. 

 
The designated media contact or his/her substitute for each partner will confirm the spokesperson for 
each occasion, prior to any statements or broadcast. 
 
9. Useful contacts 

 
 
 

Sandwell Council’s Authorised 
Representative - Tammy Stokes 

Tammy_Stokes@sandwell.gov.uk  

Portfolio holder/Cabinet member – XXX 
 

XXX 

Sandwell Council Chief Executive -
David Stevens 

David_Stevens@sandwell.gov.uk 

Town Fund Programme Manager Rebecca Jenkins 
Rebecca_jenkins@sandwell.gov.uk 
 

Sandwell Council Communications and 
PR Officer 

Harpreet Dhillon 
Harpreet_dhillon@sandwell.gov.uk  

Towns Fund Programme Management 
Office 

Emma Parkes 
Emma_parkes@sandwell.gov.uk 
 

 
 

  

Page 181

mailto:Tammy_Stokes@sandwell.gov.uk
mailto:Rebecca_jenkins@sandwell.gov.uk
mailto:Harpreet_dhillon@sandwell.gov.uk
mailto:Emma_parkes@sandwell.gov.uk


Sandwell Council/Town Funds Programme (TFP) partnership 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Joint Publicity Protocol 
 

 

 

 
 
 

Page 182



Version Date Created by Approval & Date Protectively Marked Page No 
1 20/4/22 R Rahim Tbc Not protectively marked 1 

 

Annex 11 - Communications and Engagement Plan 
 
1. Background 
 
This Communication and Engagement Plan helps set out how Sandwell Towns Boards will 
engage effectively with stakeholders, demonstrate the success of its work, ensure people 
understand what it does and change behaviour / perceptions where necessary. This will be 
done building on the Town Fund Guidance principles of: 
 
• Involve: Identify and involve the people/organisations who have an interest in the 
projects and developments. 
 
• Support: Identify and show how any barriers to involvement will be overcome. 
 
• Evidence: Gather evidence of the needs and available resources and use this to 
agree the purpose, scope and timescale of the engagement and the actions to be 
taken. 
 
• Design: Agree and use methods of engagement that are fit for purpose, and 
demonstrate engagement throughout the project lifetime / Town Deal Fund. 
 
• Work together: Agree and use clear procedures that enable the participants to work 
with one another effectively and efficiently. 
 
• Share information: Ensure necessary information is communicated between the 
participants to make informed decisions. 
 
• Work with others: Work effectively with others who are already or could help with 
engagement for example the voluntary and community sector, social enterprises or 
relevant public sector bodies. 
 
• Improve: Consider further developing the skills, knowledge and confidence of all 
Participants. 
 
• Feedback: Implement process to feed back the results of engagement to the wider 
community and agencies affected, and show the impact this engagement has had. 
 
• Evaluate engagement: Monitor and evaluate whether the engagement achieves its 
purposes and adjust as necessary. 
 
To oversee this Plan, the Local Boards may establish  a Communications and Engagement Sub-
Group is made up of relevant Board Members and supporting officers from Sandwell Council. 
 
 
 
 

Page 183



Version Date Created by Approval & Date Protectively Marked Page No 
1 20/4/22 R Rahim Tbc Not protectively marked 2 

 

2. Communications and engagement vision and objectives 
Overarching vision statement for communications and engagement: 
 
• The vision is for all members of Sandwell Town Board and Project Leads to: 
 
• Talk in one unified voice that aligns to the board’s vision, aspirations and 
goals and wider Sandwell narrative as set out in the Sandwell Town Investment Plan. 
 
• Increase awareness, understanding and engagement on the Town Deal with 
our audiences. 
 
• Create a compelling, narrative for the projects to encourage everyone to tell the same 
powerful story about Sandwell and its positive future. 
 
• Engage with the press, broadcast and digital media to enhance perceptions, Town Deal Board, 
its responsibilities and the projects it is overseeing. 
 
Strategic objectives: is for all members of Sandwell Town Boards and Project Leads to: 
 
• Help build a positive reputation - all communications seek to address any negativity around 
the projects through an authentic voice and regular publication of positive content, which 
showcases Sandwell’s present and future transformation and highlights upcoming actions 
taking place around Sandwell’s regeneration. 
 
• Have one unified voice - through communications, all partners will showcase the vision and 
positive direction the programme is moving in, developing trust and belief in the messaging 
• Deliver evidence of the communication and engagement taking place to satisfy any 
government requirements and showcase the journey being undertaken by local communities. 
 
• Ensure a consistent approach to all external communications activity relating to the work of 
the Board and the Sandwell Town Deal projects. 
 
• Effectively engage with all appropriate stakeholder groups. 
 
• Raise the profile of the Board and promote the Investment Plan ambition’s vision and plans 
for Sandwell. 
 
3. Communications approach 
 
SMBC is the accountable body for Sandwell Towns Fund. The Board is made up of cross-
sectoral community representatives from the public, private and voluntary 
sectors and, as such, is reflective of the ‘partnership working’ that is helping underpin the 
regeneration of Sandwell. 
 

Page 184



Version Date Created by Approval & Date Protectively Marked Page No 
1 20/4/22 R Rahim Tbc Not protectively marked 3 

 

The PMO will support the Local Boards, Project Leads and any sub groups  by identifying and 
agreeing: 
 
• A clear set of procedures and protocols for issuing communications – as well as the 
channels via which they will be issued. 
 
• An agreed set of key messages with an authentic voice will underpin all 
communications and engagement activity and will be reviewed as the projects evolve 
 
• The key milestones in each project and a programme of regular communications on 
agreed subjects. Once established (and developed as each project progresses, to maximise 
opportunities) this will enable all board members to see what activity is planned and the 
positive messaging that is being used. 
 
• How best to support the Boards to maintain relationships with key stakeholders and 
identify opportunities to maximise these relationships. 
 
• The communications messaging, to showcase how the Boards have involved the 
communities of Sandwell in the projects, with the aim of highlighting a ‘people-centred 
approach’ 
 
• All communications activity – whether delivered as a group or individually – 
considers the wider ‘Sandwell story’ and any potential reputational risks 
 
To keep the Board up-to-date on all actions undertaken, a quarterly 
Communication Plan update will be reported to the Town Deal Boards as per the template in 
Appendix A, to enable ongoing review and coordination during the programme. 
 
4. Communications and Engagement Action Plan 
 
The PMO will support the Local Boards in implementing the communications strategy by 
developing the Town Board brand, create the individual project communications plans and 
support project leads in delivering them. 
 
Initial priorities  
 

What How/Who By When 
Identify membership of communications and 
engagement subgroup 
 

Local Board  
 
 

June 22 

Agree / suggest amends of the draft 
Communications strategy 
 

Local Board/Programme 
Board 
 

June 22 

Identify and map out the communication and 
engagement channels already held– including 
active social media accounts, 
websites/webpages, stakeholder relationships 
and media contacts  of Sandwell communication 

tbc tbc 

Page 185



Version Date Created by Approval & Date Protectively Marked Page No 
1 20/4/22 R Rahim Tbc Not protectively marked 4 

 

 
Begin work to create a brand for the Board 
and its work 
 

tbc tbc 

Draft and agree a boiler plate to be used 
where necessary in communications 
A boiler plate is a statement set in stone 
that should be agreed by the Board as a 
solid, unchangeable statement to be used 
by all Comms sub-group for Town Board 
endorsement 
 

Update of Towns Fund 
Publicity Protocol 

tbc 

Agree all key messages for each Project Project Leads/PMO tbc 
Identify the key project milestones 
and establish a clear timeline of 
communication activity that supports 
the work of Sandwell Town Board 
 

Project Leads/PMO May 22 

 
 
 
 
 
5. Roles and responsibilities 
 
Local Board Chair – final sign off for all communications and engagement activity 
PMO/Communications and engagement sub-group – Agree and implement 
the communications and engagement approach and work together to draft and issue the 
subsequent activity/communications products 
Project Comms leads – To work with PMO and project leads to identify project milestones, 
appropriate audiences, messaging and channels in advance 
 SMBC Comms Team – Can advise on the strategic communications and engagement approach 
and draft core communications material on behalf of the board, with input from sub-group 
members 
Branding SMBC can be consulted for queries about using the brand (once developed) and its 
assets 
Website – PMO to be responsible for updating Towns Fund Website. Microsite to be updated 
by internal project leads and PMO on behalf of external projects. 
 
6. Procedures and protocols 
The general approval process for media releases will need to be in compliance with the 
following: 

• Press releases should include the descriptions detailed in government guidance - 
Notes to Editors. MHCLG press office will be provided with advance notice of 
announcements and press releases, via NewsDesk@communities.gov.uk whilst also 
copying in our Area Lead / FHSF Delivery Support Manager. For expedience, fully 
drafted press releases should be provided. 
 

Page 186



Version Date Created by Approval & Date Protectively Marked Page No 
1 20/4/22 R Rahim Tbc Not protectively marked 5 

 

• Board members retain the right to make comment and carry out media interviews in 
their personal capacity. However, in doing so, members should be mindful of their 
position on the Board and how their comments could impact on the Board’s work 
and the strategic objectives set out in this strategy 
 

• All requests for interview/comment by the media, specifically regarding the Board as 
a whole, should be directed to the PMO in the first instance. No 
interview should be carried out before doing this. A decision will then be made by 
SMBC on who will lead and respond to that enquiry. The response should receive 
final sign off by the Chair and then be issued by the appropriate organisation. 
 

• A full briefing can be provided by SMBC Communications for those giving 
interviews/comment 

  
All communications activity regarding the Board approved by the Local Board Chairs 
Communications should not be issued without the Chair’s prior approval. 
 
At the first opportunity, Board members should raise any potential reputation issues that 
could impact on the work of the Board or wider regeneration of Sandwell so that positive 
action can be taken. 
 
Key opportunities for positive communications and engagement activity will be 
identified by the Local Board and PMO as the projects progress and 
incorporated into the timeline of planned activity. 
 
As a general rule, quotes in press releases will be attributed to the Board’s Chair/Vice Chair. If 
related to specific projects or thematic groups, a decision will be taken by the sub-group and 
Board Chair as to who the quote should come from and also be as follows: 
 
1. Press release drafted by SMBC communications team or lead project communications 
officer, following discussions with the sub-group 
2. First draft sent to comms sub-group member for comments and their subsequent 
approval following any amends 
3. Send to SMBC, as the accountable body, for comments and sign-off 
4. Send to Board chair for comments and final sign-off 
5. Final draft shared with all Board members and the sub-group before being issued to 
the media – this will be done at least two hours before issuing to the media (unless 
there is an exceptional circumstance which requires the comms to be issued without 
delay). 
6. It is the Chair’s decision whether or not to incorporate any suggested 
amends/feedback given by board members into the release. If they do wish to 
comment, board members are asked to do this within two hours of receiving the 
draft to avoid delaying the process of issuing comms. 
 
In the short term: 
• All media releases issued by the Board will be focused on the work planned to deliver the 

Page 187



Version Date Created by Approval & Date Protectively Marked Page No 
1 20/4/22 R Rahim Tbc Not protectively marked 6 

 

projects and will be agreed by the sub-group 
• Press releases solely regarding the Board will be issued by Sandwell Council 
communications team, with a note that it is issued on behalf of the board 
• Press releases that discuss the wider Sandwell narrative but reference the board should 
instead incorporate the agreed boiler plate and be issued by the lead organisation (these 
are still subject to the comms sub-group’s input and sign-off by the chair) 
• Any quotes included in press releases are subject to the related organisation’s own 
approval processes and the time to achieve this should be factored into the planning 
process for communications activity 
Longer term 
• Media relations including press releases and enquiries will be divided up based on project 
leads. The comms sub-group will also allocate resources based on the projects. 
 
7.  Key messages 
 
• Sandwell is one of 101 towns who put forward a bid for funding from the government’s 
Towns Fund, which will be available to spend up to 2026 
 
• The bid was successful, and Sandwell is now able to deliver a variety of capital projects to 
help boost the ’s long-term economic growth and development 
 
• The bid was the chance for the people of Sandwell to help shape their ’s future. Through 
discussions with the community, Sandwell Town Board has developed a vision and strategy 
that will shape the transformation of Sandwell over the coming years 
 
• Sandwell has grown significantly in recent years and so much has already been achieved. But 
we now have an opportunity to carve out a new chapter and help to ensure the Sandwell 
reaches its full potential. 
 
• This is a great opportunity to help raise the standards of living for people working and 
living in Sandwell 
 
• Securing this funding for Sandwell enables us to deliver against the current strategy and 
vision for Sandwell to support future prosperity based on the needs and wants of Sandwell 
people. 
 
8. Communication channels 
 
Traditional media outlets have shifted content to digital platforms via mainstream media 
and community websites and media owned social media accounts. The pace of publishing 
new stories continues to increase. This requires much quicker responses and additional 
content (images, video, statements) to support engaging positive content. 
 
There is the expectation that the Town Board projects will provide better content for 
reporters as they experience expectations on pace of publishing content. 
Increasingly our audiences are also gathering news online from sites and social media aimed 

Page 188



Version Date Created by Approval & Date Protectively Marked Page No 
1 20/4/22 R Rahim Tbc Not protectively marked 7 

 

at specific demographics and communities around interest, lifestyle or geography/place. 
 
We need to be where our audience is, so it is proposed that a focus is given to digital media, 
therefore devising planned communications which embrace digital methods of communication. 
 
This will include appropriate hashtags to be used, such as #SandwellTownDeal, #TownsFund, 
#SmethwickTownsFund when describing or promoting the projects, and at key milestones, to 
enable people to identify posts specifically related to those specifically being undertaken in 
Sandwell. 
 
Tagging DLUHC in our content will also be undertaken using the handle, across all platforms, 
of @DLUHC on: Twitter, Facebook, and Instagram. Posted content will be re-tweetable by the 
Communities Secretary, Minister for Regional Growth and Local Government and DLUHC, 
allowing others to follow project development. 
 Sandwell Website – A Town Deal page has been set up and is available via this link Sandwells 
Towns Fund  
 
Information that can be accessed from this page includes: 

• Downloadable copy of Town Investment Plan 
• Description of the Town Board’s role 
• Minutes of the Town Board meetings 
• Description of the council’s role as accountable body 
• Progress summaries and updates of all Town Deal Projects 

 
 

9. Our audiences 
• Partner organisations 
• All of the partners’ workforces 
• Residents of Sandwell 
• Visitors to Sandwell 
• Community groups 
• Voluntary sector organisations/third sector 
• Businesses / Business groups  
• Regional government 
• National government – see item. 10 
• Funding bodies 
• Local, regional and national media 
• Online media 
• Specialist/trade media 
• Representative bodies including LGA and Key Cities 
• Regeneration partners 
• Investors 
• Developers 
 
10. Communication with national government (DLUHC) 

Page 189

https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/info/200193/council/4490/sandwell_towns_fund
https://www.sandwell.gov.uk/info/200193/council/4490/sandwell_towns_fund


Version Date Created by Approval & Date Protectively Marked Page No 
1 20/4/22 R Rahim Tbc Not protectively marked 8 

 

 To comply with the government’s guidelines, Sandwell Council, as the accountable body, along 
with the Local Boards and any communications and engagement sub-group, will ensure that: 
 

• DLUHC is given as much advance notice as possible (at least two weeks) of 
announcements and milestone events to allow quotes to be arranged for any media 
releases 

• Relevant descriptions provided by DLUHC in its guidance are used in media releases 
• Ministers and DLUHC Area Leads / Delivery Support Managers (and other relevant 

policy departments such as DfT) are invited to any landmark events 
• The appropriate logos provided by DLUHC are on display as set out in government 
• guidance 
• The dedicated DLUHC Area Lead / Delivery Support Manager is informed of any 

upcoming project milestones and planned communications activity, to feed into 
DLUHC’s monthly milestone reporting 

• Ministerial quotes are provided for media releases where appropriate, following the 
agreed process for seeking a quote, sending draft media releases to the Area Lead/ 

• DLUHC is notified of programmed communication events, allowing the opportunity 
for any Ministerial attendance if required. Ministerial departments will endeavour to 
tweet support or retweet our tweets when Ministerial attendance is not possible. 
 
 

11. Branding 
Communications should be mindful of the place brand – and therefore narrative - for 
Sandwell to ensure consistent messaging, in addition to the ‘wider story’ for the borough. 
A strong brand family is critical communicating a cohesive narrative and core messages in a 
consistent and compelling way to all our audiences. The brand is more than a logo, look and 
feel, colour, font and style guidelines. But at the same time this use of a consistent approach 
is all part of creating recognition and trust. 
 
The branding of the work being undertaken by the Town Deal Board can support other 
objectives for partners, most of which are firmly linked to economic development and the 
support you provided to local businesses. It can help promote Sandwell as a visitor 
destination, attract new business and inward investment and promote pride among the 
Sandwell residents. 
 
Government has produced a document which is clearly aimed at helping the Board (or  
sub-group) create its brand. This document can be found on the government website as 
follows: insert link 
 
12. Evaluation / measures 
Social media metrics: 
• How many people are we reaching with our messages? 
• User engagement – clicks on calls to action 
• Organic reach and impressions 
• Increase in followers 
• Shares 

Page 190



Version Date Created by Approval & Date Protectively Marked Page No 
1 20/4/22 R Rahim Tbc Not protectively marked 9 

 

Websites: 
• Visitor numbers and dwell time on specific priority web pages 
• Email click-through acting on a call to action 
Media releases and statements – coverage in and on local media 
• Positive media coverage in articles – online and print 
• Improved ‘sentiment’ – qualitative analysis where we are working on developing 
positive opinion on each particular project 
• Resident awareness of the Board, the Deal and the projects – from council resident 
satisfaction survey 
Engagement: 
Consultation surveys and customer feedback 
 
 
13. Monitoring 
 The PMO on behalf of the Accountable body, will report annually on the implementation 
of the communication plan as part of the ongoing assurance process. 

Page 191



Version Date Created by Approval & Date Protectively Marked Page No 
1 20/4/22 R Rahim Tbc Not protectively marked 10 

 

Appendix A Communication Plan Template 
Quarterly Town Board Communications Plan Update 
 

Project Key Milestone Comms Lead 

Digital Den Renovation complete 
Launch Event 

Wendy Brookfield 

Sandwell MEC 
Construction works commence 
Construction works complete 
Launch/opening of building 

Roland Barrett-Price 

Urban Greening 

Phase 1 works commence 
Phase 1 works complete 
Phase 2 works commence 
Phase 2 works complete 

Joshua Singh 

Town Hall Quarter 

Town Hall Bell Tower works 
complete 
Construction Works Commence 
Construction Works Complete 

Mark Evans 
Jane Lillystone 

Retail Diversification 

Acquisition of Kings Square 
Acquisition of Queens Square 
Relocation of Indoor Market 
Demolition works commence 
Demolition Works complete 

Alexander Oxley 

West Brom Connected 

Phase 2 works commence 
Phase 2 works complete 
Phase 3 works commence 
Phase 3 works complete 
Phase 4 works commence 
Phase 4 works complete 
Phase 5 works commence 
Phase 5 works complete 

Andy Miller 
Wayne Moore 

Ron Davis Centre Expansion 
On site works commence 
Building works complete 
Classrooms operational 

Erroll Blackwood 

Midland Met 

Construction commence 
Construction complete 
Launch Event 
Training delivery commences 
 

Austin Bell 

Grove Lane Regeneration 

Site works commence 
Site works commence 
Post Demolition works commence 
Post Demolition Works complete 

Hayley Insley 

Rolfe St Regeneration 

Site works commence 
Site works complete 
Post Demolition works commence 
Post Demolition Works complete 

Hayley Insley 

Smethwick Connected 

Phase 2 works commence 
Phase 2 works complete 
Phase 3 works commence 
Phase 3 works complete 

Andy Miller 
Talvinder Sandhu 

Page 192



Version Date Created by Approval & Date Protectively Marked Page No 
1 20/4/22 R Rahim Tbc Not protectively marked 11 

 

Phase 4 works commence 
Phase 4 works complete 
Phase 5 works commence 
Phase 5 works complete 

Brittania Park On site works commence 
On site works complete 

Johnr Satchwell 

Canal Network Site works commence 
Site works complete 

James Dennison 

Rowley Regis Satellite Education 
Hub 

Construction commences 
Construction completed 
Launch Event/Building opening 

Roland Barrett-Price 

Blackheath Bus Interchange 
Construction commences 
Construction completed 
 

Andy Miller 

Rowley Regis Connected 

Phase 1 works commence 
Phase 1 works complete 
Phase 2 works commence 
Phase 2 works complete 
Phase 3 works commence 
Phase 3 works complete 

Andy Miller 
Chad Smallman 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 193



Version Date Created by Approval & Date Protectively Marked Page No 
1 20/4/22 R Rahim Tbc Not protectively marked 12 

 

 

  2022       
  Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 2023 2024 2025 

Digital Den   Renovation 
complete Launch Event                   

Sandwell MEC     
Purchase of 
Shaftesbury 

Site 
  

Construction 
works 

commence 
      

Construction 
works 

Complete 

Operational set 
up     

Urban 
Greening 

Phase 1 
works 

commence 
      

Phase 1 
works 

complete 
        Phase 2 works 

complete 

Phase 2 
works 

complete 
  

Town Hall 
Quarter       

Town Hall 
Bell Tower 
complete 

works 

    
Construction 

works 
commence 

      
Construction 

works 
complete 

  

Retail 
Diversification     Acquisition 

Kings square           
Acquisition 

Queens 
square 

Relocation of 
indoor market 

complete 

Demolition 
works 

complete 
  

West Brom 
Connected       Phase 2 

commence   Phase 3 
complete       

Phase 3 
commence & 

complete 
Phase 4  Phase 5 

Ron Davis       On site works 
commence   

Building 
works 

complete 
      Classrooms open 

and operating     

Midland Met                     

Construction 
works 

commence & 
complete 

  

Grove Lane 
Regeneration       Acquisition 

complete   Site works 
commence       Site works 

complete     

Rolfe St 
Regeneration                   

Site works 
commence & 

complete 
    

Smethwick 
Connected 

Phase 3 
commence 

Phase 3 
complete               

Phase 2 
commence 

Phase 3 
complete 

Phase 5 
commence 

Phase 4 
commence & 

complete 

Phase 5 
complete 

Brittania Park         Site works 
commence         Site works 

complete     

Canal 
Network                   

Site works 
commence & 

complete  
    

Rowley Regis 
Satellite 
Education 
Hub 

              
Construction 

works 
commence 

    
Building 

complete and 
opening 

  

Blackheath 
Bus 
Interchange 

              
Detailed 
design 

complete 
  Works 

commence 
Works 

complete   

Rowley Regis 
Connected                   

Phase 1 
commence & 

complete 

Phase 2 
commence & 

complete 

Phase 3 
commence & 

complete 

 

P
age 194



 
 

 
   

SANDWELL TOWNS FUND 
 

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND INVOLVEMENT STRATEGY  
Version 03 

 

  
Consultation and Engagement Statement 
 
The following statement was agreed by the Towns Fund Superboard: 
 
This stakeholder engagement plan will clearly outline an inclusive stakeholder list and communication 
strategy as to ensure a transformational, locally driven and community owned submission to the Town 
Fund for Sandwell’s three towns. 
 

 
Purpose of Consultation and Engagement Strategy 
 
The purpose of the Consultation and Engagement Strategy is to consider how stakeholders will be 
involved in the development of  Sandwell Town Funds Programme. The stakeholders will be involved 
in the design and development of a sustainable future for the towns of Rowley Regis, West Bromwich 
and Smethwick. 
 
Stakeholders are being engaged to seek their involvement and views to shape and deliver the best 
solutions to meet the needs of local communities. 
 
The Consultation and Engagement Strategy is aimed at a wide range of businesses and 
stakeholders; the engagement and consultation techniques used will vary depending on which 
method would be the most effective for each group involved in the process and the stage of the 
programme. 

 
Towns Fund Background 
 
As Sandwell Council embarks on an exciting period of transformation, inward investment and 
expansion. A significant opportunity has arisen to secure funding from Towns Fund in three of 
the six towns in Sandwell.  
 
In 2019, The Government announced that West Bromwich, Smethwick and Rowley Regis were 
invited to bid for up to £25m each of funding to deliver interventions in planning and 
regeneration, skills and enterprise infrastructure, and connectivity (transport and digital). 
 
The benefits of gaining funding from the Programme will contribute to the Sandwell 2030 Vision 
and economic growth in the towns through linking to existing integrated regeneration strategies. 
There are also wider benefits to be realised by the towns achieving stronger heritage, a sense 
of place and by cultural and civic assets benefiting. Leading to increasing tourism and making 
places more attractive to live, work, visit and invest in. 

 
  

Page 195



 
 

 
   

 
Sandwell Towns Fund Boundaries – West Bromwich, Smethwick and Rowley 

Regis 

 

Page 196



 
 

 
   

TOWN FUND PRIORITIES AND OUTCOMES  
 
Towns Fund is focused around 3 themes:  
 

• Urban Regeneration, Planning and Land use: ensuring towns are thriving places for 
people to live and work, by: increasing density in town centres; strengthening local 
economic and cultural assets; site acquisition, remediation, preparation, regeneration 
and use of planning tools to bring strategic direction and change. 

• Skills and Enterprise Infrastructure: driving private sector investment and ensuring 
towns have the space to support skills and small business development.  

• Connectivity: local transport schemes complementing regional and national networks, 
improved digital connectivity (5G and Fibre). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND INVOLVEMENT PRINCIPLES  
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

• We will work together to deliver services and 
make the decisions together.Co-deliver

• We will work together to define issues and 
design the best responses.Co-design

• We will work together through effective and 
meaningful structures.Engagement Structures

• We will consult by completing informal and 
formal consultations to influence decisions.Consultation

• We will engage by sharing information and 
utilising social media.Information

• We will engage in relation to statutory or 
regulatory requirementsCompliance

•All consultations and engagements were completed 
within government guidance and guidelines.Social distancing

Page 197



 
 

 
   

 
STAKEHOLDER CONSULTATION 
 
The programme will follow the Government’s Towns Fund Guidance and ensure that 
planned interventions are consulted with local people and where possible communities are 
part of producing originating ideas, setting objectives and the longer-term vision. 
 
One of the key elements of the Town Funds guidance are that there should be ongoing 
engagement and genuine partnership arrangements. The town boards (Superboard and 
Local Boards) have a cross-section of people that reflect a broad range of groups and 
communities across Sandwell.  
 
Evidence from previous Neighbourhood and Regeneration Programmes in Sandwell has 
demonstrated that consulting with local communities from the outset is likely to lead to a 
sense of pride and connectivity to projects following their completion. This then positively 
impacts upon local communities benefiting more widely from the overall outcomes of the 
programme. 
 
The stakeholder engagement strategy plan has been revised in light of Covid-19 to reflect 
that there will be a much greater emphasis on completion of engagement through virtual 
methods and via social media, but where possible we will try to facilitate face to face 
engagement. 
 
As there has been increased levels of community action and volunteering since the start of 
the pandemic across Sandwell, it is anticipated that there will be an opportunity to reflect 
new and emerging priorities in local Neighborhoods and in the final Town Investment plans. 
We will ensure that the community consultation and engagement is completed sensitively 
and appropriately to facilitate physical and social connectivity and diversity across the three 
towns. 
 
A stakeholder mapping exercise has been completed to identify stakeholders and 
select appropriate methods for engagement and consultation.  
 
Key major stakeholders are brought together within the programme governance as 
participants of the Towns Fund Superboard, or three Local Boards all of which will be 
chaired by people independent of the Council. 
 
The first phase of the Towns Fund Programme ran from March 2020 – October 2020. This 
Phase lead to the creation of a Town Investment Plan (one for each Town). This Phase of 
the programme was split into two key stages. 
 

Stage 1  
Ideas Generation (Evidence base compiled, local priorities for Towns Fund identified 
and Ideas generated for interventions) 
 
Stage 2 
Investment Development (Development of outline business case for Interventions and 
compilation of Town Investment Plan (TIP)) 

Page 198



 
 

 
   

 
The nature of consultation and engagement differed during each of these stages. 
 
Stage 1  
During Stage 1, the project team undertake a broad ranging stakeholder consultation in 
each of the 3 towns with key identified stakeholders and listened to local residents and 
community groups by gaining their views on local priorities and ideas for improvements. 
 
The project team drew heavily on existing data and consultation (e.g. gathered through 
Vision 2030 consultation, through the formation of the Inclusive Economy Deal and regular 
survey work such as the SHAPE survey for young people).  
 
The Government’s MyTown website was established at the start of the Towns Fund 
Programme and many local residents have already engaged with this forum to offer ideas. 
We will continue to review content on the MyTown website. 
 
Stage 2  
During Stage 2, proposed projects became more defined and explored project feasibility 
and viability. At this stage engagement and consultation was used in a more targeted way 
to shape the interventions and test their feasibility and acceptability. 
A young people’s virtual reference group was to be established to conduct engagement 
with young people and to support the Superboard and Local Boards. In addition, a young 
person’s representative was supported to participate in the Superboard and Local Board 
meetings. 
 
Stage 3 
 
During the delivery phase of the programme, ongoing stakeholder engagement and 
consultation will be undertaken in accordance with agreed Engagement Plans that projects 
submitted as part of their Full Business Case.  This will allow continued involvement of local 
communities and resident in understanding and getting involved with projects as they are 
delivered throughout the lifetime of the project. 

Page 199



 
 

 
   

Engagement Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Superboard  
Members 

 

 

 

Actively Engaged with Towns Fund Programme 

Strategic direction for the Town Funds programme  

Shape and Approve Town Investment Plans  

 

 

 

Stage 1 & 2  

• Virtual Meetings and Workshops 
• 1-2-1 discussions  

 
 

 Local Board 
Members 

Smethwick  

Rowley Regis 

West Bromwich  

 

 

 

Actively Engaged with Towns Fund Programme 

Developing the strategy and vision for the town  

Develop the Town Investment Plan 

Ongoing Programme and project monitoring 
throughout delivery phase 

 

Stage 1 & 2  

• Virtual Meetings and Workshops 
• Surveys  
• 1-2-1 discussions  

Stage 3  

• Delivery and updates on progress 

 
Elected Members 

(incl. MPs, Cabinet 
Members, Town Chairs 

and Ward Members) 

 

 

 

 

Active Engagement & Keep Informed 

Local knowledge of priorities and connection to 
residents and other stakeholders  

 

 

Stage 1 & 2 
 

• 1-2-1 meetings 
• Town based meetings and workshops with all ward members 

in West Bromwich, Smethwick and Rowley Regis. 
• Surveys Briefing Pack 

Stage 3 

• Delivery and updates on progress via Town based meetings 

 

Key Stakeholder 
Group 

 

Engagement Responsibil it ies Methods of Engagement 

P
age 200



 
 

 
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

SMBC Internal 
Stakeholders  

(incl. Leadership Team, 
Service Managers, and 
Officers working in the 
Towns Fund Towns)  

 

 

Active Engagement & Keep Informed 

 

Stage 1 & 2 

• Officer Group discussion and communications 
• Leadership Team discussion 
• SMBC staff briefings and discussion 
• SMBC Website updates 
• Briefing Pack 
• Staff Survey (Stage 2 only) 

 
Stage 3  

• Using format as Stage 1 to present programme delivery progress, 
risk reporting 

Major Partners and 
funding bodies 

(incl. DLUHC, WM Police, 
West Midlands Fire 
Service, Highways 

England, LEP) 

 

 

Active Engagement & Keep Informed 

 

Stage 1 
• 1-2-1 meetings 
• SMBC Website updates 
• Briefing Pack 

 
Stage 2  

• As above plus discussion via Strategic Partnerships 
• Virtual workshops as appropriate 

 
Stage 3  

• Using format as Stage 1 to present programme delivery progress,  
• Returns to DLUHC on programme progress 

 

 

Key Stakeholder 
Group 

 

Engagement Responsibil it ies Methods of Engagement 

P
age 201



 
 

 
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Business Sector 

 

 

 

Stage 1  
• Discussion and awareness raising via Sandwell Business 

Ambassadors, Black Country Chamber and Local Chambers of 
Commerce and business forums. 

• SMBC website updates  
• Social media 

 
Stage 2  

• As above plus surveys, Virtual workshops / exhibition as 
appropriate. 

 
Stage 3  

• Using format as Stage 1 to present programme delivery progress,  
 

Community & 
Voluntary Sector 

Groups  
(incl. local community 

groups, SCVO, Sandwell 
Consortium, Libraries, 

Religious and Faith Groups) 
A detailed stakeholder 

identification exercise has 
taken place for this group 

 

 

 

 

Stage 1 
• SMBC website and survey questions 
• My Towns Website & #MyTowns 
• Press Releases 
• Social Media 
• Briefing Pack 

 
Stage 2 

• As above plus surveys via key contacts eg SCVO and 
SCIPs. Virtual workshops as appropriate. 

 
Stage 3  

• Using format as Stage 1 to present programme delivery progress, 
risk reporting 

 

 

 

Active Engagement & Keep Informed 

 

 

 

 

 

Active Engagement & Keep Informed 

 

Key Stakeholder 
Group 

 

Engagement Responsibil it ies Methods of Engagement 

P
age 202



 
 

 
   

 
 
 

Local Residents  

 

 

 

Stage 1 
• Publicity Campaign to raise awareness of Towns Fund incl. 

press release and social media (July) 
• Consultation survey on priorities (August) 
• My Towns Website & #MyTowns (ongoing) 
• SMBC website (ongoing) 
• Information within Towns & signposting to website (JCDecaux) 
• Young People’s Reference Group engagement 

 
Stage 2 

• Further publicity campaign 
• Surveys 
• Young People’s Reference Group engagement 
• Website updates 

 
Stage 3  

• Using format as Stage 1 to present programme delivery progress, risk 
reporting 

 

Active Engagement & Keep Informed 

 

 

 

 

 

Key Stakeholder 
Group 

 

Engagement Responsibil it ies Methods of Engagement 

P
age 203



 
 

 
   

 

P
age 204



Version Date Created by Approval & Date Protectively Marked Page No 
1 20/4/22 R Rahim Tbc Not protectively marked 1 

 

 Annex12 Towns Fund Risk Management  
 
1.  The Purpose of this risk management policy is to identify the Towns Fund 

objectives, approach, responsibilities and the context for procedures.  
 
SMBC is committed to the effective management of risk throughout the 
organisation and to:  
• Provide the effective delivery of the outcomes for Towns Fund  
• Provide the appropriate management of finances and funding to secure those 
same outcomes  
• Protect the reputation of SMBC and its partners  
• Ensure compliance with regulations and guidance from government which 
oversee Towns Fund. 

 
The Towns Fund Programme will adhere to the Accountable Body’s Risk 
Management Strategy. The strategy sets out the specific steps to take in all 
processes and includes:  

• business planning;  
• financial planning (and setting our medium-term financial strategy in 

particular); and  
• managing budgets, performance and projects.  

 
 
2 Objectives of Risk Management 
 

• Improve project performance  
• Ensure effective governance of risks  
• Promote a risk aware culture  
• Avoid unnecessary Programme liabilities and costs  
• Encourage the taking of calculated risks in pursuit of opportunities that would 
benefit the projects, programmes and borough 
 

3 Risk Management Approach   
 

• Effective risk management of the funding programme needs to be aligned with 
SMBC objectives and priorities  
• Risk management culture that spreads best practice, identifies and 
communicates lessons learnt from both internal and external experiences as 
part of management practice  
• Using appropriate expertise and has a clear ownership structure  
• Applying up-to-date and reliable information about risks  
• Promoting decision-making supported by a consistent risk analysis framework  
• Regular processes in place to monitor risks  
• Cost-effective controls in place to manage the risk  
• Recognition that many of the risks handled by SMBC will be interdependent 
on partners and the risks need to be handled jointly where appropriate  
 
 
 
 

Page 205



Version Date Created by Approval & Date Protectively Marked Page No 
1 20/4/22 R Rahim Tbc Not protectively marked 2 

 

4 Risk management has to be proactive to ensure that programme risks are:  
• Identified  
• Evaluated by considering the impacts and probability of their occurrence;  
• Effectively managed by identifying suitable controls and countermeasures and 
assessing the cost effectiveness of the mitigating actions proposed.  
 
Effective risk management anticipates and avoid risks rather than dealing with 
the consequences of events happening. However, not all risks can be 
managed, particularly those that are caused by external factors over which the 
organisation has no control (e.g., severe weather). SMBC will therefore 
separately develop a business continuity plan in order to reduce the impact 
should a major event occur.  
 

5 Risk Responsibilities  
 
Project Leads are responsible for: 
 

• Maintaining and updating project risk registers throughout the delivery phase 
of the project.  A copy of the risk register can be found in Appendix 1 

• Submitting quarterly risk registers as part of the claim process 
• Respond to any request for further information where RED risks are 

identified 
• Communicate major risks to project to the PMO where this has not been 

identified previously through risk registers and would severely impact the 
delivery of the project. 
 

The PMO is responsible for:  
 

• Producing quarterly programme dashboard reports to the Local Board on the 
progress of all projects for review and to provide information on any risks that 
have been identified as well as the proposed solutions thereof.  

• Completion of SMBCs Strategic Risk Register which is presented to the Audit 
and Risk Assurance Committee (ARAC) 

• Responding to strategic risks ‘called in for further review 
• Producing a yearly report on risk and appropriate RAG status of all projects, 

once the annual project audits are completed.  
 
 
The Accountable Body is responsible for:  
 
• Ensuring that the Accountable Body effectively manages risk relating to the 

Towns Fund Programme complying with the SMBC Corporate Risk Management 
Strategy 

• Ensuring the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee (ARAC) review Strategic Risk 
Register and ‘call in’ any risks for review to provide assurance that actions are 
being implemented to mitigate/reduce.   

 
 
 
 

Page 206

https://intranet.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/file/2375/corporate_risk_management_strategy
https://intranet.sandwell.gov.uk/downloads/file/2375/corporate_risk_management_strategy


Version Date Created by Approval & Date Protectively Marked Page No 
1 20/4/22 R Rahim Tbc Not protectively marked 3 

 

The Town Deal Board is responsible for:  
•  Receiving monthly programme dashboard reports on the progress of all projects 

and to review risks that have been identified  
 

 
6 Project Risk Profile and RAG rating system I 
 
 
 
Impact 4. Very High: The project objectives and benefits will not be 

achieved.  
 
3. High: Risk that has the potential to significantly impact 
project cost, schedule or performance by 11-20% 
2. Medium: Risk that has the potential to moderately impact 
project cost, project schedule or performance by >5% - <10% 
1. Low: Risk that has relatively little impact on cost, schedule 
or performance by <5% 

LIkelihood 4. Expected: Greater than 80% probability of occurrence 
(likely to occur, to be expected). 
3. Probable: Between 50% and 80% probability of 
occurrence (not surprised, will occur in given time).  
2. Possible: Between 20% and 50% probability of occurrence 
(could occur occasionally).  
1. Remote: Below 20% probability of occurrence (unlikely, 
though possible).  

Risk Score This is calculated field based on the values selected for both 
Risk Impact and Probability of Occurrence.  
 
Red: 4-4 (Very High, Expected), 4-3 (Very High, Probable), 
3-4 (High, Expected), 3-3 (High, Probable) 
 
Red risks are those that require immediate action to reduce their 
likelihood and/or impact. These risks should be monitored on at 
least a monthly basis to ensure that the further actions 
necessary to reduce the level of risk are completed within 
appropriate timescales. These risks should be escalated / 
reported as appropriate to ensure that they are brought to the 
attention of the Management Board and members. 
Amber: 4-2 (Very High, Possible), 3-2 (High, Possible), 2-4 
(Medium, Expected), 2-3 (Medium, Probable), 2-2 
(Medium, Possible) 
 
Amber risks are those that require action to ensure that the 
effectiveness of existing control measures are monitored and 
improvements made if required to reduce the likelihood and/or 
impact to green. These risks should be reviewed on at least a 
quarterly basis. 
 

 
 
 

Page 207



Version Date Created by Approval & Date Protectively Marked Page No 
1 20/4/22 R Rahim Tbc Not protectively marked 4 

 

Green: 4-1 (Very High, Remote), 3-1 (High, Remote), 2-1 
(Medium, Remote), 1-4 (Low, Expected), 1-3 (Low 
Probable), 1-2 (Low, Possible), 1-1 (Low, Remote)  
 
Green risks are those that should be monitored on a less 
frequent basis, either six monthly or annually, to ensure that 
existing control measures continue to be effective. 
 

 

Risk Owner Identify who is responsible for the management, monitoring 
and control of the identified risk. Note that the actual task of 
monitoring may be delegated 
 

Mitigation Define the actions required to reduce the probability, improve 
the controls and/or reduce the financial impact using the 
following Risk Responses as guidance 
Terminate the Risk - by doing things differently and this 
removing the Risk, where it is feasible to do so. 
Countermeasures are put in place that either stop the threat 
or problem from occurring or prevent it having any Impact on 
the Project or business.  
Treat the Risk - take action to control it in some way where 
the actions either reduce the likelihood of the Risk developing 
or limit the impact on the Project to acceptable levels.  
Transfer the Risk - this is a specialist form of Risk Reduction 
where the management of the Risk is passed to a third party 
via, for instance, an insurance policy or penalty clause, such 
that the impact of the Risk is no longer an issue for the health 
of the Project. Not all Risks can be transferred in this way. 
Consideration must also be given as to whether all facets of a 
Risk can be transferred. E.G. while the financial impact of a 
Risk might be transferred, the brand impact may not be.  
Tolerate the Risk - conscious decision to maintain threat 
where nothing can be done at a reasonable cost to mitigate it 
or the likelihood and impact of the Risk occurring at an 
acceptable level.  

 

 

 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

Impact 

Page 208



Version Date Created by Approval & Date Protectively Marked Page No 
1 20/4/22 R Rahim Tbc Not protectively marked 5 

 

 

 

Page 209



Version Date Created by Approval & Date Protectively Marked Page No 
1 20/4/22 R Rahim Tbc Not protectively marked 6 

 

 
APPENDIX 1 
RISK REGISTER  

 

           
               
        

 

      
               
 Directorate/ Project Risks:             
               

Ref Risk Title and 
Description 

Risk 
Owner 

Service/ 
Workstream 

Area 

Current Measures 
in Place to Manage 

Risk 
Current Risk Score What else do we need 

to do / Further actions 
required to manage 

the Risk 

Responsibility 
for Action 

Date for 
completion of 

Action(s) 
Target Risk Score Business plan/ 

project prioritty 

          Likelihood Impact Total     Likelihood Impact Total   

    

    

                      

      
  

      
  

        

    

    

                      

      
  

      
  

        

    

    

                      

      
  

      
  

        

Directorate/ Project Priority 
1 

 

2 
 

3 
 

 

P
age 210



Version Date Created by Approval & Date Protectively Marked Page No 
1 20/4/22 R Rahim Tbc Not protectively marked 7 

 

     

P
age 211



Annex 13 Assurance Framework lines of defense 

The following table describes the four lines of defense model used to provide assurance 
for the Sandwell Towns Fund. This approach will be kept under review as part of the 
annual review of the Assurance Framework. 

 
First line – Programme Management Office and Finance  
Lead responsibility 

 
Towns Fund Programme Manager responsible for ensuring the Programme 
Management Office undertakes first line checks against policies and procedures in the 
Assurance Framework and that control mechanisms are in place and are utilised. 
Further roles 

 
Expectations of project sponsor organisations to be clearly set out and documented with 
regard to business case requirements, funding agreements, monitoring, financial claims 
and risk management. 
Sources of assurance 

 
• Project business cases (draft, full) 
• Project business cases external assurance 
• Legal advice 
• Partnership Agreements/Internal Offer Letter 
• Project monitoring returns 
• Project risk registers 
• Programme plan and monthly programme report to Programme Board 
• Notes from bilateral meetings with project sponsors 
• Notes from Project sponsor group meetings 
• Risks and issues log 
• Quality assurance processes for documentation produced 
• Cabinet papers and minutes 
• Disseminate government guidance 
• Finance team to monitor and manage claims process to passport fund, 

highlighting any areas of concern to PMO 
 

Second line – Programme Board 

Lead responsibility 
 
Towns Fund Programme Board Chair responsible for ensuring the Programme 
Board provides a sound second line with mechanisms in place to assess, control 
and mitigate risk and monitor programme delivery on a monthly basis. 
Further roles 

 
Programme Board members to play an active role in ensuring that the agenda and 
papers facilitate this second line role and allow opportunity to highlight project delivery 
issues. Relevant SMBC officers will be invited to support delivery ie procurement, 
governance, legal, communications 
Sources of assurance 

 
• Monthly programme board papers, minutes 

Page 212



• Programme risk register 
• Programme Equalities Impact Assessment and regular review of this 
• Stakeholder Engagement and Consultations 
• Controls in place for claims submission and payment process,  
• Collaborative working towards delivering project, shared experience 

Third line – Towns Fund Board and Accountable Body 

Lead responsibility 
 
Sandwell Towns Fund Board Chair responsible for ensuring the Towns Fund Board 
provides appropriate oversight and further assurance with mechanisms in place to 
assess, control and mitigate risk and monitor programme delivery.  
 
Council Leader responsible for ensuring that Cabinet has put in place sufficient 
resources and controls for the council to fulfil the Accountable Body role. 
Further roles 

 
Sandwell Towns Fund Board and SMBC Cabinet members to embody good 
governance through providing appropriate challenge and oversight in line with the 
respective roles set out in the Assurance Framework. Towns Fund PMO to ensure 
quality assurance of all documentation prior to circulation to the Towns Fund 
Board/Cabinet. 
Sources of assurance 

 
• Sandwell Towns Fund Board papers and minutes 
• Board and Chair sign-off 
• Section 151 officer sign off 
• Board representations made to government and/or the Accountable Body 
• Review of the programme/project risk register, the Assurance Framework and 

the Equalities Impact Assessment 
• Sign off of returns to government and programme reports for Sandwell Towns 

Fund Board and SMBC Cabinet 
• Management of potential conflicts of interest 
• Leader sign off 
• Approval of Assurance Framework and other programme delivery requirements 

Fourth line – Audit and external scrutiny 

Lead responsibility 
 
Internal audit (and external audit where required) to assess the effectiveness of the 
first three lines of assurance, providing an independent and objective opinion on the 
framework of governance and making recommendations for improvement. External 
scrutiny from DLUHC as the lead government department in line with funding 
requirements, guidance and the Heads of Terms for the Sandwell Towns Fund. 
Further roles 

 
All partners to engage fully and in a timely way with audit and external scrutiny/requests 
from government. Recommendations for improvement to be considered at the earliest 
opportunity by the Sandwell Towns Fund Board and the Accountable Body. 
Sources of assurance 

 
• Internal audits 

Page 213



• Consideration of audit reports and recommendations by the Sandwell Towns 
Fund Board and Accountable Body 

• Compliance with audit recommendations 
• DLUHC reviews of governance 
• DLUHC monitoring and evaluation of programme delivery 
• DLUHC sign-off 

 
 

Page 214



 

Page 215



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 
 

 

The following items set out key decisions to be taken by the Executive in public session:- 

Title/Subject Cabinet 
Portfolio Area 

Decision Date Pre-decision 
Scrutiny to be 
carried out? 
(Board and 

date) 

List of documents 
to be considered 

 

1 Award of Minor Adaptation/ 
Handyperson Service 2022-2026 

Contact Officer: Charlotte Leadbeater-
Chase 

Director of Adult Social Care:  
Rashpal Bishop  
 

Adult Social 
Care and 

Health 
(Cllr Hartwell) 

20 July 2022  Report to Cabinet 

P
age 217

A
genda Item

 7



 

 
 

 
 

Title/Subject Cabinet 
Portfolio Area 

Decision Date Pre-decision 
Scrutiny to be 
carried out? 
(Board and 

date) 

List of documents 
to be considered 

 

2 Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities Information and Advice 
and Support Services Contract 
 
Contact Officer: Peter Forth 
 
Director of Finance - Simone Hines  

Children & 
Education 

(Cllr Hackett) 

20 July 2022  Report 

3 Exemption from Procurement and 
Contract Procedure Rules for Post-
16 High Needs Education Provision 

Contact Officer: Erroll Blackwood 

Director of Children and Education: 
Michael Jarrett  

Children & 
Education 

(Cllr Hackett) 

20 July 2022   

P
age 218



 

 
 

 
 

Title/Subject Cabinet 
Portfolio Area 

Decision Date Pre-decision 
Scrutiny to be 
carried out? 
(Board and 

date) 

List of documents 
to be considered 

 

4 Schools Condition Report 2022 
 
Contact Officer: Martyn Roberts 
 
Director of Children and Education: 
Michael Jarrett 

Children and 
Education 

(Cllr Hackett) 

20 July 2022   

5 Award of Contract for Local Welfare 
Provision 

Contact Officer: Ian Dunn 

Director: Simone Hines – Director of 
Finance 

Finance and 
Resources 
(Cllr Piper) 

20 July 2022   

P
age 219



 

 
 

 
 

Title/Subject Cabinet 
Portfolio Area 

Decision Date Pre-decision 
Scrutiny to be 
carried out? 
(Board and 

date) 

List of documents 
to be considered 

 

6 Harmful Gambling Workplace 
Charter, Policy and Guidance 
 
Contact Officers: Victoria Lee/Ian 
Markham 
 
Director of Business Strategy & 
Change: Neil Cox 

Finance and 
Resources 
(Cllr Piper) 

20 July 2022  Harmful Gambling 
Workplace Charter 
 
Harmful Gambling 
Policy – HR88 
 
Harmful Gambling 
Guidance – HR88.1 

7 Sandwell Museums Accreditation 
Submission  
 
Contact Officer: Jane Lillystone 
 
Director: Alice Davey, Borough 
Economy  

Leisure and 
Tourism  

(Cllr Rollins) 

20 July 2022 N/A - Forward Plan  
- Collections Documentation 
Policy  
- Collections Review & 
Rationalisation Policy 
- Documentation Plan 
- Collection Management 
Policy 
- Access, Learning and 
Engagement Policy 

P
age 220



 

 
 

 
 

Title/Subject Cabinet 
Portfolio Area 

Decision Date Pre-decision 
Scrutiny to be 
carried out? 
(Board and 

date) 

List of documents 
to be considered 

 

8 Draft Statement of Community 
Involvement 2022 
 
Contact Officer: Zoe Wilson 
 
Director of Regeneration & Growth 
Tony McGovern 

Regeneration & 
Growth 

(Cllr Hughes) 

20 July 2022   

9 Land at Cranford Street, Smethwick 
– Compulsory Purchase Order 
 
Contact Officer: Hayley Insley 
 
Director of Regeneration & Growth 
Tony McGovern 

Regeneration & 
Growth 

(Cllr Hughes) 

20 July 2022   

P
age 221



 

 
 

 
 

Title/Subject Cabinet 
Portfolio Area 

Decision Date Pre-decision 
Scrutiny to be 
carried out? 
(Board and 

date) 

List of documents 
to be considered 

 

10 Brandhall – Options 

Contact Officer: Tammy Stokes 
 
Director: Tony McGovern – Director of 
Regeneration and Growth 

Regeneration & 
Growth 

(Cllr Hughes) 

20 July 2022   

11 Smethwick Enterprise Centre – 
declaration surplus to requirements 
 
Contact Officer: Hayley Insley 
 
Director of Regeneration & Growth 
Tony McGovern 

Regeneration & 
Growth 

(Cllr Hughes) 

20 July 2022   

P
age 222



 

 
 

 
 

Title/Subject Cabinet 
Portfolio Area 

Decision Date Pre-decision 
Scrutiny to be 
carried out? 
(Board and 

date) 

List of documents 
to be considered 

 

12 Designation of Nature Conservation 
Sites 
 
Contact Officer: Zoe Wilson 
 
Director of Regeneration & Growth 
Tony McGovern 

Regeneration & 
Growth 

(Cllr Hughes) 

20 July 2022   

13 Flare Civica Upgrade to CX system 
Contact Officer: 
Alasdair Morrison/Nicola Plant 
 
Director: Alice Davey – Director of 
Borough Economy 
 

Communities 
(Cllr Millard) 

20 July 2022   

P
age 223



 

 
 

 
 

Title/Subject Cabinet 
Portfolio Area 

Decision Date Pre-decision 
Scrutiny to be 
carried out? 
(Board and 

date) 

List of documents 
to be considered 

 

14 Supported Housing for Adults at 
Risk of Homelessness 
 
Contact Officer: 
Craig Stevens/Justin Haywood 
 
Director: Rashpal Bishop -  
Director of Adult Social Care  

 
Adults, Social 

Care and 
Health 

(Cllr Hartwell) 

20 July 2022   

P
age 224



 

 
 

 
 

Title/Subject Cabinet 
Portfolio Area 

Decision Date Pre-decision 
Scrutiny to be 
carried out? 
(Board and 

date) 

List of documents 
to be considered 

 

15 Suicide Prevention Strategy and 
Action Plan 
 
Contact Officer: 
Lina Martino 
 
Director: Lisa McNally – Director of 
Public Health 

 
Adults Social 

Care and 
Health 

(Cllr Hartwell) 

20 July 2022   

16 Adult Weight Management Service 
 
Contact Officer: 
Ricky Byrnes/Anna Blennerhassett 
 
Director: Lisa McNally – Public Health  

 
Adults Social 

Care and 
Health 

(Cllr Hartwell) 

20 July 2022   

P
age 225



 

 
 

 
 

Title/Subject Cabinet 
Portfolio Area 

Decision Date Pre-decision 
Scrutiny to be 
carried out? 
(Board and 

date) 

List of documents 
to be considered 

 

17 The Review of the Generic 
Advocacy Service in Sandwell 
 
Contact Officer: 
Beverley Stevens/Justin Haywood 
 
Director: Rashpal Bishop -  
Director of Adult Social Care 

 
Adults Social 

Care and 
Health 

(Cllr Hartwell) 

20 July 2022   

P
age 226



 

 
 

 
 

Title/Subject Cabinet 
Portfolio Area 

Decision Date Pre-decision 
Scrutiny to be 
carried out? 
(Board and 

date) 

List of documents 
to be considered 

 

18 Authority to procure 
Accommodation based support 
services for victims of domestic 
abuse 
 
Contact Officer: 
Craig Stevens/Justin Haywood 
 
Director: Rashpal Bishop, Adult Social 
Care 

Adults, Social 
Care and 

Health 
(Cllr Hartwell) 

20 July 2022   

P
age 227



 

 
 

 
 

Title/Subject Cabinet 
Portfolio Area 

Decision Date Pre-decision 
Scrutiny to be 
carried out? 
(Board and 

date) 

List of documents 
to be considered 

 

19 Health Checks Service 
 
Contact Officer: 
Liann Brookes-Smith 
 
Director: Lisa McNally – Director of 
Public Health 

Adults, Social 
Care and 

Health 
(Cllr Hartwell) 

20 July 2022   

20 Procurement Exemption – Sandwell 
Urban Bike Park 
 
Contact Officer: Matthew Huggins 
 
Director: Alice Davey – Director of 
Borough Economy 

Leisure and 
Tourism  

(Cllr Rollins) 

20 July 2022   

P
age 228



 

 
 

 
 

Title/Subject Cabinet 
Portfolio Area 

Decision Date Pre-decision 
Scrutiny to be 
carried out? 
(Board and 

date) 

List of documents 
to be considered 

 

21 Review of Parking Charges Policy 
 
Contact Officer: Robin Weare 
 
Director: Alice Davey, Director of 
Borough Economy  

Environment 
Services  

(Cllr Ahmed) 

20 July 2022   

22 Improvement Plan Progress 
 
Contact Officer: Rebecca Jenkins 
 
Director: Neil Cox, Director of Business 
Strategy and Change 

Finance & 
Resources 
(Cllr Piper) 

20 July 2022   

P
age 229



 

 
 

 
 

Title/Subject Cabinet 
Portfolio Area 

Decision Date Pre-decision 
Scrutiny to be 
carried out? 
(Board and 

date) 

List of documents 
to be considered 

 

23 Queens Square Shopping Centre – 
Lease Assignment 
 
Contact Officer: Chris Hilton 
 
Director: Tony McGovern 

Regeneration & 
Growth 

(Cllr Hughes) 

20 July 2022 
(private item) 

 Report (private) 

24 Fair Cost of Care and other Adult 
Social Care Market Pressures 
 
Contact Officer: Christine Guest 
 
Director: Rashpal Bishop 
Director of Adult Social Care  

Adults, Social 
Care and 

Health 
(Cllr Hartwell) 

20 July 2022 
(private item) 

 Report (private) 

P
age 230



 

 
 

 
 

Title/Subject Cabinet 
Portfolio Area 

Decision Date Pre-decision 
Scrutiny to be 
carried out? 
(Board and 

date) 

List of documents 
to be considered 

 

25 2021/22 Financial Outturn Report 
 
Contact Officer: Rebecca Maher 
 
Director of Finance – Simone Hines  

Finance and 
Resources  
(Cllr Piper) 

20 July 2022   

26 City Region Sustainable Transport 
Settlement and Local Transport 
Capital Programme Update  
 
Contact Officer: Andy Miller 
 
Director: Tony McGovern - Director of 
Regeneration & Growth 

Regeneration 
and Growth  

(Cllr Hughes) 

28 September 
2022 

  

P
age 231



 

 
 

 
 

Title/Subject Cabinet 
Portfolio Area 

Decision Date Pre-decision 
Scrutiny to be 
carried out? 
(Board and 

date) 

List of documents 
to be considered 

 

27 The Appropriation of Various 
Disused Former Garages in the 
Borough 
 
Contact Officer: Paul Evans 
 
Director: Tony McGovern - 
Director for Regeneration and Growth / 
Gillian Douglas - Director of Housing    

Regeneration & 
Growth 

(Cllr Hughes) 
 

Housing 
(Cllr Padda)  

28 September 
2022 

(private item)   

 Cabinet Report   

And Site Plans  

 

   

 

P
age 232



 

 
 

 
 

Title/Subject Cabinet 
Portfolio Area 

Decision Date Pre-decision 
Scrutiny to be 
carried out? 
(Board and 

date) 

List of documents 
to be considered 

 

28 Friar Park Residential Development 
 
Contact Officer – Chris Hilton 
 
Director: Tony McGovern – Director of 
Regeneration and Growth 

Regeneration 
and Growth  

(Cllr Hughes) 

28 September 
2022 

 Site Appraisals and 
MasterPlan 
 
Funding approval for 
support 
 
Approval for informal 
public consultation 

P
age 233



 

 
 

 
 

Title/Subject Cabinet 
Portfolio Area 

Decision Date Pre-decision 
Scrutiny to be 
carried out? 
(Board and 

date) 

List of documents 
to be considered 

 

29 Sandwell Children’s Trust – 
Contract Review 
 
Contact Officer: Mandip S. Chahal 
 
Director: Michael Jarrett, Director of 
Children’s Services and Education 

Children &  
Education 

(Cllr Hackett) 

28 September 
2022 

 Report by: 

Director of Children 
and Education 

Contract Review 
Report 

30 Residential Education Service 
Tutorial Staffing 
 
Contact Officer: Richard Oakes 
 
Director of Children’s Services and 
Education, Michael Jarrett  

Children &  
Education 

(Cllr Hackett) 

28 September 
2022 

 Report 

P
age 234



 

 
 

 
 

Title/Subject Cabinet 
Portfolio Area 

Decision Date Pre-decision 
Scrutiny to be 
carried out? 
(Board and 

date) 

List of documents 
to be considered 

 

31 Application to Secretary of State for 
Education for change of 
use/appropriation of Denbigh Drive 
 
Contact Officer: Rachel Hill 
 
Director of Children and Education, 
Michael Jarrett 

Children &  
Education 

(Cllr Hackett) 

28 September 
2022 

 Report 

32 Sandwell Residential Education 
Centres Fees & Charges 2023-2024 
 
Contact Officer: Richard Oakes 
 
Director of Children’s Services and 
Education, Michael Jarrett 

Children &  
Education 

(Cllr Hackett) 

28 September 
2022 

 Report 

P
age 235



 

 
 

 
 

Title/Subject Cabinet 
Portfolio Area 

Decision Date Pre-decision 
Scrutiny to be 
carried out? 
(Board and 

date) 

List of documents 
to be considered 

 

33 School Organisation Plan 2021-26: 
outcome of consultation and 
approval to publish  
 
Contact Officer: Rachel Hill 
 
Director of Children and Education, 
Michael Jarret 

Children &  
Education 

(Cllr Hackett) 

28 September 
2022 

 Report 

34 Land off Danks Way, West 
Bromwich 
 
Contact Officer: Stefan Hemming 
 
Director of Regeneration and Growth – 
Tony McGovern 

Regeneration & 
Growth 

(Cllr Hughes) 

28 September 
2022 

  

P
age 236



 

 
 

 
 

Title/Subject Cabinet 
Portfolio Area 

Decision Date Pre-decision 
Scrutiny to be 
carried out? 
(Board and 

date) 

List of documents 
to be considered 

 

35 Flat 28 Parsonage Street, West 
Bromwich 
 
Contact Officer: Stefan Hemming 
 
Director of Regeneration and Growth = 
Tony McGovern 

Regeneration & 
Growth 

(Cllr Hughes) 

28 September 
2022 

  

36 Land at Lower High Street, Cradley 
Heath 
 
Contact Officers: Stefan Hemming/ 
Jenna Langford 
Director of Regeneration and Growth -
Tony McGovern 
 

Regeneration & 
Growth 

(Cllr Hughes) 

28 September 
2022 

  

P
age 237



 

 
 

 
 

Title/Subject Cabinet 
Portfolio Area 

Decision Date Pre-decision 
Scrutiny to be 
carried out? 
(Board and 

date) 

List of documents 
to be considered 

 

37 Council new build homes on land at 
Garratts Lane, Cradley Heath  
 
Contact Officer: Alan Martin 
 
Director: Tony McGovern, Director – 
Regeneration and Growth/ Gillian 
Douglas – Director of Housing 

Housing 
(Cllr Padda) 

28 September 
2022 

  

P
age 238



 

 
 

 
 

Title/Subject Cabinet 
Portfolio Area 

Decision Date Pre-decision 
Scrutiny to be 
carried out? 
(Board and 

date) 

List of documents 
to be considered 

 

38 Provision of 15 new council homes 
at Hawes Lane, Rowley Regis 
 
Contact: Alan Martin 
 
Director: Tony McGovern – Director of 
Regeneration and Growth/Gillian 
Douglas – Director of Housing 

Housing 
(Cllr Padda) 

28 September 
2022 

  

39 Serco Annual Report 
 
Contact Officer: Gary Charlton  
 
Director – Borough Economy, Alice 
Davey 

Environment 
Services 

(Cllr Ahmed) 

28 September 
2022 

  

P
age 239



 

 
 

 
 

Title/Subject Cabinet 
Portfolio Area 

Decision Date Pre-decision 
Scrutiny to be 
carried out? 
(Board and 

date) 

List of documents 
to be considered 

 

40 Memorandum of Understanding 
between SMBC and Chance Heritage 
Trust re Heritage related 
regeneration in the Borough 
 
Contact Officer: Tony McGovern 
 
Director: Tony McGovern – Director of 
Regeneration and Growth 

Regeneration 
and Growth 

(Cllr Hughes) 

28 September 
2022 

  

P
age 240



 

 
 

 
 

Title/Subject Cabinet 
Portfolio Area 

Decision Date Pre-decision 
Scrutiny to be 
carried out? 
(Board and 

date) 

List of documents 
to be considered 

 

41 Review of the Council’s Surplus 
Property Assets 
 
Contact Officer: Chris Hilton 
 
Director: Tony McGovern, Director of 
Regeneration and Growth 

Regeneration & 
Growth 

(Cllr Hughes) 

28 September 
2022 

(private item) 

tbc Report 

Surplus Assets List 
(to be annexed to 
Cabinet paper) 

P
age 241



 

 
 

 
 

Annual Programme Reminder (these items are not added automatically) 

 
Title/Subject 

 

 
Cabinet 

Portfolio Area 

 
Decision Date 

Pre-
decision 

Scrutiny to 
be carried 

out? 
(Board and 

date) 

 
List of 

documents to 
be considered 

 

 Review of Fees and Charges  January   
 Determination of Admission Priorities for 

Sandwell’s Community and Voluntary 
Controlled Schools 

 January/February   

 Schools Funding  December/ 
January 

  

 Quarter 3 Budget Monitoring  February   
 Council Finances  February   
 Financial Regulations  February   
 Business Plans  February   
 Highways Asset Management Plan  March   

P
age 242



 

 
 

 
 

 
Title/Subject 

 

 
Cabinet 

Portfolio Area 

 
Decision Date 

Pre-
decision 

Scrutiny to 
be carried 

out? 
(Board and 

date) 

 
List of 

documents to 
be considered 

 

 Local Transport Settlement  March   
 Revenues and Benefits Policy framework 

2022/23 
 March   

 Schools Capital Programme  April to June   
 Financial Outturn 

  
 May   

 Procurement and Contract Procedure 
Rules 

 July   

 Review of Fees and Charges Sandwell 
Residential Education Services Centre 
Charges  

 May – July   

 Childcare Sufficiency Report  July - September   

P
age 243



 

 
 

 
 

 
Title/Subject 

 

 
Cabinet 

Portfolio Area 

 
Decision Date 

Pre-
decision 

Scrutiny to 
be carried 

out? 
(Board and 

date) 

 
List of 

documents to 
be considered 

 

 Quarter 1 Budget Monitoring  August   
 Model Schools Pay Policy  October/ 

November 
  

 Winter Service Operational Plan  October/November   
 Road Safety Plan  November   
 Quarter 2 Budget Monitoring  November   
 Council Tax Base Calculation  December   
 Business Rates Retention Estimates  December   
 Council Tax Reduction Scheme  December   
 

  

P
age 244



 

 
 

 
 

The following items set out key decisions to be taken by the Executive in private session:- 

Title/Subject Cabinet 
Portfolio Area 

Decision Date Reason for 
Exemption 

List of 
documents to 
be considered 

 
The Appropriation of Various 
Disused Former Garages in the 
Borough 
 
Contact Officer: Paul Evans 
 
Director: Tony McGovern - 
Director for Regeneration and Growth / 
Gillian Douglas - Director of Housing    

Regeneration & 
Growth 

(Cllr Hughes) 
 

Housing 
(Cllr Padda)  

28 September 
2022 

(private item)   

Commercial 
sensitivity 

 

Review of the Council’s Surplus 
Property Assets 
 
Contact Officer: Chris Hilton 
 

Regeneration & 
Growth 

(Cllr Hughes) 

28 September 
2022 

(private item) 

tbc Report 

Surplus Assets 
List (to be 

P
age 245



 

 
 

 
 

Title/Subject Cabinet 
Portfolio Area 

Decision Date Reason for 
Exemption 

List of 
documents to 
be considered 

 
Director: Tony McGovern, Director of 
Regeneration and Growth 

annexed to 
Cabinet paper) 

Queens Square Shopping Centre – 
Lease Assignment 
 
Contact Officer: Chris Hilton 
 
Director: Tony McGovern 
 

Regeneration & 
Growth  

(Cllr Hughes) 

20 July 2022 
(private item) 

Commercial 
sensitivity 

Report 

Fair Cost of Care and other Adult 
Social Care Market Pressures 
 
Contact Officer: Christine Guest 
 
Director: Rashpal Bishop 

Adults, Social 
Care and Health 

(Cllr Hartwell) 

20 July 2022 
(private item) 

  

P
age 246



 

 
 

 
 

Title/Subject Cabinet 
Portfolio Area 

Decision Date Reason for 
Exemption 

List of 
documents to 
be considered 

 
Director of Adult Social Care  

 

P
age 247



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Scrutiny Board Work Programme 2022/23 
Economy, Skills Transport and Environment  

 
Standing Items:- 
• Tracking and Monitoring of Recommendations to the Executive 
• Work Programme (including Cabinet Forward Plan) 
 

Meeting Date Item Presented by  
14 July 2022 Black Country Local Enterprise Partnership  

 
Sarah Middleton (Chief Executive of 
Black Country Consortium Limited) 

Towns Fund Update Rina Rahim (Towns Fund 
Programme Manager) 

29 September 
2022 

Local Transport Plan  Andy Miller (Strategic Planning & 
Transportation Manager) 

Bus Service Improvement Plan Andy Miller (Strategic Planning & 
Transportation Manager) 
 

Outcome of E-Scooters Trial  
 

Andy Miller (Strategic Planning & 
Transportation Manager) 

16th November 
2022 

Black Country Plan Consultation  
 

Andy Miller (Strategic Planning & 
Transportation Manager) 

Sandwell Development Plan 
 

Andy Miller (Strategic Planning & 
Transportation Manager) 

Rewilding Strategy  
 

Alice Davey (Director of Borough 
Economy) 
 

P
age 249

A
genda Item

 8



9th February 
2023 

Corporate Fleet Management Gary Charlton (Waste and Fleet 
Service Manager)/ Alice Davey 
(Director of Borough Economy) 

9th March 2023 TBA 
 

 
 
 

 
Items to be scheduled: 
Review of private hire and hackney carriage licensing policy – late 2022/early 2023.  

 

Scrutiny Review/s  
 
Review of the 2017-2022 Strategic Road Safety Plan 
 

 

 
 
 

 

P
age 250



 

[IL0: UNCLASSIFIED] 

 

 
Scrutiny Review – Scoping Document 

 

Review Title: Strategic Road Safety Plan 

Scrutiny Board: Economy, Skills, Transport and Environment 

Date of Review: 2022 

Reasons for undertaking the review: 
 

On 18 January 2022 the Council asked the Economy, Skills, Transport and 
Environment Scrutiny Board to conduct a review into the current Strategic Road 
Safety Plan.  The current Strategic Road Safety Plan covers the period 2017-
2022 and is therefore due to be re-written in 2022.   
 
Taking into account global, national regional and local strategy and policy and 
the statutory requirements of the Road Traffic Act 1988 (Section 39), as well as 
the Council’s statutory obligations, the review will consider the growing 
challenges that Sandwell faces, including an increasing number of vehicles on 
the road, climate change, adaptations to public transport and other such 
imperatives and will make recommendations how these challenges can be 
addressed in the revised Strategic Road Safety Plan and accompanying Action 
Plan. 
 

Intended Outcomes: 
 

• Understand how the Plan takes account of the statutory requirements of 
the Road Traffic Act 1988 (Section 39) and global, national regional and 
local policy.  

• Determine whether they key priority groups in the current Plan are still 
appropriate. 

• Determine whether the key performance indictors in the current Plan are 
appropriate. 

• Understand how funding is allocated regionally and locally. 

• Understand the criteria/prioritisation methods for the various methods of 
traffic calming measures and their effectiveness.  

• Understand the criteria for determining targeted campaigns. 

• Review data on road causality analysis to support the implementation of 
20mph zones. 

• Understand enforcement practices (WMP) and the impact of. 

• Understand the Fatal Collison Protocol with WMP and the impact of this. 

Page 251



 

[IL0: UNCLASSIFIED] 

 

• Consider the recent data on accidents and how Sandwell’s performance 
compares to other metropolitan areas.  

• Identify how neighbouring authorities are meeting their statutory 
obligations and compare data. 

• Determine whether our work with partners is effective and can be 
strengthened.  
 

Officer Group (including 
partners): 

Robin Weare 
Simon Chadwick 
Karen Hale (RS Education presentation) 

Links to Corporate Plan: 

 
A connected and accessible Sandwell 

 
Strong resilient communities  

 

Links to Terms of 
Reference: 

(d)highways management; 
(f)transport and public infrastructure; 
 

Scoping undertaken by: Stephnie Hancock and Robin Weare 
 

Council Chief Officer  
(or partner equivalent): 

Alice Davey – Director of Borough Economy 
 

Existing data/references for consideration: 

• Strategic Road Safety Plan 2017-2022 (Sandwell Council) 

• Government’s latest road safety statement –
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uplo
ads/attachment_data/file/817695/road-safety-statement-2019.pdf 

• Latest data on user groups and Sandwell’s performance. 
• WMP Fatal Collision Protocol. 
• Data on population and road density, car use etc… 
• Black Country Road Safety Partnership 
• West Midlands Road Safety Overarching Executive Strategy. 
• Black Country Road Safety Strategy 
• Road Safety Delivery Programme approved by cabinet member 
• Sandwell Road Safety Partnership 

• WHO https://www.who.int/teams/social-determinants-of-health/safety-
and-mobility/decade-of-action-for-road-safety-2021-2030 

Page 252

https://www.who.int/teams/social-determinants-of-health/safety-and-mobility/decade-of-action-for-road-safety-2021-2030
https://www.who.int/teams/social-determinants-of-health/safety-and-mobility/decade-of-action-for-road-safety-2021-2030


 

[IL0: UNCLASSIFIED] 

 

• West Midlands Regional Road Safety Strategy : 
https://www.tfwm.org.uk/media/blti33m5/wmca-regional-road-safety-
strategy-version-1-updated.pdf 

• WMCA - Regional Road Safety Progress Report 
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/documents/s5241/Report.pdf 

 

Potential witnesses Transport West Midlands 
(https://corporate.tfwm.org.uk/) 
West Midlands Police  
WMFS 
Sandwell Road Safety Partnership 
 

 

Activity Subject 

Working Group Session 1 
 

Overview of current Strategic Road Safety Plan 
2017-2022 including overview of legislation, and 
national/regional policy and how they link to the 
existing Sandwell policy. 

Working Group Session 2 • Types of interventions, criteria for and cost. 
o Education (WMFS Safer 6, Karen 

Hale) 
o Enforcement (WMP/PCC) 
o Campaigns (TfWM) 
o Highway Improvement Interventions 
o Vehicle safety 

• Statistics, how successful are the various 
types of interventions 

 

Working Group Session 3 • Trends in accident reduction 

• Traffic growth 

• changing traffic patterns 

• Existing Funding and allocation of (nationally, 
regionally and locally) 

 

Working Group Session 4 • Communication and Interaction with 

members and the public 

• Publicity and NHT public satisfaction survey 

Working Group Session 5 Summary 
Proposed funding and priorities 

Page 253

https://www.tfwm.org.uk/media/blti33m5/wmca-regional-road-safety-strategy-version-1-updated.pdf
https://www.tfwm.org.uk/media/blti33m5/wmca-regional-road-safety-strategy-version-1-updated.pdf
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/documents/s5241/Report.pdf
https://corporate.tfwm.org.uk/


 

[IL0: UNCLASSIFIED] 

 

Formulation of recommendations 
 

 

Page 254


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Black Country Consortium Limited - Activity 2021/23
	05a - Presentation

	6 Towns Fund Full Business Cases
	06a - Appendix 1 - Towns Fund Approved Profiles
	06b - Appendix 2 - Assurance Framework
	1. Assurance framework DRAFT 13 May 22
	Updated by
	Approved Date
	Details of changes
	Version
	R Rahim
	The three Local Boards (Rowley Regis, Smethwick and West Bromwich) were constituted as working groups of the Superboard to influence the Towns Fund Programme and projects and to form part of the assurance mechanisms to ensure that project delivery remains in keeping with the Vision and objectives outlined in the Town Investment Plan. Responsibilities of the Local Boards included helping develop full business cases with project leads in line and providing critical challenge where required 

	n/a
	1
	SECTION 1  INTRODUCTION AND PURPOSE
	Background
	2.1.2 Specifically, the Boards were the vehicle through which the vision and strategy for the town was defined ensuring diversity in its engagement with local communities and businesses. The three Local Boards (Rowley Regis, Smethwick and West Bromwic...
	2.1.3 As working groups of the Superboard, Local Boards committed to developing projects and through their recommendations and reports, influenced the programme and project direction to support the Towns Fund Superboard.
	3.2 Role of the Section 151 Officer

	4.1 Contract Management
	4.2 Scheme of Delegation and Project Changes
	4.2.7 The PMO will notify the Local Boards where the Change Control process has been invoked and the impact, if any, on the delivery of the Towns Fund Programme. Any changes to the Heads of Terms, Monitoring and Evaluation Plan will be shared with th...

	4.4 Monitoring and Evaluation Towns Fund Local Boards
	4.11 RISK AND ASSURANCE
	4.13 Data management and Freedom of Information.
	4.14 Consultations during Delivery Phase
	4.14.1 All projects have been required to complete a detailed Consultation and Engagement plan as part of their Full Business case.  Project leads will be responsible for regularly updating this document and reporting back to the PMO on progress towar...
	4.14.2 Where objections have been received following consultation on the proposed designed of Towns Fund projects, a process has been developed to assist projects navigate through this and provide the necessary approvals required to proceed with proje...
	Signatories:
	Towns Fund Chairs
	S151 Officer
	Cabinet Member for Regeneration & Growth


	Annex 1 Boards Terms of Reference Phase1-2
	Annex 2 Boards -Proposed Terms of Reference (Phase3)
	1. Purpose of Document
	1.1 The purpose of this document is to outline the governance arrangements for Sandwell’s Towns Fund Programme for Phase 3 and supersedes the Towns Fund Governance Arrangements agreed in July 2021 which was relevant to Phases 1 and 2.
	1.2 It has been updated to reflect the next phases of the programme now that the Town Deals have been signed and to reflect the latest Towns Fund Guidance (released by MHCLG December 2020, April 2021 and December 2021).
	1.3 The document includes Roles and Responsibilities, Code of Conduct for Board Members, Decision Making arrangements, Scrutiny arrangements, Transparency and Accountability and a List of Members of the three Local Boards

	2. Context
	2.1 Governance was provided to this programme through the Towns Fund Superboard and three Local Boards, and the Council as the Accountable Body for Phases 1 and 2.
	2.2 For Phase 3 -Delivery, the work of the Local Boards will involve reviewing progress of the Towns Fund Programme and projects, assessing change requests and ensuring compliance with Heads of Terms.  In accordance with the Towns Fund Guidance publis...
	2.3 MHCLG guidance outlines the following responsibilities for the Town Deal Board: -
	2.3.1 Phase 3 of the Programme (project delivery) - that the Town Deal Board should ensure an element of independent ‘on-the-ground’ monitoring of the deal delivery and act as a ‘critical friend’ throughout the programme lifecycle.
	2.3.2 Through project delivery, ensure regular catch ups with the Town Deal Board to enable the board to see through the town vision, take ownership of their proposed projects and provide a level of accountability.
	2.3.3 The Town Deal Board should have an ongoing role and sight of decisions, the nature and degree of which should be agreed locally.


	3. Roles and Responsibilities
	3.1 Local Boards
	3.1.1 The Local Board will be responsible for: -
	3.1.2 The Chair of the Local Boards will be responsible for:

	3.2 Sandwell Council
	3.2.1 Sandwell Council is the Accountable Body for Sandwell’s Town Deal Programme.
	3.2.2 Sandwell Council is responsible for: -


	4. Board Vacancies
	4.1 Local Board - Vacancies occurring within the Local Boards are for the identified organisations to make an appointment to in line with their own governance procedures.
	4.2 Young People’s Representatives - Vacancies occurring in young people’s representation at Local Boards will be identified and appointed to via the Sandwell Council Youth Service in consultation with the Chair of the Local Boards, as appropriate.

	5. Code of Conduct
	5.1 All Members of the Local Boards will sign the Councillor Code of Conduct which is based on the Seven Principles of Public Life (Nolan Principles) and contained within Article 13 of the Council’s constitution.
	5.2 Members of the Local Boards as a whole will be required to declare and register any gifts and/or hospitality which will be maintained by the Council.

	6. Decision Making – Local Boards
	6.1 The Council’s Principles of Decision Making will apply to the Local Boards, as laid out in article 13 of the Council’s Constitution. ‘elected member’ is taken to refer to Local Board member: -
	6.1.1 Article 13.02 Principles:

	6.2 Quorum – the Local Boards will be considered quorate with one quarter of voting members present.
	6.3 Voting – any matter will be decided upon by a simple majority of those members present in the room and eligible to vote.
	6.4 Confirmation of minutes - The Chair presiding shall put the question that the minutes submitted to the meeting be approved as a correct record.
	6.5 Declarations of Interest
	6.5.1 Members shall be required to declare interests in accordance with any relevant statutory provisions and the Members’ Code of Conduct as set out in Part 5 of the Constitution.
	6.5.2 Where a Local Board member has a disclosable pecuniary interest or pecuniary interest in the business of the authority he/she must withdraw from the room or chamber where the meeting considering the business is being held unless the member has o...
	6.5.3 Where a Local Board Member is nominated as the Lead Officer for a project and/or is involved in project delivery, they may attend the Local Board discussion relating to the project in the capacity of providing and presenting information but they...

	6.6 In the event that Local Board wishes to move to a vote, any matter will be decided upon by a simple majority of those members present in the room and eligible to vote.
	6.7 The Chair shall have a casting vote.

	7. Scrutiny
	7.1 Scrutiny of Sandwell’s Towns Fund Programme will be provided by the Council’s Economic, Skills, Environment and Transport Scrutiny Board on a quarterly basis and through the critical friend challenge that will be provided by the Local Boards.

	8. Transparency and Accountability
	8.1 Local Board Agendas and Minutes
	8.1.1 The Council will publish Local Board meeting agendas on Modern.gov 5 clear days before the meeting.
	8.1.2 Draft minutes of the Local Boards will be published within 10 clear working days; and
	8.1.3 Approved minutes of the Local Boards will be published within 10 clear working days

	8.2 Member profiles
	8.2.1 Profiles of Local Board Members will be published on Modern.gov.uk

	8.3 Conflicts of Interest
	8.3.1 Members of the Local Boards will be required to declare any conflicts of interest (commercial, actual and potential). This will be maintained by the council in a declaration of interest register which will be managed by Sandwell Council.
	8.3.2 Local Boards Members should take personal responsibility for declaring their interests before any decision is considered by the Local Boards. These will be formally noted within the published minutes of meetings of the Local Boards including act...
	8.3.3 Local Board Members should take personal responsibility for declaring their interests prior to an item being discussed. These will be noted within the minutes including action taking in response to any declared interest. If any Member has any qu...
	(The following sections are proposed new additions to the Terms of Reference)


	9. The Boards relationship with Sandwell Council
	9.1 In accordance to the government guidance, the Town Deal Board will have sight and endorse Accountable Body decisions in the delivery of the Towns Fund Programme. Sandwell Council will remain the Accountable body for any Town Deal funding that is r...
	9.6 The council’s Data Protection Officer and the PMO will support the Board in dealing with any data protection questions.  The councils framework can be found at :Information Governance and Data Protection

	10. Membership
	10.1 The Lead Council has responsibility for establishing the Town Deal Boards for the development and implementation of the Town Investment Plans
	10.2 The Local Boards will now assume responsibility for future governance under these Terms of References in consultation with the Accountable Body.
	10.3 Membership will be reviewed annually and seek to continue to be representative of a diverse range of sectors, skills and interests in Sandwell in order for the Sandwell Towns Boards to be a valuable resource to drawn on at all stages of the Town ...
	10.4 Advisors – Advisors are invited by Board Members and participate in the meetings but will have no voting rights or ability to make decisions on behalf of the Board.
	10.5 S151 Officer – Sandwell Council is the Accountable Body for the Town Board. The Council’s S151 Officer or substitute will have a standing invite on the Local Boards to ensure compliance with all necessary financial regulations.
	10.6 These terms of reference may be reviewed and modified at any time in consultation with the , Director of Law and Governance .

	11. Scheme of Delegation
	11.1 The Scheme of delegation in relating decision making are included as an annex to these Terms of Reference.
	11.2 A decision which is made in contravention of the process will be invalid based on non- compliance unless the Local Board has given prior approval for variation in the decision-making process.
	11.3 Any financial decision must be signed off by Sandwell’s S151 Officer as the Accountable Body. The Council’s S151 Officer will ensure compliance with all necessary financial regulations, in order to protect the Accountable Body and ensure proper a...
	11.4 The Chair of the Local Board can decide to convene a meeting where decisions need to be considered by the Local Boards which does not fit within the timeframe of the scheduled meetings.  Where possible, the standard notice period will apply for a...
	11.5 Where a meeting cannot be convened, urgent decisions can be endorsed by the Local Board through a written procedure.
	11.6 Only in the most exceptional circumstances might it be considered necessary and appropriate for a matter of strategic importance usually reserved to the Main Board to be decided through this procedure.  This will apply where a project cannot cont...
	b) Changes to Heads of Terms
	c) Changes to Mandatory Indicators and financial profiles
	11.7  Written/Urgent Procedure:
	11.7.1 Following consideration by Director of Regeneration and Growth/S151, a report in the usual meeting format and including reasons for urgency, will be circulated to the Chair/Vice chair  to consider whether, due to the urgent nature of the decisi...
	11.7.2 The Chair/Vice Chair may consult with Director of Regeneration and Growth /S151 or other officers to provide further information where required.
	11.7.3 Within 5 working days of the report being presented, the Chair/Vice Chair will inform whether the decision is endorsed on behalf of the Board.
	11.7.4 For transparency the report, reasons for urgency, and decision will be presented to the next Local Board meeting.

	12. Objections following Consultations

	Annex 1

	Annex 3 Code of Conduct and Register of Interests Town Deal Boards
	CODE OF CONDUCT West Bromwich Local Board/ Smethwick Local Board/  Rowley Regis Local Board.
	REGISTER OF BOARD MEMBER INTERESTS West Bromwich Local Board/ Smethwick Local Board/  Rowley Regis Local Board.

	Annex 4 Towns Fund Programme Board Terms of Reference (draft)
	1. Purpose of Document
	1.1 The purpose of this document is to outline the Terms of Reference for the Towns Fund Programme Board including membership. This document will remain in draft release until the approval of the Towns Fund Governance Document Addendum by Cabinet (sch...

	2. Version Control
	3. Towns Fund Programme Governance Context
	3.1 Governance for the Sandwell Towns Fund Programme is documented in the Towns Fund Governance Document, approved by SMBC Cabinet in July 2021  and the forthcoming Draft ‘Towns Fund Programme Governance’ relating to Phase 3 of the Towns Fund Programm...
	3.2 The Local Boards Terms of Reference (currently draft) reflects the governance required for the next phases of the Towns Fund Programme and the latest Towns Fund Guidance released by MHCLG in April 2021. This details the roles and responsibilities ...

	4. Draft Governance diagram
	5. Towns Fund Programme Board Purpose
	5.1 The main function of the Towns Fund Programme Board is to create a platform whereby Project Leads can meet collectively to discuss progress/ issues relating to project delivery and monitoring requirements.  This ensures the delivery of the Towns F...

	6. Accountability
	6.1 The Programme Board is accountable to SMBC as the Accountable Body for the Towns Fund Programme.

	7. Responsibilities
	7.1 Officers will use the Programme Board as a platform to discuss Towns Fund project/programme related matters with any new guidance from DLUCH presented by the PMO.  This will also provide opportunity for collaborative working, sharing of informatio...

	8. Frequency of Meetings
	8.1 The Programme Board will meet 6-weekly in the initial phases of delivery whilst monitoring arrangement are being established.  It is anticipated that the board will then move to meeting quarterly / on an exception basis.

	9. Board Attendees and Chair
	9.1 The Board will be chaired by Tony McGovern, Director of Regeneration and Growth and will comprise representatives from SMBC Corporate Functions. Project Delivery Leads will have a standing invite.
	9.2 Attendees:


	Annex 5 Terms of Reference - Assurance Panel
	Annex 6 Monitoring and Assurance Framework - Projects
	Figure 1: Project Visit Audit Framework
	Project Approval Visit (PAV)
	Annual Audit Visit (AAV)
	Progress Visit


	Annex 7 Approval visit template
	Annex 8 Claims Process Protocol
	Annex 8a Grant Claim Form Draft (Version 2 - 20 April 2022)draft
	Cover Sheet
	Project Status
	Project Progress
	Risks and Issues
	Claim Form & Sign
	Funding Breakdown
	Outputs
	Outcomes
	Procurement
	Guidance

	Annex 8b Grant Claims Checklist
	Annex 8c Advance of Grant Funding Guidance draft
	Annex 8d Advanced Funding Processflow
	Annex 9 Change Control Process Draft
	Annex 10 Town Funds - Joint Publicity Protocol approved Apr21
	Annex 11 Communications and Enagegment Plan draft
	Annex 11a Engagement Strategy
	Annex 12 Risk management draft
	Annex 13 Assurance Framework lines of defense
	Annex 13 Assurance Framework lines of defense

	Annex 14 Objections to consultations


	7 Cabinet Forward Plan
	8 Work Programme
	Road Safety Review Scoping Document


